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Corporate financial statements

Report on operations
Profile of Dexia Crediop
Profile of Dexia Crediop and the Dexia Group
Profile of Dexia Crediop
Dexia Crediop is a bank in run-off, previously active in public sector and infrastructure financing. On 8
September 2020, the majority shareholder, Dexia Crédit Local S.A. (“DCL”), part of the Dexia Group,
acquired from the minority shareholders, Banco BPM S.p.A. and BPER Banca S.p.A., all the ordinary
shares of Dexia Crediop S.p.A., becoming the sole shareholder.
***
On 28 December 2012, the European Commission approved the orderly resolution plan for the Dexia
Group, submitted by the Belgian, French and Luxembourg states. This plan involves management in runoff without any new commercial production for the entities within the group, including Dexia Crediop,
the management in run-off of which was effective from 15 July 2014.
Therefore, the bank has reorganised its structure in line with the change in the company mission,
adjusting the size of the organisational units to the tasks assigned to them and pursuing the objectives
of simplification, enhancement of synergies and developing the flexibility and versatility of resources.
The rationalisation process undertaken has continued, as further adjustments are made to the
organisational structure and staff, in line with the bank’s mission and in relation to effective requirements.
In view of the above, Dexia Crediop remains within the scope of consolidation of the Dexia Group
and continues to be an integral part of the orderly resolution plan, in line with Dexia’s mandate and
objectives, and to benefit from the financial support of the parent company.
On 28 May 2020, the ECB issued its decision to classify the Dexia Group as a Less Significant Institution
(LSI), effective as of 1 July 2020. Consequently, as of that date, Dexia Crediop is supervised by the Bank
of Italy.

Profile of the Dexia Group
Dexia is a European banking group, managed under an orderly resolution plan since 2011, 99.6%
controlled by the Belgian and French governments.
The orderly resolution plan for Dexia, approved by the European Commission in December 2012, aims to
avoid the bankruptcy and liquidation of the Group which due to its residual size, could have destabilising
effects on the entire European banking sector.

4

Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

As of 1 July 2020, the Dexia Group has been classified among the less significant entities under the
single regulatory mechanism framework, supervised by Autorité de Contrôle Prudentiel et de Résolution
(“ACPR”), the Consolidating Supervisor, in accordance with Banque Nationale de Belgique.
DCL is the main operating entity and benefits from funding guarantees1 up to a maximum of € 85
billion, ensured by the governments of Belgium, France and Luxembourg, to allow for completion of the
orderly resolution plan. DCL has its registered offices in France, where it holds a banking license, and
an international presence through its equity investment in Dexia Crediop, which also holds a banking
license, through its branch in Ireland and its representation office in the United States. The Dexia Group
has 546 employees as of 31 December 2020.
Dexia no longer does any commercial business and its activities are focussed solely on the management of
its assets in run-off, mainly in the public sector and sovereign loans, while simultaneously protecting the
interests of the shareholder countries and guarantors. To achieve this result, the Group has established
three main goals:
• to maintain the capacity to refinance its assets for the entirety of the resolution plan;
• to preserve its Tier 1 capital, so as to comply with the capital ratios;
• to guarantee operational continuity, maintaining the necessary skills and resources and developing
appropriate IT tools.

Subsidiaries, investees and shareholding structure of Dexia Crediop
As at 31 December 2020, Dexia Crediop does not hold any equity investments in subsidiaries.
				
Equity investments
Istituto per il Credito Sportivo (ICS): established through Italian Law 1295 of 24 December 1957, a
public bank pursuant to Article 151 of the Consolidated Banking Law (TUB), is a public law entity with
autonomous management subject, from 1 January 2012 to 28 February 2018, on the basis of a Bank of
Italy proposal, to an extraordinary administration procedure, pursuant to Article 70, paragraph 1, letter
a), Consolidated Banking Law. Dexia Crediop holds an equity investment equal to 3.11% of the share
capital (endowment fund) of ICS.
In compliance with the recommendations issued by the Bank of Italy, ICS did not distribute dividends to
shareholders.
A complex series of lawsuits began in 2011 between ICS and the watchdog ministries, on the one hand,
and Dexia Crediop and other private shareholders of ICS, on the other. For information on administrative
and civil proceedings, see the paragraph “Administrative, judicial, and arbitration procedures”, in this
document.
On 1 March 2021, Dexia Crediop transferred its entire investment stake in ICS to its sole shareholder,
Dexia Crédit Local.

1 On 27 September 2019, the European Commission confirmed its assent to the extension of government guarantees granted to DCL by Belgium and France, for
a period of 10 years and a maximum of € 75 billion, starting on 1 January 2022, with regards to Dexia’s senior debt.
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Shareholders of Dexia Crediop
With respect to 31 December 2019, note the following change in the shareholding structure: on 8
September 2020, Dexia Crédit Local S.A. acquired all of the ordinary Dexia Crediop shares held by the
minority shareholders Banco BPM S.p.A. (0.29% of share capital) and BPER Banca S.p.A. (0.14% of
share capital), becoming the sole shareholder of Dexia Crediop.
In terms of share capital, on 11 December 2020 the sole shareholder Dexia Crédit Local S.A. fully signed
and deposited the share capital increase of € 75 million, issuing 7.5 billion new ordinary shares, with no
nominal value, for a per share subscription price of € 0.01.
At 31 December 2020, Dexia Crediop share capital amounts to € 645,210,000.00, fully paid in and
divided into 19,674,500,000 ordinary shares, with no nominal value, 100% held by Dexia Crédit Local
S.A..
Recall that with a resolution on 22 November 2019, the Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting, pursuant
to Article 2443 of the Italian Civil Code, granted the Board of Directors of the right to increase share
capital, one or more times, each of them to be considered divisible, for a total amount not to exceed
€ 220 million, with the aim of complying with regulatory requirements. This right, delegated to the
Board of Directors, can be exercised for a period of 5 years following the date of the cited Extraordinary
Shareholders’ Meeting. The above share capital increase of € 75 million, subscribed and deposited on
11 December 2020, was carried out following a 4 December 2020 resolution by the Board of Directors,
with regards to the right granted to them by the Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting on 22 November
2019.
Dexia Crediop does not own any of its treasury shares or shares in the parent company, nor has it owned
any such shares during the year.
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Rating
The rating situation for Dexia Crediop at 31 December 2020 is summarised in the table below:
Standard & Poor’s - m/l term

BBB

Standard & Poor’s - short term

A-2
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Organisation
Company bodies
Board of Directors (1) (2)
Olivier Paring (3)

Chairman

Nicolas M. A. Dupont
Jean Le Naour

Deputy Chairman

(6)

Chief Executive Officer

(3)

Danny Alfons P. Frans (4) (7)
Tatiana K. Pecastaing Pierre
Christophe C. Piatte

Director
(5) (7)

(6)

Director
Director

Board of Statutory Auditors (8)
Pierre Paul Destefanis

Chairman

Nadia Bonelli

Standing auditor

Nicola Fiameni

Standing auditor

Lucia Foti Belligambi

Alternate auditor

Paola Simonelli

Alternate auditor

(1) Board of Directors appointed for the three-year term 2018-2020 by the General Meeting on 26 April 2018.
(2) Board of Directors composition as at the date this document was drafted.
The Extraordinary Shareholders’ meeting on 30 July 2020 voted to reduce the number of Board of Directors members from seven to six.
Director Prakash Advani resigned effective 15 July 2020.
Director Laurent P. E. Bouscharain resigned effective 30 July 2020, after the Board of Directors meeting held on the same date.
(3) Members of the Board of Directors confirmed in office by the Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting of 26 April 2018.
(4) Danny Alfons P. Frans was appointed through co-optation by the Board of Directors on 30 July 2020 and confirmed in the position by the next
Shareholders’ Meeting on 30 July 2020.
(5) Tatiana Pecastaing Pierre was appointed through co-optation by the Board of Directors on 30 March 2020 and confirmed in the position by the Ordinary
Shareholders’ Meeting on 6 May 2020.
(6) Christophe Piatte was appointed through co-optation by the Board of Directors on 30 March 2020 and confirmed in the position by the Ordinary
Shareholders’ Meeting on 6 May 2020.
(7) Independent directors.
(8) Board of Statutory Auditors appointed for the three-year term 2019-2021 by the Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting on 29 April 2019.
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Other company bodies
Management Committee
Jean Le Naour (as Chairman)
Edoardo Baratella
Samir Belarbi
Emmanuel Campana
Claudia Pieroni
Daniela Pozzali
Pasquale Tedesco
Stefano Vicari

Financial Reporting Manager
Emmanuel Campana
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Internal Organisation (2)

Chief Executive Officer					Jean Le Naour (3)

Assets							Samir Belarbi (3)
CLM & Market Execution				

Claudia Pieroni (3)

Finance & Operations					Emmanuel Campana (3)
IT & Supplying						Pasquale Tedesco (3)
Risk							Stefano Vicari (3)
Human Resources					Daniela Pozzali (3)
General and Legal Secretariat				

Edoardo Baratella (3)

Units of the Chief Executive Officer’s Staff
Compliance & Anti-Money Laundering		

Daniele Albarin

Units which report to the Board of Directors
Internal Audit						Cristiana Garofalo

(2) At the time this document was drafted.
(3) Members of the Management Committee.
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Company information
Dexia Crediop S.p.A.
Via Antonio Salandra, 18 - 00187 Rome (1)
Tel. + 39 06 4771.1 Fax + 39 06 4771.5952
Website: www.dexia-crediop.it
Certified e-mail: dexia-crediop@pec.dexia-crediop.it
Share capital e 645,210,000 fully paid up
Rome Register of Companies no. 04945821009
Register of banks no. 5288
Member of the Interbank Deposit Protection Fund and the National Guarantee Fund
Company subject to management and coordination by the sole shareholder Dexia Crédit Local S.A. (with
registered offices in Paris La Défense Cedex – France)
Auditing firm
Mazars Italia S.p.A.

(1) New registered office filed with the Rome Register of Companies on 3 February 2020.
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Internal risk management and control system, pursuant to art. 123-bis, clause 2,
letter b) of the Consolidated Finance Act
Dexia Crediop has an internal risk management and control system which is able to continuously supervise
the typical business risks to which it is exposed. This system involves the Financial Reporting Manager,
the Company bodies, the independent auditing firm and the internal audit departments as established
by the Corporate Governance System, introduced in June 2009, following a specific resolution of the
Board of Directors and regularly updated.
With regard to financial reporting in particular, the administrative-accounting control system introduced
by the Financial Reporting Manager is based on the control framework prepared by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations (the CoSO Report), which is the most widespread international standard of
reference for internal auditing and financial reporting. The system can be divided into the following
components:
1) definition of the corporate perimeter and of the administrative-accounting processes relevant for
financial reporting (known as Scoping);
2) assessment of the adequacy of the relevant processes and effective implementation of the controls
which mitigate risks linked to accounting and financial reporting, and definition and monitoring of
risk mitigation measures (Risk & Control Analysis and Test of Effectiveness - ToE);
3) evaluation of the adequacy and effectiveness of the administrative-accounting processes (Evaluation).
The administrative-accounting model is in line with the provisions of Italian Law 262 of 2005 and
its subsequent amendments and additions made due to the European Transparency Directive (Italian
Legislative Decree No. 195 of 6 November 2007).
All analyses and evaluations have been carried out by the Financial Reporting Manager in accordance
with this model and confirm the adequacy and effective application of Dexia Crediop’s administrativeaccounting procedures.
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Economic and financial results
To provide a better understanding of the results of the period, condensed versions of the Income
Statement and Balance Sheet have been prepared, making the necessary reclassifications to the models
provided in Bank of Italy Circular 262/2005.
The reclassifications are as follows:
Balance Sheet
• the item “Cash and cash equivalents” has been included under other assets;
• the item “Hedging derivatives” has been included under other assets/liabilities;
• the item “Fair value change of financial assets in hedged portfolios” has been included among other
assets;
• tangible and intangible assets have been aggregated into a single item;
• the provisions for Employee termination indemnities and provisions for risks and charges have been
aggregated into a single item;
• the item “Fair value change of financial liabilities in hedged portfolios” has been included among
other liabilities;
• the “Reserves and valuation reserves” have been aggregated into a single item.
Income Statement
• the item “Fair value adjustment in hedge accounting” has been included under net interest income,
in relation to the close correlation between hedging derivatives and the instruments hedged;
• inclusion of the item “Profit/loss from contractual changes without derecognition” among net interest;
• aggregation into a single item of the “Net trading gains (losses)”, “Gains (losses) on disposal or
repurchase” and “Gains (losses) on other financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value through
profit and loss”;
• “Net adjustment on property plan and equipment” and “Net adjustments on intangible assets” have
been aggregated into a single item.
Below we provide the reclassified Income Statement and Balance Sheet schedules and the relative
reconciliation of the items called for in the stated Circular 262/2005 of the Bank of Italy.
For the Balance Sheet and Income Statement, the figures at 31 December 2020 are compared with
those contained in the last annual financial statements.
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Reclassified Balance Sheet
euro millions
Reclassified Balance Sheet

Assets
20. Financial assets measured at fair value
through profit and loss

Financial assets measured at fair
value through profit and loss

Financial assets measured at fair
value through comprehensive
income

Equity investments
Tangible and intangible assets
Tax assets

Chan. %

1,194.4

-14%

a) financial assets held for trading

878.4

888.6

-1%

c) other financial assets mandatorily measured
at fair value through profit and loss

152.2

305.8

-50%

30. Financial assets measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income

171.7

26.6

545%

15,758.3

16,271.5

-3%

3,387.6

3,191.6

6%

b) due from customers

12,370.7

13,079.9

-5%

70. Equity investments

0.0

0.0

n.a.

a) due from banks

80. Property plant and equipment

1.7

0.2

750%

90. Intangible assets

1.8

2.3

-22%

100. Tax assets

8.3

8.4

-1%

10. Cash and cash equivalents

0.0

0.0

n.a.

107.2

114.5

-6%

1.8

2.1

-14%

37.3

60.9

-39%

17,118.8

17,680.9

-3%

50. Hedging derivatives
Other asset items

31/12/2019

1,030.6

40. Financial assets measured at amortised cost
Financial assets measured at
amortised cost

31/12/2020

60. Fair value change of financial assets in
hedged portfolios (+/-)
120. Other assets
Total assets

euro millions
Reclassified Balance Sheet

Financial liabilities measured at
amortised cost

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity

13,250.7

-3%

a) due to banks

10,164.1

10,588.1

-4%

472.7

457.9

3%

2,186.3

2,204.7

-1%

932.2

973.7

-4%

0.0

0.0

n.a.

2,691.7

2,599.0

4%

11.3

12.8

-12%

1.1

1.1

0%

100. Provisions for risks and charges

16.7

24.5

-32%

110. Valuation reserves

(3.7)

5.8

-164%

b) due to customers

20. Financial liabilities held for trading

Tax liabilities

60. Tax liabilities

Reserves

40. Hedging derivatives
80. Other liabilities
90. Employee termination indemnities

140. Reserves

243.1

372.4

-35%

Share capital

160. Share capital

645.2

570.2

13%

Profit (Loss) for the period

180. Profit (Loss) for the period (+/-)

(241.9)

(129.3)

87%

17,118.8

17,680.9

-3%

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity
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Chan. %

12,823.1

c) securities issued

Provisions

31/12/2019

10. Financial liabilities measured at amortised
cost

Financial liabilities held for
trading

Other liabilities items

31/12/2020
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Reclassified Income Statement
euro millions
Reclassified Income Statement

Income Statement

Net fee and commission income

-122%

44.5

48.8

-9%

(59.7)

(69.6)

-14%

18.8

(6.8)

-376%

140. Profit/losses from contractual changes
without derecognition

2.5

0.4

525%

70. Dividend

0.0

0.2

-100%

(210.9)

(114.2)

85%

2.8

4.0

-30%

(213.7)

(118.2)

81%

12.9

52.2

-75%

80. Net trading gains (losses)

17.0

26.4

-36%

100. Gains (losses) on disposal or repurchase

(4.3)

0.0

n.a.

110. Gains (losses) on other financial assets
and liabilities measured at fair value through
profit and loss

0.2

25.8

-99%

(191.9)

(89.0)

116%

(30.5)

(10.8)

182%

(222.4)

(99.8)

123%

(18.8)

(25.2)

-25%

0.6

(2.7)

-122%

20. Interest and similar expenses

40. Fee and commission income
50. Fee and commission expense

Net trading gains (losses)

120. Net interest and other banking
income
Net adjustment for impairment

Chan. %

(27.2)

90. Fair value adjustments in hedge accounting

Dividends and similar income

31/12/2019

6.1
10. Interest and similar income
Net interest

31/12/2020

130. Net adjustment for credit risk
150. Net income from financial activities

Administrative expenses

160. Administrative expenses

Net provisions

170. Net provisions for risks and charges

Amortization on assets

180. Net adjustments on property plant and
equipment

(0.9)

(0.3)

200%

190. Net adjustments on intangible assets

(1.0)

(1.3)

-23%

0.6

0.0

n.a.

(19.5)

(29.5)

-34%

0.0

0.0

n.a.

(241.9)

(129.3)

87%

0.0

0.0

n.a.

280. Profit (Loss) from continuing
operations after tax

(241.9)

(129.3)

87%

300. Net income (loss)

(241.9)

(129.3)

87%

Other operating expenses/ income

200. Other operating expenses/income
210. Operating costs

Profit (Losses) on disposal of
investments

250. Profit (Losses) on disposal of investments
260. Profit (loss) from continuing
operations before tax

Income tax

270. Taxes on income from continuing
operatioons
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Economic and financial results
Introduction
On 4 December 2020, the Board of Directors approved the first step of a restructuring plan aimed at
strengthening the financial situation of Dexia Crediop, improving its future profitability and ensuring
compliance with regulatory requirements on the long term. Several transactions pertaining to this plan
were implemented at the end of 2020:
(i) capital increase of € 75 million,
(ii) a subordinate loan from DCL for € 25 million,
(iii) restructuring the credit support annex (CSA) with the parent company DCL, through which Dexia
Crediop received an indemnity of € 8.3 million, and
(iv) restructuring of credit lines with DCL, implemented at the end of 2018: the line for € 4.1 billion was
partially repaid (in the amount of € 1.15 billion); the revolving line of € 1 billion was cancelled entirely.
The combination of early repayments led to Dexia Crediop paying a penalty of € 84.4 million.
Additionally a 2 year loan of € 1.15 billion was finalised, as well as a new revolving credit line in the amount
of € 1.45 billion. The pricing for new operations was in line with market levels in December 2020. The second
step of the restructuring will be carried out during 2021 and is described in the section “Business outlook”.
Changes to key income statement items
The income statement for Dexia Crediop for 2020 shows net interest, including the fair value adjustments
in hedge accounting and profit/loss from contractual changes without derecognition, of € +6.1 million,
compared to an also negative balance of € -27.2 million for 2019.
Net interest income, including similar income/expenses, is negative at € -15.2 million, compared to a
negative € -20.8 million the previous year. The improvement of € +5.6 million is mainly due to a decrease
in the cost of long-term funding as a consequence of the amortisation of a bond issued at the end of
2018. Net hedging gains (losses) was positive at € +18.8 million, following a positive change in the
inefficacy of hedging, mainly due to a decrease in the Euribor spread with respect to the OISs, partially
offset by the decrease in interest rates. The previous year, this result was negative (€ -6.8 million) due
to the widening of the Euribor spread on OISs. The item profit/loss from contractual changes without
derecognition is positive at € +2.5 million, due to results associated with certain renegotiations of loans
with local entities during the period.
In 2020 no dividends were collected, compared to € 0.2 million in 2019.
Net fee and commission income was € -210.9 million, compared to € -114.2 million the previous year.
The negative impact is mainly due to:
• the restructuring of the credit lines with DCL at the end of 2020, with the consequent early repayment
of part of these, leading to charges for € 84.4 million;
• the increase in the volume of credit lines granted by DCL in the amount of € 350 million, in March
2020, in order to secure the bank’s financial requirements following the significant impact the Covid-19
coronavirus pandemic had on financial markets, which led to high volatility in financial benchmarks;
• the implementation, at the end of 2019, of new financial guarantees received from the parent company
DCL, to reduce credit exposure relative to certain counterparts, to comply with capital requirements for
major exposures.
The net result of trading was positive at € +12.9 million (€ +52.2 million in 2019) due to:
• € +17.0 million, as the net result from trading activities. This item consists of the following components:
(i) € +10.3 million including measurement of derivatives for Credit/Debit Value Adjustment (CVA/DVA)
components, positive at € +7.8 million (of which € +5.2 million relative to the early repayment of a
derivative with a local entity counterpart) and the Funding Value Adjustment (FVA), positive at € +2.6
million, essentially due to a drop in credit and funding spreads; (ii) € +8.7 million relative to variations in the
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mark-to-market for economic hedge derivatives (€ +9.3 million) and for assets reclassified in the amortised
cost category (€ -0.6 million); (iii) € -11.6 million relative to losses from negotiations of trading derivatives
early terminated and the early repayment of economic hedge derivatives as a result of renegotiation of
related assets; (iv) € +1.1 million due to result of the valuation and netting on derivatives classified in
trading; (v) € +8.3 million relating to amendments to some credit support annex contracts with DCL;
• € -4.3 million relative to losses from sales of securities on the market;
• € +0.2 million from the net positive result of other financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value
through profit and loss which during the period included: (i) positive results of € +5.0 million relating to
three renegotiations of loans belonging to the category, carried out with accounting derecognition and
classification of the resulting exposures in the category of assets at amortised cost and (ii) changes in the
fair value of assets classified in this category, negative € -4.8 million linked to the evolution in the market
parameters (credit spreads and interest rates), in particular due to the increase in the credit spreads
applied in measurements.
Reclassified net interest and other banking income is negative at € -191.9 million (€ -89.0 million in 2019).
Net adjustments for impairment were negative at -30.5 million in relation to the impairments recognised
on some exposures following the lowering of the internal rating for the Republic of Italy and application
of new macroeconomic scenarios.
Operating costs, including administrative expenses, amortisation and depreciation, provisions and other
operating expenses and income, totalled € -19.5 million, compared with € -29.5 million in 2019 (-34%).
Administrative expenses and amortisation, equal to € 20.7 million, down by 23% compared to € 26.8
million recorded the previous year, following a € 3.7 million decrease in the contribution to the Bank
Resolution Funds, bringing the amount of € 2.9 million, compared to € 6.6 million the previous year. Not
taking these expenses into account, the total for administrative expenses came to € 17.8 million, lower
with respect to the corresponding year by around € 2.4 million (-12%), following the decrease in personnel
expenses and other general expenses.
Net provisions for risks and charges amount to a positive € 0.6 million (€ -2.7 million in 2019), due to
provisioning relative to guarantees and commitments of around € -1.7 million and other net positive
provisioning of approximately € +2.3 million, mainly due to the release of provisions relative to unpaid
netting for € 3.8 million, following the signing of an agreement with a client, and provisioning of € -1.0
million for legal expenses relative to disputes.
The item other operating income and expense amounts to € +0.6 million (compare to an insignificant
amount the previous year), mainly due to repayments of legal expenses for € 0.6 million and taxes of € 0.1
million, as well as the cancellation of tax credits (€ -0.1 million).
Consequently, the loss from continuing operations before tax amounted to € -241.9 million, compared to
a result of € -129.3 million in 2019.
As a result of a zero income tax charge, the net loss in 2020 is therefore equal to € 241.9 million, compared
to a loss of € 129.3 million the previous year.
Changes to the main balance sheet items
Total balance sheet assets amounted to € 17.1 billion at the end of 2020, a decrease of € 0.6 billion with
respect to the end of the previous year.
In particular, financial assets measured at fair value through profit and loss totalled € 1.0 billion (compared
to € 1.2 billion at the end of 2019). This item includes:
• financial assets held for trading, which remained stable during the period at € 0.9 billion, due to changes
in market parameters during the period and the early termination of certain derivatives with customers.
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This amount is balanced out by a similar change in the item “financial liabilities held for trading”;
• the value of loans which do not have SPPI (Solely Payments of Principal and Interest), comes to € 0.15
billion, down by € 0.15 billion (-50%), mainly in relation to renegotiations of assets in this category,
which allowed for reclassification to assets at amortised cost.
The item financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, at € 171.7 million,
shows the value of certain loans to customers (€ 145.1 million at the end of 2020), reclassified to that
category at the beginning of the year, and equity securities held by the bank (essentially the portion of
equity held in the Istituto per il Credito Sportivo) for € 26.5 million. The increase in the period (€ 145.2
million) is explained by reclassifications made at the beginning of 2020.
The item “financial assets measured at amortised cost” includes most of the bank’s other assets. In
particular, amounts due from customers fell by around € 0.7 billion, mainly in relation to amortisation and
reclassifications of assets carried out during the year and, marginally, due to early repayments. Amounts
due from banks increased by € 0.2 billion, mainly due to an increase in deposits for guarantee margins
relative to Credit Support Annexes during the period, also following an amendment made to a CSA with
the parent company and the decrease in long-term interest rates during 2020.
Tax assets total € 8.3 million (€ 8.4 million at the end of the previous year), mainly relative to IRES and IRAP
credits for previously declarations requesting reimbursements for € 3.5 million, other IRES credits for which
reimbursement was requested for € 1.5 million, withholdings suffered for € 0.7 million and, finally, deferred
tax assets which can by fully transformed to tax credits pursuant to Italian Law 214/2011, for € 1.8 million.
Other items in the assets amount to € 0.1 billion. The decrease is mainly due to the fair value change in
hedging derivatives and other assets due to deferrals of commissions paid on credit lines received from DCL.
Among liabilities, in particular, there were financial liabilities designated at amortised cost (€ 12.8 billion)
which, as a whole, fell by € 0.4 billion in relation to the decrease in balance sheet assets. They consist of:
• amounts due to banks for € 10.2 billion (€ -0.4 billion compared to the end of the previous year); this
item includes utilisations of medium-term credit lines and other unsecured loans granted by the parent
company DCL for € 4.7 billion (€ -0.2 billion), repurchase agreements, again with the parent company,
for € 5.0 billion (€ -0.2 billion) and other loans payable to counterparties outside of the Dexia Group for
€ 0.5 billion (€ -0.1 billion);
• amounts due to customers came to € 0.5 billion, at the same level as at the end of the previous year;
• securities issued for € 2.2 billion, aligned with the amount at the end of the previous year based on
limited amortisation during the year.
The item financial liabilities held for trading amounted to € 0.9 billion (compared to € 1.0 billion in 2019).
The decrease was due to the change in the value of derivatives held for trading purposes. The amount is
balanced out by a similar change in the item financial assets held for trading.
The other liabilities items amounted to € 2.7 billion, compared to € 2.6 billion of the previous year. The
increase is due to the change in fair value of hedging derivatives.
Provisions for risks and charges and for Employee termination indemnities (€ 17.8 million in total) fell,
as a whole, by € 7.8 million with respect to the end of 2019, substantially in relation to the reversal of
provisions relative to unpaid netting, after the signing of a settlement agreement with a customer.
Reserves at the end of 2020 amount to € 239.4 million, down by € 138.8 million with respect to the end
of 2019, mainly due to the loss of € 129.3 million the previous year, deducted from profit reserves, and a
decrease of € -9.5 million from valuation reserves, for the most part due to reserve for financial measured
at fair value through other comprehensive income, which decreased after the reclassification of certain
assets in this category at the beginning of 2020.
At the end of 2020, share capital amounts to € 645 million, with an increase of € 75 million, following
the capital increase carried out in December 2020.

18

Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

Performance indicators

18.053

2018

17.493

16.961

2019

2020

Loans
At the end of 2020, amounts due
from customers and banks totalled
73% and 20% of total loans (in all
technical forms), down by 3% with
respect to the end of previous year.
Figures stated in millions of Euro.

Financial assets measured at amortised cost – due from customers
Financial assets measured at amortised cost – due from banks
Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
Financial assets measured at fair value through profit and loss – other financial
assets mandatorily measured at fair value through profit and loss
Financial assets measured at fair value through profit and loss – held for trading

2020
70% Public administrations
21% Banks
6% Other financial companies
3% Other non-financial corporations
0% Households

2019
71% Public administrations
19% Banks

Structure of lending
A breakdown of loans by
counterparty (in all the various
technical forms) shows that most
were made public administrations
(70.3%).

6% Other financial companies
4% Other non-financial corporations
0% Households

2018
72% Public administrations
18% Banks
6% Other financial companies
4% Other non-financial corporations
0% Households

72%
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2020
79% Due to banks
4% Due to customers
17% Securities in issue

2019
80% Due to banks
3% Due to customers
17% Securities in issue

Structure of funding
At the end of 2020, amounts due to
banks and customers and securities
totalled 79%, 4% and 17% of total
funding, respectively (in all the various
technical forms).

2018
76% Due to banks
3% Due to customers
21% Securities in issue

2018

2019

2020

Return on Equity (RoE)
2020 RoE2 comes to -27.3%
(compared to -13.6% in 2019), in
relation to the net results for the
period.

-8.6%
-13.6%

-27.3%

Net non-performing loans
The index of non-performing loans net
of adjustments3 at the end of 2020
was 0 (in line with 2019).

2
3
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0.0%

0.0%

0.0%

2018

2019

2020

Return on Equity is calculated as the ratio between net result for the year and shareholders’ equity.
This indicator expresses the profitability of own equity.
The effect of non-performing loans is calculated as the ratio between non-performing loans and overall net loans.
This indicator expresses the risk level of the loan portfolio.
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2018

2019

2020

Return on Asset (RoA)
RoA4 for 2020 came to -1.41%, with
respect to -0.73% in 2019, in relation
to the changes in the net results for the
period.

-0.43%

-0.73%

-1.41%

4

The Return on Assets figure is calculated as the ratio between net result for the financial year and the total balance sheet assets.
This indicator expresses the profitability of total invested equity.
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Report on Operations
Public Finance, Corporate and Project Finance activities
The market of reference
In 2020, the improvement of financial conditions applied to local entities was confirmed, in line with
the decrease in the spread on Italian government securities seen at the end of 2019. To that end, the
authorised credit spread on twenty-year loans to local entities decreased from 150 basis points, as called
for in the Italian Ministry of Economy and Finance (IMEF) Decree of December 2019, to 135 basis points
in the IMEF Decree of December 2020.
Nonetheless, significant volatility in financial conditions for entities was seen during the second half of
2020, connected the temporary increase in refinancing conditions for Italian government securities.
Despite this, during the period considered, the volume of new loans to local entities fell sharply and
represents just 35% of volumes in 2019 (€ 1.4 billion versus around € 4 billion). The modest requests
coming from the entities were concentrated in the initial months of the year, prior to the financial
emergency induced by the Covid-19 pandemic, and mainly referred to projects for school construction
and local public transport.
These requests were mainly satisfied by the institutional actor Cassa Depositi e Prestiti (“CDP”), for around
€ 1 billion, representing the lowest level in recent years in terms of loans granted to local entities, while
those established with the European Investment Bank by these same entities amounted to just € 350
million.
Trends in public administration debt
The most recent available data on Local Administration debt shows substantial stability in total debt,
which at December 2020 amounted to € 84.2 billion, in line with the figure from December 2019
(approximately € 85 billion). However, this stability is only superficial, in that it suffers from the statistical
effect due to refinancing (of around € 2 billion) carried out by CDP in the first half of 2020 for certain
loans originally granted to the Regions by the IMEF.
If this effect is removed, Local Administration debt falls by around € 2.8 billion, despite the numerous
renegotiations carried out during the year which drastically reduced the amount of capital payments
made in 2020. This confirms the reduced amount of new loan requests, almost entirely blocked by
entities following the health emergency, despite the loosening of the “Balanced Budget” constraints
which as of 2020 no longer need to be complied with at the level of individual entities but at an overall
segment level (national and regional) for the Local entities.
On the other hand, the support that the IMEF provided to financing current spending for these entities
was significant, achieved through cash advances of around € 3 billion provided through the CDP, pursuant
to article 115 of Italian Decree Law 34/2020. These advances, while they are long-term operations (30
years), they are not counted within public administration debt as they are contracted with another public
administration (IMEF), even if through CDP. .
The impact of the coronavirus crisis on local entities debt
Starting in February 2020, the health crisis created by the Covid-19 epidemic exploded. The provisions
blocking economic activities adopted by the government to limit the spread led to large negative effects
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on the budgets of local entities, including a significant reduction in current inflows, non-tax related
(concession fees, income from suspended or reduced services, fines for moving violations) as well as taxrelated (tourist tax, tax for occupation of public land).
This led to many local entities asking lending institutions to free up resources, taking action on debt
and postponing 2020 amortisation instalments, with the aim of at least partially compensating for the
effects of the decrease in current inflows.
Both institutional actors (IEB, CDP and MEF) and commercial banks responded to these requests with
exceptional provisions intended to lighten debt repayment burdens in subsequent years and to free up
resources which the entities can use through 2023 without any constraints on intended use, thanks to
specific legislative provisions introduced.
Worthy of note among these exceptional measures are:
• The postponing of 2020 payments on loans granted to local entities by the MEF (Italian Decree Law 17
of 18 February 2020). This involved extending the original duration of the operations by one year;
• The possibility of renegotiating all loans granted by CDP (around € 34 billion, broken up among 7,200
local entities): the CDP authorised the restructuring of the repayment profile, extending the final due
date to 31 December 2043. Around 3,100 territorial entities accepted, allowing them to renegotiate
over 80,000 loans, for total residual debt of over € 20 billion, freeing up resources up to around € 800
million in 2020.
• The possibility for local entities to renegotiate existing loans with the banking system: on 7 April
2020 a framework agreement was signed between ABI (Italian Banking Association), the National
Association of Italian Municipalities (ANCI) and the Province Union of Italy (UPI), to suspend repayment
of 2020 capital payments for local entity loans, which will be refinanced upon maturity of the loan, by
extending the initial maturity by one year.
Dexia Crediop did not accept the ABI Agreement due to the limited operations of the bank as a
consequence of the Dexia Group orderly resolution process. Nonetheless, Dexia Crediop is authorised
to take actions to support its main clients when requested, upon providing evidence of lower financial
inflow caused by the Covid-19 epidemic.
Also with regards to Corporate & Project Finance, there were a very limited number of transactions,
for the most part concentrated in the first quarter, or linked to new financial requirements induced by
the Covid-19 health emergency. Structured finance (Public Corporates, Concession Holders and Special
Vehicle Companies) settled at around € 2.6 billion, almost equally distributed between:
• refinancing in the renewables, telecommunications, transport and energy sector (€ 1.3 billion)
• financing through Public/Private Partnerships for hospital infrastructure or linked to education (€ 0.66
billion), and financing operations for M&A (€ 0.7 billion).
The Assets area
The Assets area manages the bank’s portfolio of commercial assets, which consists of loans and bonds for
a nominal value of around 9.8 billion as at 31 December 2020. The Assets area also includes derivatives
contracts signed with customers, which at the end of 2020 had a notional total of around € 2.3 billion.
Counterparties mainly come from the Italian public sector and, to a lesser degree, are private companies
operating in the infrastructure and public utility services sectors.
In line with the objectives of the Dexia Group and its resolution plan, portfolio management is focussed
on monitoring and reducing risks, including litigation and credit, at conditions favourable for the bank,
through early repayment operations, restructuring or sale on the secondary market. For this reason,
particular attention was paid to the management of customer relations in order to make the most of
any opportunities to carry out transactions to simplify the portfolio.
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In the context of these objectives and to respond to numerous requests for debt renegotiation coming
from public administrations following the health emergency noted above, Assets:
• prepared an extraordinary Covid-19 Action Plan in the first half of 2020, intended to provide financial
support to the main clients with significant Dexia Crediop debt. As part of this plan, 9 renegotiations
were carried out with six major counterparties, for a total amount of around € 327 million. Completion
of the renegotiations on the basis of current market conditions made it possible to assist these
entities with liquidity issues, deferring 2020 capital payments for around € 34 million and increasing
average durations by one year, without altering the risk and remuneration profile for the bank for the
renegotiated positions;
• took advantage of possibilities to implement early repayment operations with certain local entities
(derivatives or loans). More specifically, around € 125 million notional of swaps were repaid in advance,
as well as loans with residual debt of around € 19 million. Following the decrease in credit spread seen,
the opportunity to sell bonds was also taken advantage of for a total of around € 127 million.
• participated in a debt assumption operation by the IMEF for a bullet bond of a nominal € 1.4 billion,
maturing in 2048, originally issued by the Municipality of Rome. Dexia Crediop, which held bonds for
a nominal value of € 379 million, actively cooperated with the entities institutionally responsible for
organising the transaction, to define the technical/administrative procedures that made it possible for
the Republic of Italy to assume this bond, effective as of 27 January 2020, with the same financial
conditions.
Finally, the portfolio was subject to continuous monitoring in terms of changes in credit risk, both with
reference to counterparty risk, and ensuring compliance with covenants and contractual commitments.
In addition to the above, the Assets area renegotiated certain waivers and well as management of an
agency appointment.

Funding and activity on the markets
The CLM & Market Execution organisational unit is responsible for hedging liquidity and financial risks
and executing all of Dexia Crediop’s transactions on the financial markets.
Funding
The economic and financial situation in which funding transactions were carried out in 2020 involved:
• the impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic initially led to a strong increase in returns on Italian public
securities and a strong decrease in the interest rate curve (IRS). These two effects made it necessary to
subscribe an additional revolving credit line with DCL in March 2020 for € 350 million, maturing in 31
December 2022, to respond to additional temporary liquidity requirements. During the second half of
the year, prospects for a Covid-19 vaccine, the significant loosening of monetary policy implemented
by the ECB and the European agreement on the Recovery Plan helped to strengthen optimism on the
financial markets. At the end of 2020, the differential for returns on 10-year Italian and German public
securities was lower than that observed prior to the Covid-19 crisis, with a positive impact on Dexia
Crediop’s liquidity requirements;
• negative and falling money market rates, well below the ECB’s rate for refinancing transactions;
In this situation, obtaining funds to cover the liquidity gap was structured as follows:
• renewal of repurchase agreements with the parent company, with structures and maturities differing
based on the classification of the securities used, in order to manage the Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR);
• drawing down the credit lines granted by DCL. During December 2020, a part of the credit lines
negotiated in 2018 was restructured: the € 4.1 billion credit line was partially repaid for € 1.15 billion
and the € 1 billion revolving credit line was cancelled. Additionally, a 2 year loan of € 1.15 billion was
issued and a new 2 year revolving credit line for € 1.45 billion, as well as the capital increase of € 75
million and a subordinate loan signed with DCL for € 25 million.
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The support of the parent company is divided into the following financing channels:
• secured loans: at 31 December 2020, the secured loan from the parent company amounts to a total
value of around € 5.0 billion (€ -0.1 billion compared to 31 December 2019);
• unsecured funding: this segment amounted to a total of € 6.7 billion at 31 December 2020 (€ -0.2
billion compared to 31 December 2019), of which € 0.5 billion drawn from the new revolving line
granted for a total of € 1.45 billion, € 2.95 billion drawn from the partially repaid credit line. At the
end of December 2020, the € 350 million credit line implemented in March 2020 had not been used.
Activities on derivatives markets
During 2020, the long-term derivatives segment carried out transactions associated with the activities
of Assets with customers.
In the short-term, interest rate risk monitoring identified the need to negotiate a 6-month derivative in
the amount of € 850 million.

Audit area activities
Risk management

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of loss linked to the counterparties’ incapacity to honour their financial obligations.
In Dexia Crediop, credit exposures are concentrated with local and regional entities and the Italian
government. In fact, at the end of the year, credit exposure relative to these two types of counterparties
amounted, respectively, to around € 7.4 billion, or 54% of total Exposure at Default (EAD) and around
€ 5.0 billion, or 36% of total EAD. Also note that, again in terms of EAD, around 86% of the bank’s
portfolio at the end of the year has an investment grade rating, based on the internal ratings model, in
line with respect to the previous year.
Additionally, note that, as of 17 February 2020, the ECB Executive Board decided to authorise Dexia
SA and all of its subsidiaries (including Dexia Crediop) to return to a less sophisticated approach (the
“standardised approach”) - to calculate own fund requirements for credit risk, both for individual
supervised entities and at the consolidated level for Dexia SA.
As regards the aspects related to the quantification of impairments, IFRS 9 established a new evaluation
model based on expected losses, which replaced the incurred losses model of IAS 39. The scope of
application is financial assets measured at amortised cost, debt instruments measured at fair value
with offsetting in other comprehensive income, leasing contracts, financial guarantees issued and loan
commitments.
In this model, each financial instrument (with the exclusion of those originating or purchased as already
non-performing) is placed in one of the three buckets established by the standard, based on changes in
its credit risk starting from the initial evaluation:
• Bucket 1: financial instruments that have not undergone a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition;
• Bucket 2: financial instruments that have undergone a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, but for which objective evidence of a loss of value does not exist;
• Bucket 3: non-performing financial instruments.
For financial instruments with no objective evidence of impairment which must be allocated to buckets
1 or 2, Dexia has developed an approach based on both a qualitative and quantitative test in order to
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assess a possible significant increase in credit risk with respect to the time the financial instrument was
initially acquired in the portfolio.
The quantitative test (adjusted at the end of 2019 following the recommendations received from the
ECB as part of a credit risk inspection) consists in comparing the probability of default (PD) “through
the cycle” (TTC) for the original duration of the contract at the reference date and at the initial date.
This change in PD is then compared to the PD for the original duration of the contract on the start date.
If the change exceeds an established threshold (200%), the change in the PDs indicates a significant
deterioration in credit risk, and the financial instrument must be allocated to bucket 2.
Additionally, both accounting and prudential requirements allow the assumption that credit risk for a
financial instrument has not increased significantly since the time of initial recognition if it is determined
that the financial instrument has “low” credit risk as of the measurement date (Low Credit Risk Exemption
- LCRE).
IFRS 9, paragraph B5.5.22 24 indicates a low risk if “the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations”. An external rating of “investment grade” also indicates low credit
risk.
Even if the IFRS 9 standard does not establish any threshold for LCRE, the ECB Manual-Phase 2 for
Asset Quality Review (AQR) includes among the backstops for Significant Increase in Credit Risk (SICR)
(with respect to the date of initial recognition) a threshold to be used for the LCRE. On the basis of this
threshold, only exposures with a 12-month PD exceeding 0.3% are to be considered as subject to a SICR
assessment. This is the level adopted by the Dexia Group and, therefore, by Dexia Crediop, however,
limited to securities, in accordance with European Banking Authority (EBA) guidelines.
The qualitative part of the approach, based on forward-looking indicators for the counterparty, involves
assigning exposures which are closely monitored through the watchlist process to bucket 2, classified as
subject to forbearance5 or which are in a “sensitive sector”6.
Standard IFRS 9 indicates that, independent of the manner in which an entity measures significant
increases in credit risk, there is an assumption that credit risk for a financial asset increases significantly
relative to initial recognition when contractual payments are overdue for more than 30 days. Given the
characteristics of the Dexia portfolio and, in particular, the significant segment relative to the public
sector, administrative procedures may delay contractual payments. Therefore, for this type of population,
initial analysis is done to ensure that this delay is not due to administrative procedures and, if not, all
exceptions are analysed and documented individually.
The initial PD must not be changed and is determined only once for each exposure. Nonetheless, if
the contractual terms for a financial asset are restructured (or renegotiated or refinanced) and if this
restructuring involves derecognition pursuant to IFRS 9, the restructured asset is considered to be a new
asset. The relative test regarding a “significant increase in credit risk” is hence performed with respect
to the new features of the restructured asset, meaning the PD at the origination date is redetermined,
taking into account the rating of the counterparty at the restructuring date and the duration of the
restructured financial asset.
Finally, it should be noted that following the request made by Dexia SA to be authorised as of 31 March
2020 to cancel its initial decision to not apply the transitional provisions of IFRS 9 to Dexia Crediop,
pursuant to article 473 bis of Regulation EU 575/2013, intended to mitigate impacts on own funds of
credit institutions resulting from the adoption of IFRS 9 (impact of IFRS 9 impairment on CET1), the ECB
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Executive Board decided to grant this authorisation to Dexia Crediop, allowing it to: (i) amend its initial
decision as above; (ii) as of the same date, fully apply these transitional provisions.
Additionally, following the revision of the aforementioned article 473 bis, on 18 June 2020 all EU banks
were allowed to establish that the increase seen in the stock of impairment between 1 January 2020
and the reporting date for buckets 1 and 2 would be effective only at the accounting level, but not
regulatory, for both 2020 and the next (“dynamic phase-in” at 100% for years 2020-2021).
Below are some details regarding the calculation of expected credit losses (ECL).
Calculating expected credit losses for financial instruments in buckets 1 or 2
Calculation of expected credit losses is a function of the probability of changes in ratings, of probability of
default (PD) and in Loss Given Default (LGD) and Exposure at Default (EAD) parameters. The probability
of changes in ratings, PD and LGD are “point in time” (PIT) and “predictions”, in the sense that they
take current and estimated future macroeconomic conditions into account. Dexia has developed internal
models based on segmentation of sectors, as well as models for the best estimate of average PD,
changes in ratings and LGD, constructed over a multi-year horizon, based on historical data.
These “best estimates” are adjusted to obtain the IFRS 9 PIT models for PD and LGD, which capture the
dependencies between the various macroeconomic variables and risk parameters and are constructed
statistically, looking for historical interrelationships. This approach makes it possible to project PD, rating
changes and LGD for any economic situation.
The probability of changes in PIT ratings, probability of default and LGD are regularly subjected to
backtesting on the basis of a specific internal Dexia policy.
Additionally, Dexia has developed expected loan loss projections for three macroeconomic scenarios:
“central”, “optimistic” and “adverse”. The “central” macroeconomic situation consists of forecasts
for a three year period based on a series of macroeconomic and financial market data obtained from
important international institutions.
Part E in the financial statements provide details to that end.
With regard to impairments relating to positions attributable to buckets 1 and 2, the stock amounted
to € 48.8 million at 31 December 2020 (approximately € +28.5 million compared to the end of 2019).
This difference is almost entirely attributable to bucket 2 (€ 27.1 million) and is for the most part linked
to two positions with a bank counterpart (€ +11.9 million) and a local Italian entity (€ +12.4 million).
The increase in the amount of collective impairments is due to the adoption, of new macroeconomic
scenarios as of 30 June 2020 in the internal Dexia model used in the assessment. Additionally, with
regard to the local entity, for which the exposure consists of loans on which amortisation is paid by the
State, the following must also be taken into account:
• additional calibration of the model during the last quarter of the year;
• the downgrade in the Italian Republic’s internal rating, which went from BBB to BBB- in April 2020.
Calculating expected credit losses for financial instruments in bucket 3
In this case, expected credit losses are defined based on the individual features of the exposure, mainly
on the basis of cash flow models, market price models or the value of the collateral. In certain marginal
cases, no loss may be forecast, especially when the value of collateral exceeds the value of the instrument.

REPORT ON OPERATIONS

27

When Dexia has no reasonable expectation of recovering a financial asset, either entirely or partially, its gross
book value is reduced. Therefore, Dexia’s policy is to recognise a loss in the income statement following
renunciation of the credit which, implies that no further enforcement activities will be carried out.
The amount of favourable changes in expected credit losses over their life is recognised in the income
statement as an increase in value.
The amount of impairment relative to exposures in bucket 3 is € 21.1 million as at 31 December 2020,
an increase of around € 3.7 million with respect to the figure at the end of 2019. This increase in amount
represents the net effect of the following two phenomena:
• an increase in the percentage of provisioning relative to a Project Finance exposure which suffers from
various uncertainties, combined with other problems connected to the spread of Covid-19;
• the recovery of impairment for a local Italian entity after the full repayment of the residual amount
due.
As a whole, with regards to the total amount of this impairment, for the purposes of the balance sheet
at 31 December 2020, Dexia Crediop registered an amount of around € 69.8 million.
In brief, considering the bank’s area of reference, the credit quality of its portfolio continues to be
satisfactory, given the significantly reduced volume of non-performing loans with respect to total loans
to customers. In fact, at the end of the year, the amount of Non-Performing Loans (NPL) was around €
81 million, corresponding to 0.6% of the total, provisioned for € 13 million and guaranteed by a local
or regional entity for € 39 million.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the bank is not able to fulfil its payment commitments due to an inability to
obtain funds from the market (funding liquidity risk) or by making its own assets liquid (market liquidity
risk).
This risk is monitored on the basis of expected short-term balances and through medium/long-term
projection of the bank’s assets and liabilities.
The medium/long-term funding plan, entirely subscribed by the parent company DCL in 2018 and
restructured at the end of 2020, was calibrated to satisfy liquidity requirements through 2022, as well as
regulatory requirements in terms of liquidity, in the absence of significant market disturbances.
Dexia Crediop’s liquidity situation remains dependent upon trends in certain market parameters, including:
• trends in interest rates, which affect both the amount of margins relative to counterparties for cash
collateral contracts and the value of reserves. A 10 basis point decrease in 10-year interest rates
generates an increase of around € 56 million in net liquidity requirements, taking into account the two
cited effects;
• the change in the credit spread, which affects the value of Dexia Crediop’s eligible reserves; a 10 basis
point increase in the credit spread decreases the value of reserves by around € 60 million;
• the lowering of the counterparties’ rating below the Investment Grade threshold or decisions to
abandon the rating.
The Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) represents the bank’s capacity to cover its liquidity requirements at 30
days under given situations of stress.
At the end of December 2020, Dexia Crediop’s LCR is 111.4%, complying with the relative European
regulations (100% as of 2018). Additionally, the Dexia Group’s consolidated LCR at the end of December
2020 was 222%.
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Operational risk
Operational risk is “the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, human
resources and systems, or from external events”. This definition includes legal risk, but not strategic risk
(i.e. the risk of not achieving the desired performance owing to assessment errors by the management)
or reputation risk (i.e. the risk of losing revenues owing to a loss of public confidence in the broker).
The method used by the Group for measuring operational risk is the Traditional Standardized Approach
(TSA).
As regards the qualitative method of assessing operational risks, the Operational Risk & Security unit is
active within the sphere of the Risk Unit, and is responsible -among other things - for:
• setting up the regulatory system for the management, monitoring and mitigation of operational risks;
• measuring annually the Group’s exposure to the bank’s operational risk by means of the RCSA method
(Risk & Control Self Assessment);
• defining and adopting methods for measuring risks;
• defining, adopting and producing the reporting system on risk trends;
• managing profiles and passwords for IT applications, including the National Interbank Network and
SWIFT;
• managing the Operating Continuity Plan in accordance with the guidelines issued by the Bank of Italy
and the Dexia Group.
As regards management performance assessments, a number of Operational Risk Correspondents (ORC)
have been chosen within each of the bank’s operating units, with the task of noting every operational
risk event and subsequently filing the information in the Dexia Group’s loss-database.
With regards to the aspects linked to legal risks, we would point out that, also in view of the disputes
with some local authorities, as described in the relative section, the Legal and Assets operating units
have taken on a key role in managing these disputes and the related risk.
The main causes behind operating risk events seen during 2020 were essentially associated with
temporary malfunctions of IT systems.

Market risk
Market risk is the risk of suffering accounting losses due to changes in the value of a financial instrument
or portfolio associated with unexpected changes in market conditions.
Considering that the bank is operating in run-off, no new risks were identified during the year. To that
end, Dexia Crediop has identified and defined, in agreement with the parent company, a specific system
of limits which consists of guidelines for each of the following main segments:
Cash & Liquidity Management (CLM)
The area of reference refers to interest rate risks generated by fixed rate assets and liabilities with original
maturities of less than one year or indexed to the Euribor, either at the source or synthetically through
derivatives.
The risk indexes measured are fair value shift sensitivity for a parallel and instantaneous change in the market
interest rate curves of +100 basis points and the Value at Risk (VaR) for interest rates at a confidence level of
99% and a holding period of ten business days. Global limits have been set for these indexes, respectively,
of € 10 million (in absolute value) and € 0.5 million.
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Below are the summary figures for the year relative to the benchmarks identified above:
VAR 10 days (Euro)
31 December 2020

Shift Sensitivity 100 bps (absolute values in e)
191,189

minimum
average

3,000,000

71,100

4,200

238,174

2,236,010

maximum

666,173

8,326,700

operating limit

500,000

10,000,000

During the year, the VaR limit was exceeded five times, due to the heavy volatility seen in short-term rates.
Each time the figure was promptly restored to compliance. Sensitivity limits were always respected.
ALM Rate
The scope analysed includes all the bank’s fixed rate operations which generate medium/long-term
interest rate risk.
The risk index measured is “shift sensitivity” directional at 100 bps. A limit of € 15 million (in absolute
value) has been set for this index, which was always respected during the year.
The following table shows the values identified during 2020:
anno 2020
31 December 2020
minimum

Shift Sensitivity 100 bps (absolute values in e)
328,289
328,289

average

3.552,867

maximum

6,044,736

operating limit

15,000,000

Structuring
The scope of Structuring, consisting of paired derivatives with balanced brokering coincides with the
Dexia Crediop trading book.
The main risk indexes measured are the interest rate VaR and the shift sensitivity of fair value per 1 basis
point of parallel and instantaneous change in market interest rates. Operating limits of € 200,000 and
€ 80,000 of absolute value have respectively been set for the above cited indexes, which were always
respected during the year.

Legal risk
In the context of overall risk management and control, the implications under law and regarding
reputation linked to the developments of judicial proceedings relative to transactions in derivatives
carried out with counterparts of the public sector continue to be subject to careful monitoring.
In essence, at the end of the year, there are still 4 disputes/pre-disputes ongoing with Italian local and
regional government entities relative to derivatives for a residual notional amount at 31 December 2020
of around € 77.3 million and a negative mark to market value for the entities of € 26.6 million as at the
same date.
Recall that with reference to swap contracts with the Municipality of Prato, the Public Prosecutor’s
Office submitted an appeal to the Florence Criminal Appeals Court relative to the Prato Criminal Court
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judgement of 31 May 2017, which absolved Dexia Crediop and a former employee of the charge of
fraud against a public entity, with no case to answer.
Below we note the most significant developments relative to these disputes during the year.
On 21 June 2019, Dexia Crediop received a writ of summons from the Municipality of Venice to appear
before the Venice Civil Court in relation to swap contracts signed with Dexia Crediop and another bank
in 2007. With Order 6823/2019, issued on 3 January 2020, the Venice Civil Court suspended judgement
while awaiting to hear the decision of the Joint Divisions of the Court of Cassation on the jurisdiction
case brought by Dexia Crediop. On 6 October 2020, with Ordinance 28384-20, the Joint Divisions of
the Court of Cassation affirmed the Italian court’s jurisdiction regarding the requests put forward by the
Municipality of Venice to the Venice Civil Court. On 15 August 2019, Dexia Crediop brought a case to
the London High Court/Commercial Court in relation to swap contracts signed with the Municipality of
Venice, in order to obtain a declaration that these contracts are legitimate, valid and binding. The case
is ongoing. The hearing for the Case Management Conference with the High Court/Commercial Court
of London is set for 18 March 2021.
The dispute with the Municipality of Messina has ended, concerning swap contracts concluded with
Dexia Crediop. On 22 February 2018, Dexia Crediop filed a claim before the High Court/Commercial
Court of London. On 18 November 2020, Dexia Crediop and the Municipality of Messina signed a
settlement agreement whereby, among other things, the Municipality of Messina recognised the full
validity and efficacy ab origine of the swap contracts and paid the amounts due for netting and interest
on arrears. Based on a joint request by the parties, the English case was closed on 27 November 2020.
On 28 March 2019, Dexia Crediop also began a new enforcement action in Italy against the Province
of Crotone, aimed at obtaining payment of the legal expenses suffered in the amount liquidated
provisionally (£ 340,140 plus interest and court costs) in the Default Judgement issued on 11 May 2015
by the High/Commercial Court of London, which declared the swap contracts signed with the Province
valid, effective and binding ab origine. The judgement was issued on 24 August 2020 with an order to
transfer the seized amounts to Dexia Crediop.
At the same time, on 23 July 2019, Dexia Crediop brought a compliance case against the Province
of Crotone, with the Regional Administrative Court of the Calabria Region, aimed at obtaining the
appointment of a commissioner to execute the Default Judgement. The hearing is set for 23 March
2021.
On 13 May 2020, Dexia Crediop received an invitation to present information from the Public Prosecutor
of the Court of Auditors of the Basilicata Region, as part of a proceedings for presumed tax damages
regarding the derivatives contracts concluded with the Region. On 15 October 2020, Dexia Crediop filed
its brief for the proceedings.
In addition to the aforementioned legal proceedings regarding derivative transactions, the following
legal proceedings are also in progress.
Fi.R.A. S.p.A. – Abruzzo Regional Finance (“Fi.R.A.”) contested with the L’Aquila Civil Court the early
termination clause in a loan contract signed with Dexia Crediop on 9 February 2004. The case is currently
being investigated.
Livorno Reti e Impianti S.p.A. (LIRI) contested with the Rome Civil Court the existence of an implicit
derivative with relation to the loan contract signed with Dexia Crediop on 23 December 2003. With
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its judgement 3875/2020, published on 21 February 2020, the Rome Civil Court entirely rejected LIRI’s
claims and ordered it to pay the counterpart’s court costs. On 12 May 2020, LIRI filed an appeal against
the first level judgement with the Rome Court of Appeal. The hearing is set for 27 April 2021.
Following the serving of a complaint on 25 April 2020 regarding the renegotiation of a loan contract
with Dexia Crediop signed on 8 July 2005, the Municipality of Padua summoned Dexia Crediop to a
proceedings for the required civil mediation which was unsuccessfully completed on 27 July 2020. As of
the date this document was prepared there were no updates of note.
24 January 2019 saw the conclusion of the appeal proceedings brought by Dexia Crediop before the
Court of Appeal of Rome relative to the order of the Civil Court of Rome of 4 February 2014 rejecting
the claims of Dexia Crediop against ASL Roma 1, as well as the Lazio Region, aimed at obtaining,
inter alia, a ruling to pay outstanding receivables (of around 3.8 million) deriving from the purchase
transactions by the Italian Province of the Congregation of the Children of the Immaculate Conception”
(“Provincia Italiana della Congregazione dei Figli dell’Immacolata Concezione” - PICFIC), currently under
extraordinary administration, of certified healthcare receivables from various Lazio hospitals, including
ASL Rome 1, completed on 22 May 2012 and 5 June 2012. The Court of Appeal partially accepted
Dexia Crediop’s requests, ordering ASL Rome 1 to pay Dexia Crediop around € 900 thousand, plus
contractual interest. On 24 July 2019, Dexia Crediop filed its appeal to the Court of Cassation. The
proceedings initiated by the PICFIC extraordinary administration with the Civil Court of Rome concerning
the revocation of the deeds of sale of PICFIC receivables to Dexia Crediop in 2012 are also ongoing. The
hearing for clarification of the conclusions by the parties has been set for 27 May 2021.
Dexia Crediop is also a party to a dispute involving the Istituto per il Credito Sportivo (ICS), in which
Dexia Crediop holds an equity investment. On 18 September 2019, the Rome Civil Court published a
judgement which granted the request to return the dividends presented by the ICS and ordered Dexia
Crediop to pay € 16.9 million, plus interest on arrears and court costs. Dexia Crediop filed an appeal
against the first level judgement and the hearing for clarification of the conclusions has been scheduled
for 1 February 2023.
The development of these proceedings has led to the need to make additional allocations to the provisions
for risks and charges relative to unpaid netting relative to derivative operations with customers for € 0.6
million during 2020. Recall that the signing of a settlement agreement with a customer led to the release
of € 3.8 million from the provision for risks and charges. Additionally, in 2020 the provision for risks and
charges for legal expenses was increased by € 1 million.
***
For a further breakdown of risks and related hedging policies, qualitative and quantitative information
is given in part E of the Notes to the Accounts.
Compliance, Anti-Money Laundering and Permanent Control
During the year, Compliance Control and Permanent Control activities were performed, based on the
quarterly control plans determined by the Parent Company, as well as checks on proper insertion of
information in the Centralised Computer Archive.
The results of these control and audit activities were positive, for the most part. Areas requiring attention
saw the establishment of specific action plans, monitored by Compliance, with the assistance of the Group’s
Permanent Control unit.
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Relative to money-laundering, implementing Italian Legislative Decree 90, 25 May 2017 transposing into
national law the IV EU Directive on the matter, as well as Italian Legislative Decree 125 of 4 October 2019,
which transposed the V EU Directive in Italy, and the provisions issued by the Bank of Italy, an adjustment
was made to the scope of customers falling under the Know Your Customer regime, updating the relevant
documents (questionnaire and disclosure).
Developments associated with Brexit were monitored, in order to adapt the reference regulatory framework
for existing operations with British counterparts if necessary. While the regulatory situation is still quite
uncertain, it is held that the impacts on the Bank will likely be limited.
Relative to Delegated Regulation (EU) 2016/2251 (EMIR II), following the decision made by the European
Securities and Markets Authority (“ESMA”) to postpone the start date for the obligation to establish an
Initial Margin for non-centralised derivative transactions from 1 September 2020 to 1 September 2021,
after the Regulation itself will have taken effect, activities were suspended relative to the request for an
exemption from this requirement made to the relevant authorities for Dexia Crediop and Dexia Crédit Local
(respectively the Bank of Italy and ACPR). It is expected that the request will be presented in the initial part
of 2021.
The outsourcing register was then updated, in accordance with the EBA guidelines of 25/2/2019 on
outsourcing, in effect as of 30/9/2019. This register was sent to DCL, responsible for maintaining a
consolidated register.
Finally, with regards to the reporting requirement for securities loan transactions pursuant to European
Regulation 2015/2365, effective as of July 2020, agreements were made with the Group to allow Dexia
Crédit Local, the sole counterparty for these transactions, to carry out reporting on the part of Dexia
Crediop.
The Compliance department also provided its usual assistance to the Oversight Committee as it conducted
its audits.
Finally, during the fourth quarter a Compliance Risk Self Assessment was performed to assess the Bank’s
non-compliance risks and the adequacy of controls established to limit the risks identified. The analysis
done determined that Compliance risk falls in the “low risk” category. The findings were in line with the
previous one carried out in 2018.
Internal Audit
During 2020, Internal Audit regularly performed third level controls in compliance with Bank of Italy
Supervisory Regulations, with respect to the principles of objectivity, impartiality and independence, and
on the basis of Dexia Group methodology.
Audit projects were identified in the audit plan established at the end of the annual risk assessment
exercise, carried out using Dexia Group “risk-based approach” methodology. This approach involves
determining residual risks associated with the main company processes, taking into account current
internal control systems established to mitigate inherent risks, the results of audits in previous years
(back testing) and associated action plans already implemented. The audit plan was shared with the
parent company and approved by the Board of Directors.
The audit plan for 2020 was partially modified due to the Covid-19 pandemic. An audit mission
regarding IT to be done in cooperation with DCL was postponed to 2021. Audits performed during the
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year involved: activities with public customers and dispute management; the Internal Capital Adequacy
Assessment Process. (ICAAP), the annual audit on the remuneration policy, the annual audit of an
external IT services provider (CSE), auditing of management of products with collateral, reporting (SCV)
on guaranteed deposits in the case of bank liquidation, auditing of Market Risk activities and analysis of
regulatory reporting on Market Risk (audit not included in the audit plan).
The managers of Internal Audit and Compliance are members of the Oversight Committee (Italian
Legislative Decree 231 of 8 June 2001), chaired by the Chairman of the Board of Statutory Auditors, and
jointly carry out periodic checks on proper implementation of the Bank’s Organisational Model, as well
as ensuring it is kept up to date. In 2020, an audit was carried out on the work of the Financial Reporting
Manager and on regulatory requirements relative to workplace health and safety.

Recommendations identified during the audits were shared with the relevant structures and the
consequent action plans are monitored and followed up on by Internal Audit.
The Internal Audit manager also supervises the bank’s Complaint Office. In 2020 only one complaint was
received, which was handled in compliance with the procedures established through the provisions and
regulations of the supervisory authorities.

Human Resources
At 31 December 2020, staff expressed in terms of full-time equivalents totalled 73. The total number of
staff was 76 (-1 with respect to 31 December 2019), of which 73 employees (62% men, 38% women),
with 3 seconded from the parent company. With regards to employees, the average age is 52.5, with
average seniority of 25.5 years.
With regards to employee training, there were various initiatives carried out during the year, both
for technical/specialist and more general skills (including project management certification, coaching
initiatives and soft skills webinars), for regulatory updates (in particular, with regards to developments in
rules regarding workplace health and safety associated with the Covid-19 epidemiological emergency)
and language training. Starting in March, all on-site training activities were suspended. These and
other new initiatives were then offered remotely. Finally, in terms of keeping employees up to date on
workplace health and safety, an informational webinar was organised to inform all employees about
Covid-19 risks.
Healthy dialogue continued with the company union representatives, offering updates on developments
in the situation for the company and the Dexia Group, to communicate about safety measures to
adopt to fight and limit the spread of Covid-19 in the workplace, as well as shared solutions on issues
of common interest including, of particular import, the renewal of the personnel healthcare assistance
agreement.
Relative to employee remuneration policies, the Dexia Group remuneration policy was implemented,
shared among all Group entities, which takes into account the specific context Dexia finds itself in,
as well as the rules and regulations relative to governance and proper management of remuneration
currently in effect.
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Main IT Support Activities and Projects
Below are the main projects carried out in 2020.
Derivatives datamart – The new “datamart” was finalised, which provides extensive information
about the derivatives portfolio, in addition to that already created for Dexia Crediop’s assets and liabilities.
Accounting database - A new accounting database was created, used for accounting checks and to
prepare the Explanatory Notes accompanying the Financial Statements. This involved simplification and
normalisation of the structure and ensuring all information contained in the report is exhaustive.
Data Governance – The project launched the previous year continued, developing new rules to ensure
the accuracy, consistency and congruence of key information in the Reporting System.
Data Dictionary – The content of the Data Dictionary was enriched with the data and respective
metadata (definitions, calculation rules and algorithms, sources, destinations) coming from the Derivatives
datamart. Additionally, an application was developed to allow end users to consult the dictionary.
Datawarehouse – The physical model of the Datawarehouse was extended with the introduction
of a set of tables with historic data, able to register the change over time for a large number of data
involving the characteristics of operations in the portfolio. The update of the process used to enter data
into the datawarehouse was completed, after adoption of the Data Migrator™ platform.
Email migration – Email, previously managed by a DCL supplier, was migrated to Dexia Crediop
infrastructure.
Management of the Covid-19 emergency – Starting at the end of February, activities were organised so
as to allow all Dexia Crediop employees to make use of smartworking, through a VPN connection.

Management of the Covid-19 crisis
At the beginning of March, after the Covid-19 health crisis worsened and, with the consequent restrictive
measures implemented by the Italian government, smartworking methods were implemented for all
bank personnel, thereby guaranteeing operational continuity and ensuring personnel were protected.
During the next phase, as these measures were gradually reduced, on the basis of the guidelines
contained in the Shared Protocol of 24 March 2020, and after consulting with company union
representatives, the bank prepared a “Company protocol governing measures to fight and contain the
spread of Covid-19 in the workplace”, containing all the precautionary measures adopted.
Starting in June a plan to progressively return to on-site work was defined and implemented. This
involved moving work stations to ensure compliance with minimum safe interpersonal distances. When
returning from the summer holidays, to strengthen measures to prevent contagion in work areas, the
possibility of receiving the molecular swab test at the company offices was offered, further protecting
employees. Finally, in the last part of the year, taking into account the trend of contagion in the country,
use of smartworking was again preferred, with a maximum ceiling set for workdays carried out in the
office.
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Relations with subsidiaries and
Dexia Group companies e le
imprese del Gruppo Dexia
Subsidiaries
At 31 December 2020, Dexia Crediop does not hold any equity investments in subsidiaries.
Parent Company
Equity relationships existing at the end of the year relative to the parent company Dexia Crédit Local,
the sole shareholder, amounted to € 460.3 million in assets and € 12.2 million in liabilities, as well as
guarantees received and commitments of € 714.4 million.
Relative to assets, these consist of trading derivatives for € 0.1 million, of deposits for € 452.7 million
and of hedging derivatives for € 7.5 million.
Relative to liabilities, these essentially consist of loans received for repurchase agreements for € 5.0
billion, loans received for € 4.7 billion, securities issued for € 2.0 billion, hedging derivatives for € 0.3
billion, deposits for € 93.4 million, financial liabilities held for trading for € 33.6 million, subordinated
debts for € 25.0 million and other liabilities for € 36.7 million.
Economic relationships with Dexia Crédit Local amount to negative € 272.5 million, essentially due
to interest expense relative to funding received, hedging operations and fee and commission expense
relative to confirmed lines of credit and guarantees received.
The key data from the last Annual Report of DCL are contained in the Notes, pursuant to article 2497-bis
of the Italian Civil Code.
Other companies in the Dexia Group
With reference to 31 December 2020, Dexia Crediop has no balance sheet relationships with other
companies in the Dexia Group, other than the relationships with the parent company indicated above.
The related information is contained in Part H of the Notes.
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Business outlook
Significant post-balance sheet events
Also during the first few months of 2021, monitoring of developments in the situation associated with
the spread of Covid-19 continued. The activities of the crisis unit, working in cooperation with the
Dexia Group, are aimed at updating measures needed to protect employees and business continuity.
The Dexia Crediop Board of Directors7, meeting on 17 February 2021, resolved to sell to Dexia Crédit
Local certain assets (loans, bonds and the equity investment in ICS) and derivatives with customers
with an aggregated book value, at the end of December 2020, of approximately € 4.2 billion, as well
as the relevant market derivatives ensuring interest rate risk-hedging. The assets to be sold include
listed bonds.
These transactions are being entered into the first half of 2021 at book value as of the time of each
transaction, hence without any material P&L impact for Dexia Crediop.

Future operational prospects
In order to assess Dexia Crediop’s future operational prospects, it is necessary to refer to the situation of
the Dexia Group, which has adopted an orderly resolution plan approved by the European Commission
on 28 December 2012.
Dexia Group
Following implementation of this plan, the current scope of the Group corresponds to Dexia SA and
its subsidiary DCL, which holds most of the assets and maintains an international presence through its
branch in Ireland and representational office in the United States, as well as the investee Dexia Crediop
S.p.A. in Italy.
The convergence of the Dexia Group’s scope towards that defined in the orderly resolution plan enables
the Dexia Group to devote itself fully to its mission of managing the residual long-term assets with no new
production preserving the interests of the shareholder and guarantor States.
The Dexia Group as a going concern
The consolidated financial statements of Dexia as at 31 December 2020 were prepared in line with
the accounting rules applicable to a going concern. This requires a number of constituent assumptions
underlying the business plan for the resolution of the Dexia Group, decided upon by the European

7 See the Dexia Crediop press release of 17 February 2021.
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Commission in December 2012, and reassessed on the basis of the elements available on the date on
which the financial statements were approved.
The assumptions and estimates made by management for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements as at 31 December 2020 have changed compared to the 2019 financial year-end.
The main assumptions and areas of uncertainty, reinforced in particular by the situation related to the
Covid-19 pandemic, are summarised below:
• The business plan assumes the maintenance of the banking licence of Dexia Crédit Local and the
maintenance of the Dexia Crédit Local rating at a level equivalent to or higher than the level of
Investment Grade.
• The ongoing resolution assumes that Dexia retains a sound funding capacity, relying in particular on
the appetite of investors for debt guaranteed by the Belgian, French and Luxembourg States as well
as on the Group’s capacity to raise secured funding. The European Commission’s confirmation of the
extension of the liquidity guarantee granted by the Belgian and French States beyond 31 December
2021, for a maximum amount of € 75 billion, is an essential element of support for the continuation
of the Group’s orderly resolution.
• Although managing these risks very proactively, the Dexia Group is also very sensitive to changes in the
macroeconomic environment and market parameters such as exchange rates, interest rates or credit
spreads. An unfavourable evolution of these parameters over time could have an adverse impact on
the Group’s liquidity and solvency levels. It could also have an impact on the valuation of financial
assets, liabilities or OTC derivatives, the changes in the fair value of which are recognised in the income
statement or through shareholders’ equity and could lead to a change in the Group’s regulatory
capital.
• In particular, considering the decisions taken by the Board of Directors in 2019, relating to the
implementation of an asset disposal plan for a total of approximately € 13 billion, Dexia is exposed to
the evolution of the fair value of these assets until their effective disposal.
• Furthermore the Group is also exposed to certain operational risks, specific to the resolution environment
in which it operates and which have been increased by the teleworking environment imposed by the
Covid-19 pandemic.
• Finally, residual uncertainties related, for example, to new changes in accounting and prudential rules
over the duration of the Group’s resolution could lead to a significant change in the resolution path
initially anticipated.
In assessing the appropriateness of a going concern, management has examined each of these
assumptions and areas of uncertainty:
• Since the Group’s entry into orderly resolution, Dexia has continuously reduced its funding requirements
and extended the maturity of the funding raised, with a view to prudent management of its liquidity.
The acceleration of asset sales decided during the summer of 2019 has notably enabled a € 4.6 billion
reduction in the Group’s funding requirements compared to the end of December 2019, supported by
the rapid reduction in the US dollar funding requirement. In 2020, despite the particularly severe crisis
context linked to the Covid-19 pandemic, Dexia executed its entire long-term refinancing programme
on terms close to its budgetary target. The Group also demonstrated its ability to mobilise significant
liquidity reserves on the secured debt market, which remained active, without recourse to the facilities
of the European Central Bank (ECB). Indeed, Dexia was able to maintain a liquidity reserve deemed
to be in line the restriction of access to ECB funding announced on 21 July 2017 and which, as at 31
December 2020, amounted to € 18 billion, of which € 11 billion in cash. Furthermore, in 2021 Dexia
executed two long-term public transactions in euros and pounds sterling for € 1.5 billion and GBP 750
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million respectively, representing almost half of the long-term funding programme planned for the
year.
• As part of the half-yearly reviews of the Group’s financial trajectory, and within the specific context
of the Covid-19 pandemic, an update of the financial projections was made and presented to Dexia’s
Board of Directors on 14 December 2020. In particular it includes a “central” macroeconomic
scenario, based on the ECB’s reference scenario, broadly comparable to the forecasts published by
the European Commission in November 2020. This scenario foresees a gradual economic recovery
from 2021 onwards, with no return to the pre-crisis situation before 2023 and a prolonged period of
very low interest rates, which translates into an increase in the cost of risk and the Group’s funding
requirements compared to the pre-crisis scenario, and a continued erosion of its transformation
result. Furthermore, In order to take account of the macroeconomic uncertainty surrounding the
central scenario, Dexia has developed an improved scenario and an adverse scenario. They take
into account a difference of two standard deviations on macroeconomic indicators for a projection
horizon of three years. This difference is calibrated by comparing the macroeconomic projections of
past years with the macroeconomic evolutions actually observed. The resulting expected credit losses
are thus obtained by weighting the central scenario with the improved scenario and the adverse
scenario, within this range of uncertainty. For Dexia’s credit portfolio, since expected losses are
globally more sensitive to the adverse scenario than to the improved scenario, the taking into account
of the uncertainties surrounding the central scenario is reflected by a net increase in provisions,
compared to the central scenario alone. At the closing date of the Group’s annual consolidated
financial statements, the impact on Dexia Group’s cost of risk remains contained, at € -169 million.
The increase in collective provisions attributable to Covid-19 is mainly concentrated, in decreasing
order, on the lowest rated sovereigns, the “project finance” and “corporates” sectors weakened by
the health crisis and the lowest rated financial institutions. At this stage, Dexia does not expect any
significant increase in provisions on eurozone sovereigns.
• Management has also taken into account the constraints and uncertainties of its operating model
as well as the going concern risks inherent to Dexia’s specific character as a bank in resolution.
Within the specific context of the Covid-19 pandemic, management has taken appropriate measures
to mitigate this risk, in particular by setting up a crisis unit and deploying teleworking in order to
protect its teams. All of the work carried out on the information systems since 2017, in particular the
ambitious project to renovate the IT infrastructure, has enabled the rapid and widespread deployment
of teleworking for all staff members, thus fully ensuring the bank’s operational continuity.
• Although slowed by the Covid-19 crisis, execution of the asset disposal plan continued in 2020.
The credit risk sensitivity related to assets classified at fair value through profit or loss or at fair value
through equity (including assets reclassified under the asset disposal plan) was reduced from € 5.5
million to € 3.2 million per basis point between the end of 2019 and the end of 2020.
As a consequence, after taking all these elements and uncertainties into account, Dexia management
confirms that, as at 31 December 2020, they do not call into question the fundamentals of the Group’s
orderly resolution and do not lead to the assessment of the application of the going concern agreement
being called into question.
Consequently, the consolidated financial statements can be prepared on a going concern basis in
accordance with IAS 1 § 25 and 26.
Changes in Dexia Group liquidity
Despite the strong market turbulence caused by the Covid-19 pandemic in the first half of the year,
Dexia did not experience any disruption in its refinancing and liquidity management.
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Dexia’s model, based on a diversification of funding sources, both in terms of instruments and currencies,
and the maintenance of a large liquidity reserve, proved to be sound during this crisis year.
After a first quarter severely disrupted by the impacts of the pandemic, the markets stabilised from
April onwards. At the height of the crisis, refinancing was carried out on the secured funding market,
which demonstrated very strong resilience in terms of both volume and price. Guaranteed issuance
activity enjoyed good momentum in both the short and long term from the second quarter of 2020
onwards. Dexia Crédit Local successfully launched various long-term public transactions in euros,
US dollars and pounds sterling, enabling it to complete the entirety of its annual long-term funding
programme, namely € 4.5 billion, by the month of September at a competitive funding cost.
Overall, outstanding funding decreased by € 4.6 billion compared to 31 December 2019, to € 69.3
billion as at 31 December 2020, due to the lower funding requirement resulting from the reduction
in the asset portfolio. Net cash collateral increased by € 1 billion compared to 31 December 2019 to
€ +22.9 billion as at 31 December 2020, with high volatility during the year and a peak at € +24.6
billion as at 30 June 2020.
In terms of funding mix, secured funding amounted to € 12 billion as at 31 December 2020 and State
guaranteed funding accounted for 80% of outstanding funding, i.e. € 55.4 billion.
In line with the strategy followed since 2017, Dexia did not call on the refinancing operations of the
European Central Bank, confirming its ability to mobilise its reserves on the repo market and to issue
State-guaranteed debt, including in the context of the particularly severe crisis linked to the Covid-19
pandemic.
As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s liquidity reserve amounted to € 18.5 billion, of which € 11 billion
was in the form of cash.
At the same date, the Group’s Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) was 222% compared to 238% at 31
December 2019. This ratio is also respected at a subsidiary level, each exceeding the required minimum
of 100%. The Group’s Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR) was 136.2%, compared with 130.4% as at 31
December 2019.
.
Solvency
As at 31 December 2020, Dexia Total Capital amounted to € 6.9 billion, compared to € 7.4 billion as at
31 December 2019. It is burdened by the negative net income for the year (€ -618 million).
The Group’s solvency was impacted by the effects of the Covid-19 crisis. Indeed, additional value
adjustments taken into account in regulatory capital within the context of the Prudent Valuation
Adjustment (PVA) amounted to € -190 million as at 31 December 2020, despite a positive impact
of € +59 million related to the increase in the diversification factor provided for by the temporary
adjustment to the CRR (Quick Fix CRR) validated by the European Parliament in June 2020.
Dexia also made use of the temporary adjustment to the CRR to reintegrate into regulatory capital any
new expected credit losses recognised under IFRS 9 (dynamic phase-in), resulting in a positive impact
of € +152 million. The temporary neutralisation of changes in fair value of certain sovereign and public
sector assets classified at fair value through equity also had a positive impact of € +10 million on the
level of regulatory capital.
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In addition, in line with ECB requirements, two significant items are deducted from regulatory capital
at the end of 2020:
• The theoretical amount of loss corresponding to the remediation of the non-compliance with the
large exposure ratio which, as at 31 December 2020, amounts to € -75 million;
• The amount of irrevocable payment commitments (IPC) to resolution funds and other guarantee
funds, is € -59 million.
Finally, following its on-site inspection of credit risk which it conducted in 2018, the ECB issued a
number of recommendations. As a consequence, Dexia deducted from its prudential capital an amount
of € -41 million as additional specific provisions.
As at 31 December 2020, risk-weighted assets amounted to € 24.2 billion against € 27.3 billion at
the end of December 2019, of which € 22.2 billion for credit risk, € 1 billion for market risk and € 1
billion for operational risk. Over the year, credit risk-weighted assets decreased by € 0.9 billion. The
decrease due to the reduction of the commercial asset portfolio is partially masked by the € 3.2 billion
increase induced by the changeover to the standard method for the valuation of these weighted assets
in March 2020. Market risk-weighted assets decreased by € 2.2 billion, mainly due to the reversal of an
additional capital charge recorded as at 31 December 2019 at the request of the ECB.
Taking these elements into account, Dexia’s Common Equity Tier 1 ratio was 28.1% as at 31 December
2020, compared to 26.8% at the end of 2019. The Total Capital ratio was 28.5%, compared to 27.2%
at the end of 2019, a level above the minimum of 15.25% required for the year 2020 by the ECB
within the context of the Supervisory Review and Evaluation Process (SREP) and temporarily reduced to
11.25% as part of the temporary easing measures related to the Covid-19 pandemic.
As at 31 December 2020, Dexia Crédit Local’s Common Equity Tier 1 and Total Capital ratios were also
above the minimum requirements at 24.5% and 24.8% respectively.
On 7 January 2021, the ACPR informed Dexia that, in the absence of any significant change in its risk
profile and in order to take into account the exceptional circumstances generated by the current health
crisis, the total capital requirement of 11.25% was maintained in 2021.
On 5 February 2021, the ACPR also confirmed to Dexia the provisional maintenance of a tolerance
that allows it to deduct from its CET1 regulatory capital the economic impact of remedying a failure to
comply with the large exposure ratio for one sovereign exposure.
Dexia Crediop
Regulatory requirements for 2021
For 2021, the result of the Supervisory Review and Evaluation Process (SREP) carried out by the
ECB in 2020 is confirmed. Dexia Crediop has to comply, on an individual basis, with a TSCR set at
11.25%. This level includes a minimum requirement for own funds of 8% (Pillar 1) and an additional
requirement for own funds at 3.25% (P2R – Pillar 2 requirement), consisting entirely of CET1. Also
considering a capital conservation buffer of 2.5%, the own funds requirement is 13.75% (Overall
Capital Requirement - OCR), compared to 13.50% in 2019.
Additionally, the SREP expects that Dexia Crediop complies with a further 1% requirement in the
context of Pillar 2 Capital Guidance, entirely consisting of CET1, added to the OCR of 13.75%.
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Dexia Crediop will also comply with the CRD V and BRRD2 directives and CRR2 regulation which are
gradually coming into force.
Further, the overall structure of general supervisory rules includes both the requirement to limit credit
exposures relative to individual clients or groups of connected clients to 25% of the regulatory capital
(i.e, Large Exposures limit) as well as the Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) of 100%.
Nonetheless, it should be remembered that the ECB announced measures to temporarily reduce capital
requirements under the SREP. These measures allow Dexia Crediop to temporarily operate below the
capital conservation buffer and the Pillar 2 Capital Guidance additional capital requirements.
These temporary measures brought Dexia Crediop’s SREP capital requirement to 11.25%.
Dexia Crediop benefited from certain changes that occurred in 2020, in particular:
• On 17 February 2020, the Executive Board of the ECB decided to authorise all the “Regulated
Entities” of the Dexia Group (Dexia SA, Dexia Crédit Local and Dexia Crediop) to make use of a less
sophisticated approach when calculating own fund requirements for credit risk with respect to the
IRBA Advanced approach, used through 31 December 2019. The “standardised approach” will be
used to calculate these requirements, both at the individual level of Regulated Entities and at the
consolidated level for Dexia SA.
• Additionally, it should be noted that, following the request made by Dexia SA to be authorised as of
31 March 2020 to cancel its initial decision to not apply the transitional provisions of IFRS 9 to Dexia
Crediop, pursuant to article 473- bis of Regulation EU 575/2013, intended to mitigate impacts on
own funds of credit institutions resulting from the adoption of IFRS 9 (impact of IFRS 9 impairment
on CET1), the ECB Executive Board decided to grant this authorisation to Dexia Crediop, allowing
it to: (i) amend its initial decision as above; (ii) as of the same date, fully apply these transitional
provisions.
Moreover, following the revision of the aforementioned article 473-bis, on 18 June 2020 all EU banks
were allowed to establish that the increase seen in the stock of impairment between 1 January 2020
and the reporting date for buckets 1 and 2 would be effective only at the accounting level, but not
regulatory, for both the year in course and the next (“dynamic phase-in” at 100% for years 20202021).
• The Delegated Regulation (EU) 2020/2176, with a view to supporting the investments of banks towards
digitalization, modified the rules for deducting assets in the form of software from the elements of
Common Equity Tier 1 starting from 31 December 2020. Before that date, these fixed assets were
fully deducted from CET1. For Dexia Crediop, investments in software amounted to € 1.8 million at 31
December 2020 which, thanks to the aforementioned legislation, were deducted for € 0.6 million from
CET1 and for the residual amount of € 1.2 million included in the weighted assets.

***
The recent operations carried out with DCL:
• the revision of the medium-term funding plan at 2020, which had been established at the end of
2018 with DCL (partial early € 1.15 billion repayment of the € 4.1 billion credit line maturing on 31
December 2022 and simultaneous stipulation of a 2-year loan for € 1.15 billion; full early repayment
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of a € 1 billion revolving credit line maturing on 31 December 2022 and the simultaneous stipulation
of a new revolving credit line of € 1.45 billion, also maturing on 31 December 2022;
• € 75 million capital increase at the end of 2020;
• signing of a Tier 2 subordinated loan from DCL in December 2020, for € 25 million;
have allowed it to comply with all regulatory requirements. In fact, at the end of 2020 the CET1 ratio
is 26.7%, the Liquidity Coverage Ratio is 111.4% and weighted large exposure risk is less than 25%
of regulatory capital.
Extraordinary transactions, described in the section “Significant post-balance sheet events” and to be
implemented in 2021, will further strengthen the financial institution:
• reducing liquidity requirements, which at present Dexia Crédit Local provides for;
• improving future comprehensive income;
• guaranteeing compliance with regulatory requirements over the long term.
Sales of assets and derivatives during 2021, thanks to their positive impact on the financial situation,
will make it possible to strengthen the IFRS business model, which is still substantially “Held to Collect”.
Dexia Crediop as a going concern
Dexia Crediop’s annual financial statements at 31 December 2020 were prepared in accordance with
the principle of the business as a going concern. This accounting decision was based on a series of
hypotheses contained in the business plan for the resolution of the Dexia Group, approved by the
European Commission in December 2012 which, as of July 2014, also includes Dexia Crediop (see the
“Dexia Group” paragraph in this section), as well as various operations implemented at the end of
2020 and to be carried out in 2021 as described in paragraph “Significant post-balance sheet events”.
In addition to the above operations, and in line with the Group’s general guidelines, Dexia Crediop will
continue with its opportunistic policy of reducing its assets.
In addition, over the last few years the bank has become part of some administrative and legal
proceedings in relation to derivative contracts signed with local and territorial authorities, some of
which are still in progress. Based on developments which have occurred up to the reporting date in
the proceedings described in the Notes to this document and, in particular, the positive results seen
by Dexia Crediop in its derivative disputes with Italian local and regional entities, have significantly
reduced existing disputes and have led Dexia Crediop to hold the provisions already made are suitable
and that additional risks in relation to existing disputes not already covered by specific provisions are
not expected.
In terms of administrative management, Dexia Crediop continues to rationalise its process and contains
costs, in line with actions already begun in previous years, in line with the bank’s current mission.
In conclusion, given what has been illustrated and taking into account the orderly resolution plan
approved by the European Commission, the yearly financial report for Dexia Crediop was prepared on
the assumption that the company is a going concern.
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Proposed allocation
of net results d’esercizio
Dear Shareholders,
The proposed allocation of net results set out below is presented for your approval pursuant to art. 25
of the Bank’s By-laws.
Euro
Verified net result for 2020

-241,885,614

- share of 5% to be allocated to reserve pursuant to art. 2430 of the Italian Civil Code

-

Residual result 2020

-241,885,614

Profit reserves from financial year 2019:

243,070,859

of which:
a) legal reserve
b) change in profit reserves
Residual profit reserves

77,413,318
165,657,541
1,185,245

of which:
- to be distributed to shareholders pursuant to the 4th paragraph of article 25 of the Articles
of Association
- to be carried forward

0
1,185,245

After approval of the financial statements by the Shareholders’ Meeting, shareholders’ equity will
amount to € 642.7 million, consisting of € 645.2 million in share capital, € 1.2 million in legal reserves
and € -3.7 million in negative valuation reserves.
As of 31 December 2020, regulatory capital amounts to € 687.9 million. At the end of December
2020, the total capital ratio (regulatory capital to assets weighted according to risk level) was 28.5%,
while the Common Equity Tier 1 ratio (Tier 1 equity to risk weighted assets) was 26.7%.
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Report by the Board
of Statutory Auditors
REPORT BY THE BOARD OF STATUTORY AUDITORS
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS MEETING
PURSUANT TO ARTICLE 153 OF ITALIAN LEGISLATIVE DECREE 58/98 AND ARTICLE 2429,
PARAGRAPH 2, ITALIAN CIVIL CODE
To the Shareholders’ Meeting of Dexia Crediop S.p.A.
Dear Shareholders,
As is well known, the year in question was influenced by the Covid-19 health emergency,
which spread throughout Italy from February forward, significantly impacting the economic
and social situation of our country, while creating severe limitations on the presence of
employees in the workplace.
In compliance with the regulatory provisions, intended to fight the spread of the virus, from
March forward the Board also carried out its work remotely, without this affecting the extent
and quality of the controls it carried out. Note that on 8 September 2020, the majority
shareholder DCL SA acquired all the ordinary shares from the minority shareholders, thereby
becoming the sole shareholder.
We have examined the draft financial statements for Dexia Crediop S.p.A. at 31 December
2020, which close with a loss for the year of € 241.9 million, composed of the company’s
draft financial statements, the Notes to the Accounts, and the detailed tables, and the
Report on Operations drawn up by the Directors and regularly sent to the Board of Statutory
Auditors.
Activity carried out by the Board of Statutory Auditors
Recalling that the mandate for the certified audit of the accounts was conferred, pursuant
to art. 13 of Italian Legislative Decree 39/2010, to the audit firm Mazars Italia S.p.A. for
nine years, on 6 November 2015, following the consensual termination of the previous
appointment of BDO Italia S.p.A. on 5 October 2015. We note that during the periodic
meetings with the appointed legal accounts auditing firm no important data or information
emerged what would require noting in this report.
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Additionally, pursuant to art. 17 of Italian Legislative Decree 39/2010, we acknowledge that
we have received annual confirmation from Mazars Italia S.p.A. that it continues to meet
independence requirements.
We also note that in addition to certified account auditing services for € 105 thousand,
other auditing services were provided for € 51 thousand. No further services were supplied
by the auditing firm itself or by any entities belonging to its network in 2020.
Pursuant to art. 2429 of the Italian Civil Code, this Board of Statutory Auditors declares
that, during the financial year 2020, it has performed the following activities:
• checked legitimacy pursuant to art. 2403, first paragraph, of the Italian Civil Code, finding
correct observation of law, the By-laws, and the principles of correct administration;
• checked the adequacy of the Company’s organisational, administrative and accounting
structure, and its concrete functioning, and the reliability of the latter to correctly represent
management activities;
• participated in periodic meetings, also via video conference, and participated at the
meetings required under art. 2405 of the Civil Code, and can state that they were conducted
according to the provisions of the By-laws, the law and regulations which govern their
functioning, and we can reasonably ensure that the actions resolved conformed with the
law and the By-laws and were not manifestly imprudent, risky, in potential conflict of
interests or such as to compromise the integrity of the company’s equity;
• examined the accounting audit plan for 2020 and periodically exchanged information
with the auditing firm;
• verified that the company’s books have been kept and updated regularly, pursuant to art.
2421 of the Italian Civil Code.
Additionally, we note that during the year no complaints have been presented by shareholders
for events in breach of art. 2408 of the Italian Civil Code.
Comments on the financial statements and proposals
With regard to the financial statements at 31 December 2020, the analytic control on the
content of the same not being placed within our scope of competence, we have supervised
the general approach to the same and conformity to law as regards preparation and
structure, and we point out that the financial statements for the year 2020 also present, for
comparative purposes, the figures from the previous period.
The Board of Statutory Auditors calls the reader’s attention to the more complete disclosure
provided by the directors in the Report on Operations in the paragraph “Business Outlook
- Future operational prospects”, and in particular, it is specified that:
“In order to assess Dexia Crediop’s future operational prospects, it is necessary to refer to
the situation of the Dexia Group, which has adopted an orderly resolution plan approved
by the European Commission on 28 December 2012”.
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Dexia Group
Following implementation of this plan, the current scope of the Group corresponds to Dexia
SA and its subsidiary Dexia Crédit Local, which holds most of the assets and maintains an
international presence through its branches in Ireland and the United States, as well as the
investee Dexia Crediop S.p.A. in Italy.
The convergence of the Dexia Group’s scope towards that defined in the orderly resolution
plan enables Dexia to devote itself fully to its mission of managing the residual long-term
assets with no new production preserving the interests of the shareholder and guarantor
States.
The Dexia Group as a going concern
The consolidated accounts of the Dexia Group at 31 December 2020 were prepared in
compliance with the accounting standards applicable to companies as a going concern.
This requires a series of hypotheses relative to the Group’s business plan for resolution,
as approved by the European Commission in 2012, while uncertainties regarding the
implementation of this plan may lead to periodic revisions and updates to the plan.
At the end of 2020, Dexia management confirmed that the financial statements could
be prepared in accordance with the provisions relative to companies as a going concern,
pursuant to IAS1, paragraphs 25 and 26.
Dexia Crediop
Following the European Central Bank’s decision to not renew the “specific prudential
approach”, Dexia Crediop must comply with all regulatory requirements which apply to
institutions supervised by the ECB.
Following the Supervisory Review and Evaluation Process (SREP) carried out by the ECB,
Dexia Crediop must comply with the following capital ratios on an individual basis:
• Total SREP Capital Requirement of 11.25% (compared to 11% in 2019);
• Overall Capital Requirement of 13.75% (compared to 13.5% in 2019).
Recent operations carried out with DCL:
• revision of the medium-term funding plan to the end of 2020, carried out at the end
of 2018 with DCL (partial early repayment of € 1.15 billion of the € 4.1 billion credit
line maturing on 31 December 2022 with the simultaneous stipulation of a 2 year €
1.15 billion loan; full early repayment of the € 1 billion revolving line maturing on 31
December 2022 with the simultaneous stipulation of a new € 1.45 billion revolving line,
also maturing on 31 December 2022;
• € 75 million capital increase at the end of 2020;
• signing of a Tier 2 subordinate loan by DCL in December 2020, in the amount of € 25
million;
• have allowed it to comply with all regulatory requirements. In fact, at the end of 2020
the CET1 ratio is 26.7%, the Liquidity Coverage Ratio is 111.4% and weighted large
exposure risk is less than 25% of regulatory capital.
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Consequently, at the end of 2020:
- the CET 1 ratio and total capital ratio respectively amounted to 26.7% and 28.5%;
- weighted exposures for all counterparties were less than 25% of regulatory capital;
- at the end of 2020, regulatory capital amounts to € 687.9 million.
Dexia Crediop as a going concern
Dexia Crediop’s annual financial statements at 31 December 2020 were prepared in
accordance with the principle of the business as a going concern. This accounting decision
was based on a series of hypotheses found in the business plan for the resolution of the
Dexia Group, approved by the European Commission in December 2012, which as of July
2014 also includes Dexia Crediop.
The Bank continues to be involved in certain administrative and judicial proceedings,
however due to the positive results seen in the derivative disputes with Italian local and
regional entities, which have significantly decreased the number of cases in course, the
existing provisions are deemed sufficient.
To the best of our knowledge, pursuant to art. 2429, paragraph two, of the Civil Code, that
in drawing up the financial statements the Directors have not made any derogations from
the principles pursuant to art. 2423, Italian Civil Code.
Note that part H of the Notes to the Financial Statements provides information on operations
carried out with related parties during the year, in compliance with the provisions of the law.
Dear Shareholders,
In view of the above, and considering that the report issued on 7 April 2021 by the
independent audit firm does not contain any findings, we would suggest that you approve
these financial statements as they are presented to you by the Board of Directors.
Milan, 7 April 2021
THE BOARD OF STATUTORY AUDITORS
Pierre Paul Destefanis
Chairman			
Nadia Bonelli			
Standing auditor		
Nicola Fiameni		
Standing auditor		
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Illegible signature
Illegible signature
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Independent auditors’ report pursuant to article 14 of Legislative decree no. 39
of 27 January 2010 and article 10 of Regulation (EU) no. 537/2014
(translation of the original report issued in Italian)
To the shareholders of Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Dexia Crediop S.p.A. (the Company), which comprise the
balance sheet as of 31 December 2020, the income statement, the statement of comprehensive
income, the statement of changes in equity, the cash flows statement for the year then ended and the
explanatory notes, including a summary of significant accounting policies.
In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the
Company as of 31 December 2020, and of the result of its operations and cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European
Union, as well as with the regulations issued to implement article 9 of Legislative Decree No. 38/05
and article 43 of Legislative Decree No. 136/15.
Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA Italia). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the section of this report titled Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements. We are independent of the Company pursuant
to the regulations and standards on ethics and independence applicable to audits of financial
statements under Italian law. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Emphasis of matter
We draw attention to the disclosure described by the directors in the explanatory notes "Section 2 General accounting principles" of the "Part A - Accounting policies" with reference to the paragraph “Future
operational prospects" of the Report on operations in relation to the going concern of Dexia Group and
Dexia Crediop S.p.A., and, in particular, it is indicated that:“ In order to assess Dexia Crediop’s future
operational prospects, it is necessary to refer to the situation of the Dexia Group, which has adopted an
orderly resolution plan approved by the European Commission on 28 December 2012.
Dexia Group
Following implementation of this plan, the current scope of the Group corresponds to Dexia SA and its
subsidiary DCL, which holds most of the assets and maintains an international presence through its
branch in Ireland and representational office in the United States, as well as the investee Dexia
Crediop S.p.A. in Italy. The convergence of the Dexia Group’s scope towards that defined in the
orderly resolution plan enables the Dexia Group to devote itself fully to its mission of managing the
residual long-term assets with no new production preserving the interests of the shareholder and
guarantor States.
Mazars Italia S.p.A.
Capitale sociale deliberato, sottoscritto e versato € 120.000 - Sede legale: Via Ceresio, 7 - 20154 Milano
Rea MI-2076227 - Cod. Fisc. e P. Iva 11176691001
Iscrizione al Registro dei Revisori Legali n. 163788 con D.M. del 14/07/2011 G.U. n. 57 del 19/07/2011
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The Dexia Group as a going concern
The consolidated financial statements of Dexia as at 31 December 2020 were prepared in line with
the accounting rules applicable to a going concern. This requires a number of constituent
assumptions underlying the business plan for the resolution of the Dexia Group, decided upon by the
European Commission in December 2012, and reassessed on the basis of the elements available on
the date on which the financial statements were approved. [Omissis]
The main assumptions and areas of uncertainty, reinforced in particular by the situation related to the
Covid-19 pandemic, are summarised below:
•

The business plan assumes the maintenance of the banking licence of Dexia Crédit Local and
the maintenance of the Dexia Crédit Local rating at a level equivalent to or higher than the
level of Investment Grade.

•

The ongoing resolution assumes that Dexia retains a sound funding capacity, relying in
particular on the appetite of investors for debt guaranteed by the Belgian, French and
Luxembourg States as well as on the Group’s capacity to raise secured funding. The
European Commission’s confirmation of the extension of the liquidity guarantee granted by
the Belgian and French States beyond 31 December 2021, for a maximum amount of € 75
billion, is an essential element of support for the continuation of the Group’s orderly
resolution. [Omissis]

As a consequence, after taking all these elements and uncertainties into account, Dexia management
confirms that, as at 31 December 2020, they do not call into question the fundamentals of the Group’s
orderly resolution and do not lead to the assessment of the application of the going concern
agreement being called into question. [Omissis]
Dexia Crediop
[Omissis]
Dexia Crediop as a going concern
Dexia Crediop’s annual financial statements at 31 December 2020 were prepared in accordance with
the principle of the business as a going concern. This accounting decision was based on a series of
hypotheses contained in the business plan for the resolution of the Dexia Group, approved by the
European Commission in December 2012 which, as of July 2014, also includes Dexia Crediop (see
the “Dexia Group” paragraph in this section), as well as various operations implemented at the end of
2020 and to be carried out in 2021 as described in paragraph "Significant post-balance sheet events".
In addition to the above operations, and in line with the Group’s general guidelines, Dexia Crediop will
continue with its opportunistic policy of reducing its assets. [Omissis]
In conclusion, given what has been illustrated and taking into account the orderly resolution plan
approved by the European Commission, the yearly financial report for Dexia Crediop was prepared on
the assumption that the company is a going concern.
Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.
Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in
our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Classification and valuation on financial assets / liabilities measured at fair value through
profit and loss (Part A.2, paragraphs 1 – 11 of the explanatory notes)
Description of the key audit matters

Audit procedures

Financial assets measured at fair value
through profit and loss as of 31 December
2020 amount to 1.031 million euro, equal to
6% of total assets in the financial statements.

In response to this key audit matter, the approach
adopted has included the following main audit
procedures:

Financial liabilities held for trading as of
31 December 2020 amount to 932 million
euro, equal to 5,4% of total liabilities in the
financial statements.
These items are relevant for the audit in
consideration of significance and complexity of
the process for determining the value.

• understanding and assessing the whole
organizational measures and the controls set
forth by the internal control system, including
those relating to IT systems for the purposes
of evaluation of financial assets/liabilities
designated at fair value;
• testing of operational effectiveness of the
identified key controls;
• understanding of IT application systems
underlying the long-term derivatives valuation
process centralised at Group level and testing
of operational effectiveness of relevant control
related to automatic accounting entries.
• reconciliations and controls of consistency
between accounting and management data
and the entity's IT systems data;
• on a sample basis, testing of derivatives
financial instruments evaluation with the
support of experts from Mazars organization
(ISA 610);
• review of IFRS 9 accounting treatment for
substantial changes in NON-SPPI assets
contracts, following the restructuring
operations carried out during the current year;
• analytical procedures and analysis of
significant variances, with specific focus on
accounting volatility;
• obtaining of external confirmations (ISA 505);
• analysis of the adequacy of financial
statement disclosure including explanatory
notes.
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Classification and valuation on financial assets measured at amortized cost
(Part A.2, paragraph 3, of the explanatory notes)
Description of the key audit matters
Financial assets measured at amortized cost
as of 31 December 2020, net of related
provisions, show an overall balance of €
15,785 million by represent 92% of total
assets. The item includes loans to banks for
3,388 million euros and loans to customers for
12,371 million euros.
These items are relevant for the purposes of
the audit, both in consideration of their
significance and with reference to the inherent
complexity of the process to determining the
expected credit losses on the assets.
Another important audit aspect is the impact
deriving from the spread of the COVID-19
pandemic and the evolution of the macroeconomic scenarios that are reflected on the
credit portfolio of the Bank, mainly made up of
exposures to the Italian Republic, local and
territorial authorities.

Audit procedures
In response to key audit matter, the approach
adopted has included the following main audit
procedures:
• analysis and understanding of business model
implemented by the Bank;
• analysis and understanding of internal control
system, as well as of the internal procedures
relating to the monitoring of credit quality and
the related valuation in accordance with the
applicable accounting standard;
• review of implementation of the control
procedures underlying the corporate processes,
as well as testing of operational effectiveness of
relevant controls for the purposes of
classification and evaluation process;
• verification of the accuracy between the
management data of IFRS 9 impairment
calculated by the Group and accounting data
in order to verify the operational effectiveness
of the automated records;
• analytical review procedures according to
significant changes on cost of risk, by
obtaining and discussing the internal reports
prepared by Risk Management;
• review of IFRS 9 staging and obtaining
supporting documentation on credit exposures
on which a different bucket allocation has
been registered in comparison with the
previous financial year;
• obtaining audit evidence to support the
methodological updates implemented by
Dexia Group on IFRS 9 calculation model and
exchange of information with the Dexia Group
Auditors regarding to the audit procedures
performed at central level;
• verification of reasonableness on estimates of
the provisioning coefficients for significant
impaired exposures (stage 3);
• verification of adequacy on the information
provided in the explanatory notes.
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Appropriateness of the going concern assumption
("Section 2 - General principles of preparation" of "Part A - Accounting policies" with reference to the
paragraph "Future operational prospects" of the Report on operations)
Description of the key audit matters

Audit procedures

The bank is structurally exposed to liquidity
risk since the lending activity is mainly focused
on long-term horizon compared to a collection
activity which is characterized by a shorter
average duration.

In response to this key audit matter, the approach
adopted has included the following main audit
procedures:

The sustainability of the expected liquidity
profile over a long-term horizon is verified as
first since the approval of the Financial Plan, in
relation to the objectives set in terms of
volumes and temporal distribution of loans and
deposits.
The medium and long-term funding plan, fully
subscribed by the parent company DCL in
2018 and restructured at the end of 2020, was
calibrated to meet liquidity needs up to 2022
as well as regulatory requirements in terms of
liquidity, in the absence of significant market
shocks.
In consideration of significance of directors’
assessments for the purposes of determining
the basis of accounting of financial statements,
we deemed these assessments as a key audit
matter for the audit of the Company's financial
statements.

• obtainment of sufficient and appropriate audit
evidence regarding the going concern
assumption and the assessment of future
management action plans;
• obtainment and analysis of funding
agreements and guarantees on specific
assets, signed with the parent company Dexia
Crédit Local;
• exchanging of information with the group
auditors on the macroeconomic assumptions
concerning the business plan for the orderly
resolution of the Dexia Group;
• analysis of the reports prepared by the entity's
Financial Control office, regarding the liquidity
gap and available reserves.
• verification of adequacy of the information
provided in the explanatory notes.

Responsibilities of the directors and board of statutory auditors for the financial statements
The directors are responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union, as
well as with the regulation issued to implement article 9 of Legislative Decree No. 38/05 and article 43
of Legislative Decree No. 136/15 and, according to the terms prescribed by law, for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
The directors are responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and
for the appropriateness of the use of the going concern assumption in the preparation of the financial
statements, and for appropriate disclosure thereof. In preparing the financial statements, the Directors
use the going concern basis of accounting unless directors either intend to liquidate the Company or
to cease operations or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
The board of statutory auditors (“collegio sindacale”) is responsible for overseeing, according to the
terms prescribed by law, the Company’s financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain a reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit performed in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA Italia)
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
As part of the audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA Italia), we exercised
professional judgement and maintained professional scepticism throughout the audit. Furthermore:
•

we identified and assessed the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error; we designed and performed audit procedures in response to
those risks; we obtained sufficient and appropriate audit evidence on which to base our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations or the override of internal control;

•

we obtained an understanding of the internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
the audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control;

•

we evaluated the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors;

•

we concluded on the appropriateness of the director’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern. Where a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention, in our auditor’s report, to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, subsequent events or
conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern;

•

we evaluated the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in such a manner as to give a true and fair view.

We communicated to those charged with governance, identified at an appropriate level as required by
ISA Italia, among other matters, the scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identified during our audit.
We also provided those charged with governance with a statement that we complied with the
regulations and standards on ethics and independence applicable under Italian law and
communicated to them any circumstances that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence and, where applicable, related safeguards.
From the matters communicated to those charged with governance, we identified those that were of
most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period, and are therefore
representing the key audit matters. We described these matters in our auditor’s report.
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Additional disclosures required by article 10 of Regulation (EU) No. 537/2014
On 6 November 2015, the shareholders of Dexia Crediop S.p.A. in general meeting engaged us to
perform the statutory audit of the Company’s financial statements for the years ending 31 December
2015 to 31 December 2023.
We declare that we did not provide any prohibited non-audit services referred to in article 5,
paragraph 1, of Regulation (EU) No. 537/2014 and that we remained independent of the Company in
conducting the statutory audit.
We confirm that the opinion on the financial statements expressed in this report is consistent with the
additional report to the board of statutory auditors (“collegio sindacale”), in their capacity as audit
committee, prepared pursuant to article 11 of the aforementioned Regulation.

Report on compliance with other laws and regulations
Opinion in accordance with article 14, paragraph 2, letter e), of Legislative Decree No. 39/10 and
article 123-bis, paragraph 4, of Legislative Decree No. 58/98
The directors of Dexia Crediop S.p.A. are responsible for preparing a report on operations and a
report on the corporate governance and ownership structure of Dexia Crediop S.p.A. as at 31
December 2020, including their consistency with the relevant financial statements and their
compliance with the law.
We have performed the procedures required under auditing standard (SA Italia) No. 720B in order to
express an opinion on the consistency of the report on operations and of the specific information
included in the report on corporate governance and ownership structure referred to in article 123-bis,
paragraph 4, of Legislative Decree No. 58/98, with the financial statements of Dexia Crediop S.p.A. as
at 31 December 2020 and on their compliance with the law, as well as to issue a statement on
material misstatements, if any.
In our opinion, the report on operations and the specific information included in the report on corporate
governance and ownership structure mentioned above are consistent with the financial statements of
Dexia Crediop S.p.A. as at 31 December 2020 and are prepared in compliance with the law.
With reference to the statement referred to in article 14, paragraph 2, letter e), of Legislative Decree
No. 39/10, issued based on our knowledge and understanding of the Company and its environment
obtained in the course of the audit, we have nothing to report.
Milan, 7 April 2021
Mazars Italia S.p.A.
Olivier Rombaut
Partner – Registered auditor

Signed on the original. This report has been translated into English from the Italian original solely for
the convenience of international readers.
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Certification of the consolidated annual
report pursuant to article 154-bis of
Legislative Decree 58/98 and art. 81-ter of
Consob Regulation no. 11971 of 14 May
1999 and successive amendments and
additions
1. The undersigned Jean Le Naour, as Chief Executive Officer, and Emmanuel Campana, as the Financial
Reporting Manager, responsible for preparing the annual report of Dexia Crediop S.p.A., hereby
testify, also taking into account the provisions of Art. 154-bis, clauses 3 and 4, of Italian Legislative
Decree no. 58 of 24 February 1998, to:
• the adequacy in respect of the features of the company, and
• the effective application
of the administrative and accounting procedures on which the annual report for the 2020 period are
based.
2. He also certifies that:
2.1 the annual report:
a) has been drawn up according to the international accounting standards applicable and
recognised in the European Union pursuant to Regulation (EC) no. 1606/2002 of the European
Parliament and Council of 19 July 2002;
b) corresponds to the balances in the accounting records;
c) give a true and correct representation of the issuer’s equity and economic and financial
situation.
2.2 the report on business operations includes a reliable analysis of the management trend and result,
as well as the issuer’s situation, together with a description of the main risks and uncertainties to
which it is exposed.

24 March 2021
Jean Le Naour
				
Chief Executive Officer					
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Emmanuel Campana
Financial Reporting Manager
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CO R P O R AT E FI N A N C I A L S TAT E M E N T S
at 31 December 2020

Balance sheet
Euro

Assets
10. Cash and cash equivalents
20. Financial assets measured at fair value through profit and loss
a) financial assets held for trading
b) financial assets designated at fair value through profit and loss
c) other financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value through profit
and loss
30. Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
40. Financial assets measured at amortised cost
a) due from banks
b) due from customers
50. Hedging derivatives
60. Fair value change of financial assets in hedged portfolios (+/-)
70. Equity investments

31/12/2020

31/12/2019

1,008

1,218

1,030,653,294

1,194,441,706

878,442,784

888,598,892

152,210,510

305,842,814

171,702,991

26,560,525

15,758,302,389

16,271,584,822

3,387,579,288

3,191,638,577

12,370,723,101

13,079,946,245

107,202,923

114,472,495

1,769,524

2,082,186

-

-

80. Property plant and equipment

1,719,984

188,090

90. Intangible assets

1,835,944

2,305,844

of which:
- goodwill
100. Tax assets

8,336,465

8,360,974

a) current

6,537,579

6,278,060

b) advance

1,798,886

2,082,914

110. Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale
120. Other assets

37,301,826

60,872,777

Total assets

17,118,826,348

17,680,870,637

31/12/2020

31/12/2019

12,823,176,631

13,250,730,974

10,164,128,391

10,588,125,264

Euro

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity
10. Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
a) due to banks
b) due to customers
c) securities issued
20. Financial liabilities held for trading

472,708,174

457,903,487

2,186,340,066

2,204,702,223

932,175,019

973,684,826

2,691,740,709

2,598,978,392

11,271,345

12,807,470

30. Financial liabilities designated at fair value
40. Hedging derivatives
50. Fair value change of financial liabilities in hedged portfolios (+/-)
60. Tax liabilities
a) current
b) deferred
70. Liabilities associated with non-current assets held for sale
80. Other liabilities
90. Employee termination indemnities
100. Provisions for risks and charges
a) commitments and guarantees given
b) post employment benefits
c) other provisions
110. Valuation reserves
140. Reserves
160. Share capital
180. Net income (loss)
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity
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1,079,140

1,082,786

16,652,133

24,461,317

8,298,996

6,559,040

(2,154)

1,854,011

8,355,291

16,048,266

(3,663,872)

5,844,013

243,070,859

372,403,126

645,210,000

570,210,000

(241,885,614)

(129,332,267)

17,118,826,350

17,680,870,637

Income statement
Euro

Items
10. Interest and similar income
of which: interest income calculated using the effective interest rate method

31/12/2020

31/12/2019

44,484,090

48,843,537

271,872,293

307,713,451

20. Interest and similar expenses

(59,782,768)

(69,652,307)

30. Net interest income

(15,298,678)

(20,808,770)

40. Fee and commission income

2,814,439

3,972,391

50. Fee and commission expenses

(213,747,555)

(118,207,336)

60. Net fee and commission income

(210,933,116)

(114,234,945)

0

194,685

80. Net trading gains (losses)

70. Dividend and similar income

17,019,710

26,436,862

90. Fair value adjustment in hedge accounting

18,808,303

(6,812,036)

100. Gains (losses) on disposal or repurchase of:

(4,277,584)

21,987

(917,286)

21,987

a) financial assets measured at amortised cost
b) financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income

(3,360,298)

c) financial liabilities
Gains (losses) on other financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value through
110.
profit and loss

224,113

25,798,484

a) financial assets designated at fair value
b) other financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value through profit
and loss
120. Net interest and other banking income

224,113

25,798,484

(194,457,252)

(89,403,733)

(30,472,411)

(10,778,303)

(30,431,547)

(10,778,303)

130. Net adjustments for credit risk of:
a) financial assets measured at amortised cost
b) financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income

(40,864)
2,535,535

363,701

(222,394,128)

(99,818,335)

(18,795,696)

(25,188,460)

a) personnel expenses

(9,759,089)

(11,057,744)

b) other administrative expenses

(9,036,607)

(14,130,716)

613,135

(2,722,093)

140. Profits/losses from contractual changes without derecognition
150. Net income from financial activities
160. Administrative expenses:

170. Net provisions for risks and charges
a) commitments and guarantees given
b) other net provisions
180. Net adjustments on property plant and equipment
190. Net adjustments on intangible assets
200. Other operating expenses/income
210. Operating expenses

(1,703,708)

116,784

2,316,843

(2,838,877)

(866,791)

(250,234)

(1,019,439)

(1,312,647)

577,305

(40,498)

(19,491,486)

(29,513,932)

(241,885,614)

(129,332,267)

(241,885,614)

(129,332,267)

(241,885,614)

(129,332,267)

220. Profits (Losses) on equity investments
250. Profits (Losses) on disposal of investments
260. Profit (Loss) from continuing operations before tax

-

270. Taxes on income from continuing operations
280. Profit (Loss) from continuing operations after tax

0

290. Profit (Loss) after tax from discontinued operations
300. Net income (Loss)
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Statement of comprehensive
income
Euro

Items
10. Net income (loss)

31/12/2020

31/12/2019

(241,885,614)

(129,332,267)

(60,564)

(1,398,018)

1,866,999

(1,963,999)

2,196,704

5,000,213

Other income components net of tax without reversal to income statement
20 Equity instruments designated at fair value through other comprehensive income
30

Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss (change in own
credit rating)

40

Hedging of equity instruments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income

50 Property plant and equipment
60 Intangible assets
70 Defined benefits schemes
80 Non-current assets held for sale
90 Share of valuation reserves related to equity investments
Other income components net of tax with reversal to income statement
100 Hedges of foreign investments
110 Exchange rate differences
120 Cash flow hedging
130 Hedging instruments (not designated elements)
140

Financial assets (other than equities) measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income

(13,511,024)

150 Non-current assets held for sale
160 Share of valuation reserves related to equity investments
170 Total other income components net of tax
180 Comprehensive income (items 10 + 170)
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(9,507,885)

1,638,196

(251,393,499)

(127,694,071)

Statement of changes in
shareholders’ equity
Euro

Comprehensive income
for the period 2020

Stock options

Derivatives on treasury shares

Changes in equity instruments

Extraordinary distribution of dividend

Purchase of treasury shares

New share issues

Operations on shareholders’
equity

Shareholders’ equity at 31.12.2020

Changes in the period

Changes in reserves

Dividend and other uses

Reserves

Balances at 1.1.2020

Changes to initial balances

Balances at 31.12.2019

Allocation
of profit of
the previous
period

Share capital:
a) ordinary shares

570,210,000

570,210,000

75,000,000

372,403,126

372,403,126 (129,332,267)

645,210,000

b) other shares
Share premiums
Reserves:
a) of profits

243,070,859

b) others
Valuation reserves

5,844,013

5,844,013

(9,507,885)

(129,332,267)

(129,332,267)

129,332,267

819,124,872

819,124,872

0

(3,663,872)

Equity instruments
Treasury shares
Profit (Loss) for the
period
Shareholders’
equity

(241,885,614) (241,885,614)
(251,393,499)

642,731,373
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Cash flow statement
Indirect method
Euro
A. OPERATING ACTIVITIES
1. Cash Flow from operations
- net income (+/-)

Amount
31/12/2020

Amount
31/12/2019

(245,968,122)

(133,893,816)

(241,885,614)

(129,332,267)

- gains/losses on financial assets held for trading and on assets/liabilities designated
at fair value through profit and loss (-/+)

(17,019,710)

(26,436,862)

- capital gains/losses on hedging assets (+/-)

(18,808,303)

6,812,036

30,472,410

10,778,303

- net adjustments of tangible and intangible fixed assets (+/-)

1,886,230

1,562,881

- net provisions for risks and charges and other costs/revenues (+/-)

(613,135)

2,722,093

0

0

0

0

567,936,297

606,676,950

180,808,122

238,995,837

0

0

- net adjustments for impairment (+/-)

- taxes and duties to be settled (+)
- net adjustments to/recoveries on discontinued operations net of tax effect (-/+)
- other adjustments (+/-)
2. Cash flow from/used in financial assets
- financial assets held for trading
- financial assets designated at fair value
- financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
- financial assets measured at amortised cost
- other assets

(145,142,466)

1,398,017

483,423,158

333,173,145

48,847,483

33,109,951

(320,158,674)

(471,678,029)

(427,554,344)

(661,967,095)

(41,509,806)

(203,201,987)

0

0

148,905,476

393,491,053

1,809,501

1,105,105

0

194,685

0

0

- dividend collected from equity investments

0

194,685

- sales of property plant and equipment

0

0

(1,809,711)

(1,300,358)

(1,260,172)

(87,596)

(549,539)

(1,212,762)

(1,809,711)

(1,105,673)

0

0

0

0

(210)

(568)

3. Cash flow from/used in financial liabilities
- financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
- financial liabilities held for trading
- financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit and loss
- other liabilities
Net cash flow from (used in) operating activities
B. INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES
1. Cash flow from
- sales of equity investments

- sales of intangible assets
- sales of company divisions
2. Cash flow used in
- purchases of equity investments
- purchases of property plant and equipment
- purchases of intangible assets
- purchases of company divisions
Net liquidity generated/absorbed by investment activities
C. FUNDING ACTIVITIES
- issues/purchases of treasury shares
- issues/purchases of equity instruments
- distribution of dividend and other uses
Net liquidity generated/absorbed by funding activities
Net liquidity generated/absorbed in the period
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Reconciliation
Euro
Amount
31/12/2020

Amount
31/12/2019

Cash and cash equivalents at start of period

1.218

1.786

Total net liquidity generated/absorbed in period

(210)

(568)

0

0

1.008

1.218

Balance sheet items

Cash and cash equivalents: effect of variations in exchange rates
Cash and liquid assets at end of period
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Notes to the Financial
Statements

66
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Part A – Accounting policies

90

Part B – Comments on the balance sheet

117

Part C – Comments on the income statement

129
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130

Part E – Comments on risks and associated hedging policies

178
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181

Part H – Transactions with related parties

184

Part L – Information on sectors

189

Part M – Leasing information

190

Balance sheet data of parent company Dexia Crédit Local
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Part A – Accounting policies
A.1 General Part
– Section 1 - Declaration of conformity to International Accounting Standards
– Section 2 - General accounting principles
– Section 3 - Events after the balance sheet date
– Section 4 - Other aspects
A.2 The main aggregates of the financial statements
1 - Financial assets held for trading
2 - Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
3 - Financial assets measured at amortised cost
4 - Hedging transactions
5 - Equity investments
6 - Property plant and equipment
7 - Intangible assets
8 - Current and deferred taxes
9 - Provisions for risks and charges
10 - Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
11 - Financial liabilities held for trading
12 - Currency transactions
13 - Other information
A.4 Information on fair value
Qualitative information
A.4.1 - Fair value levels 2 and 3: valuation techniques and used inputs
A.4.2 - Processes and sensitivity of the valuations
A.4.3 - Fair Value Hierarchy
Quantitative information
A.4.5 - Fair Value Hierarchy
A.5 Information on the “day one profit/loss”

Part B – Comments on the balance sheet
ASSETS
– Section 1 - Cash and cash equivalents
– Section 2 - Financial assets measured at fair value through profit and loss
– Section 3 - Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
– Section 4 - Financial assets measured at amortised cost
– Section 5 - Hedging derivatives
– Section 6 - Fair value adjustment of financial assets in hedged portfolios
– Section 8 - Property plant and equipment
– Section 9 - Intangible assets
– Section 10 - Tax credits and liabilities
– Section 12 - Other assets
LIABILITIES
– Section 1 - Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
– Section 2 - Financial liabilities held for trading
– Section 4 - Hedging derivatives
– Section 6 - Tax liabilities
– Section 8 - Other liabilities
– Section 9 - Provision for severance indemnities
– Section 10 - Provisions for risks and charges
– Section 12 - Corporate capital – items 110, 130, 140, 150, 160, 170 and 180
Other information
1 - Guarantees given and commitments (other than those designated at fair value)
2 - Other guarantees given and commitments
3 - Assets pledged as collateral of liabilities and commitments
5 - Management and broking on behalf of third parties
6 - Financial assets subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar agreements
7 - Financial liabilities subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar agreements
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Part C – Comments on the income statement
– Section 1 - Interest
– Section 2 - Commissions
– Section 3 - Dividend and similar income
– Section 4 - Trading gains (losses)
– Section 5 - Hedging gains (losses)
– Section 6 - Disposal/repurchase gains (losses)
– Section 7 - Gains (losses) on other financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value through profit and loss
– Section 8 - Net adjustments for credit risk
– Section 9 - Profits/losses from contractual changes without derecognition
– Section 10 - Administrative expenses
– Section 11 - Net provisions for risks and charges
– Section 12 - Net adjustments on property plant and equipment
– Section 13 - Net adjustments on intangible assets
– Section 14 - Other operating expenses and income
– Section 18 - Profits/Losses on disposal of investments
– Section 19 - Tax on profit from continuing operations

Part D – Comprehensive income
Analytic statement of comprehensive income

Part E – Comments on risks and associated hedging policies
Section 1 – Credit risk
Qualitative information
1. General aspects
2. Impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic
3. Credit risk management policies
3.1 Organisational aspects
3.2 Management, measuring and audit systems
3.3 Credit risk mitigation techniques
3.4 Other significant impacts related to the COVID-19 epidemic
3.5 Impaired financial assets
4. Non-performing loan exposures
4.1 Strategies and management policies
5. Financial assets subject to commercial renegotiation and forborne exposures
Quantitative information
A. Credit quality
A.1 Non-performing and performing loan exposures: amounts, write-downs, trends, economic distribution
A.2 Classification of financial assets, commitments and guarantee given according to external and internal ratings
A.3 Breakdown of secured exposures according to type of guarantee
B. Distribution and concentration of credit exposures
B.1 Distribution of on and off-balance sheet customer loan exposures according to sector (book value)
B.2 Distribution of on and off-balance sheet customer loan exposures according to area (book value)
B.3 Distribution of on and off-balance sheet bank loan exposures according to area (book value)
B.4 Large exposures
C. Securitisation transactions
Qualitative information
C.2 Exposure to main “third party” securitisation transactions according to type of securitised assets and type of exposure
E. Disposal transactions
A. Financial assets sold but not fully derecognized
Qualitative information
Quantitative information
E.1 Financial assets sold fully recognized and related financial liabilities: book value
E.3 Disposal transaction with liabilities having recourse exclusively on assets sold and not fully derecognized: fair value
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Section 2 – Market risks
2.1 Interest rate risk and price risk - regulatory trading book
Qualitative information
A. General aspects
B. Management processes and measurement methods of the interest rate risk and price risk
Quantitative information
1. Regulatory banking book: distribution according to residual maturity (re-pricing date)of cash assets
and liabilities and financial derivatives
3. Regulatory trading book - internal models and other sensitivity analysis methods
2.2 Interest rate risk and price risk - banking book
Qualitative information
A. General aspects, management and measurement methods of interest rate risk
A. General aspects, management and measurement of price risk
B. Price risk hedging activities
Quantitative information
1. Banking book: distribution according to residual maturity (re-pricing date) of financial assets and liabilities
2. Banking book: internal models and other sensitivity analysis methods
2.3 Exchange rate risk
Qualitative information
A. General aspects, management and measurement of exchange rate risk
B. Exchange rate risk hedging activities
Quantitative information
1. Distribution according to currency of the assets, liabilities and derivatives
Section 3 – Derivative instruments and hedging policies
3.1 Trading financial derivatives
A. Financial derivatives
B. Credit derivatives
3.2 Accounting hedges
3.3 Other information on trading and hedging derivatives
A. Financial and credit derivatives
Section 4 – Liquidity risk
Qualitative information
A. General aspects, management and measurement of liquidity risk
Quantitative information
1. Breakdown by maturity by residual maturity of financial assets and liabilities
Section 5 – Operational risks
Qualitative information
A. General aspects, management and measuring of operational risk
Quantitative information

Part F – Comments on the capital
Section 1 – Corporate capital
A. Qualitative information
B. Quantitative information
Section 2 – Own funds and regulatory ratios

Part H – Transactions with related parties
1. Information on key management personnel’s remuneration
2. Information on transactions with related parties

Part L – Segment reporting
Part M – Leasing information
Balance sheet data of parent company Dexia Crédit Local
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Part A – Accounting policies
A. 1 – General Part
Section 1 – Declaration of conformity to international accounting standards
The Financial Statements of the Dexia Crediop Company for the year ending 31 December 2020 were
prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards and the International
Accounting Standards (hereafter “IFRS”, “IAS”, or “international accounting standards”) issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and adopted by the European Commission according
to procedures referred to in Article 6 of Regulation (EC) no. 1606/2002 of the European Parliament and
Council dated 19 July 2002, which were approved on that date.
The Annual Report was also prepared in accordance with the Bank of Italy’s instructions contained in
Circular n. 262 of 22 December 2005 and later updates.
The IAS/IFRS principles approved and in effect at 31 December 2020 were used in preparing the Annual
Report (including the interpretative documents known as SIC and IFRIC).
The table below indicates the new international accounting principles or the amendments to accounting
principles already in existence, with the relative approval regulations of the European Commission, which
took effect during 2020.
Document title

Approval date

EU Regulation
publication date

Amendment to IFRS 16 Leases Covid-19 Related Rent Concessions
(issued on 28 May 2020)

9 October 2020

12 October 2020

Amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations (issued on 22 October 2018)

21 April 2020

22 April 2020

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS17: Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
(issued on 26 September 2019)

15 January 2020

16 January 2020

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8: Definition of Material
(issued on 31 October 2018)

29 November 2019

10 December 2019

Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards
(issued on 29 March 2018)

29 November 2019

6 December 2019

The table below instead shows the new international accounting standards, and relative European
Commission approval regulations, which must be applied as of 1 January 2021.
Document title
Amendments to IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts – deferral of IFRS19
(issued on 25 June 2020)
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Approval date

EU Regulation
publication date

15 December 2020

16 December 2020

Section 2 – General accounting principles
The company’s annual report was drawn up in true and fair fashion and consist of the balance sheet,
the income statement, the statement of total income, the statement of changes in shareholders’ equity,
the statement of changes in the financial position and the notes to the statements. The annual report is
also accompanied by the Directors’ Report on Operations.
The annual report was drawn up in units of one euro.
The schedules of the balance sheet, income statement and statement of total income consist of items
identified with numbers and sub-items identified with letters together with additional information (the
various “of which” references relative to the items and sub-items). The items, sub-items and associated
additional information make up the annual report accounts. Each account in the balance sheet, income
statement and statement of total income also shows the amount relating to the previous period. The
balance sheet, income statement and statement of total income do not include any accounts with zero
amounts in both the year of reference and the previous financial year.
The notes to the statements were drawn up in thousands of euro. Any items and tables which do not
have any amounts are not mentioned in the notes to the statements.
The annual report was drawn up according to the going concern principle and the accruals concept.
The going concern principle for the Dexia Group and for Dexia Crediop is also described in the Report
on Operations, in the paragraph “Operating Prospects”.

Section 3 – Events after the balance sheet date
There were no events after the balance sheet date which entail a need to amend the results of the
annual report as at 31 December 2020.
To that end, please see that stated in the section “Business outlook” in the Report on Operations.

Section 4 - Other aspects
In compliance with the cited international accounting principles, the preparation of the annual report
obligatorily requires the use of estimates and hypotheses which are able to determine relevant effects
on the values in the balance sheet and income statement, as well as in the disclosure provided regarding
potential assets and liabilities.
These estimates and the associated hypotheses and assumptions are based on past experience and other
current available information held to be reasonable for the purposes of identifying management facts.
Given their intrinsic subjectivity, the estimates and hypotheses are naturally susceptible to changes, even
sizeable, from one year to the next, based on changes in market parameters and other information used
during the estimate process.
The areas of the financial statement most affected by the subjective estimate and evaluation processes
are the following:
• determination of fair value for financial instruments not listed on active markets;
• measurement of losses due to losses in value of financial assets based on IFRS 9;
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• evaluation of the severance indemnity fund and other funds for benefits due to employees;
• estimate of allocations for other provisions for risks and charges;
• estimates and assumptions of the recoverability of deferred tax assets (advance taxes).
On the closing date of this annual report there were also no apparent reasons to doubt the estimates
which could lead to material amendments in the book values of the assets and liabilities. In addition,
there were no changes made to the accounting estimates which have had effects in the current financial
period. Information regarding the existence of the prospects of a going concern are also illustrated in the
Report on Operations, in the Business Outlook section.

Risks, uncertainties and impacts of the Covid-19 epidemic
To promote the transparency requirements and for appropriate application of European rules, the
regulatory and supervisory bodies have issued various documents1 on the implications the global spread
of the pandemic will have on the preparation of financial statements.
Recall that reports must be prepared pursuant to IAS 34 and that this accounting standard requires that
information be suitable to providing a useful update that adequately reflects the current and expected
impact of the COVID-19 situation.
In this sense, contractual amendments associated with measures implemented by the bank in the face of
the pandemic are done in compliance with the accounting standards applicable to restructuring of loans
and in compliance with paragraph B3.3.6 of IFRS 9 on restructuring of financial liabilities.
To that end, for more information see paragraph 5 - Financial assets subject to commercial renegotiation
and exposures with forbearance measures, in part E, section 1.
With regards to the importance emphasised by ESMA of providing information identifying the main risks
and uncertainties to which issuers are exposed, please see that found in “Part E - Comments on risks and
hedging policies” in the Section of Credit Risk.

1 In particular, see the ESMA communication of 20 May 2020, “Implications of the COVID-19 outbreak on the half-yearly financial reports.
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A. 2 – The main aggregates of the annual report
1 – Financial assets measured at fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL)
This category includes all financial assets not classified in the portfolio of financial assets measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) and in the financial assets portfolio measured
at amortised cost.
The item financial assets measured at fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL) includes:
a) financial assets held for trading, such as debt securities, equity securities, loans and derivatives with a
positive value held for trading2;
b) assets designated at fair value at initial recognition on the basis of the option recognised under IFRS 9;
c) other financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value or financial assets which do not meet
requirements for classification at amortised cost or at FVOCI or which are not held for trading purposes.
These are assets for which contractual cash flows do not represent solely payments of principal and
interest and therefore do not pass the “SPPI test”.
Initial recognition of financial assets occurs on the settlement date for debt and equity securities, on the
disbursement date for loans and on the subscription (trade) date for derivative contracts.
Financial assets measured at fair value through profit and loss are initially recognised in the balance
sheet at their fair value, which generally corresponds to the settlement price, exclusive of transaction
costs and income which are immediately recognised in the income statement, as long as they are directly
attributable to these financial instruments. When the settlement price is different from fair value, the
financial asset is recognised at fair value and the difference compared to the settlement price is booked
to the income statement.
Any commitments for transactions to be regulated that are in existence as of the date of the annual
report are evaluated using the same criteria applied to regulated transactions.
Subsequent measurement is carried out on the basis of changes in the fair value and the result is booked
to the income statement.
Differentials in derivative contracts classified in the trading portfolio and the results of the fair value
measurement are included in “Net trading gains (losses)”.
Financial assets measured at fair value through profit and loss are derecognised only on expiry of the
contractual rights relating to the cash flows or when the financial assets are sold with the transfer to
third parties of all the risks and benefits associated with them. However, if a significant share of the
risks and benefits of the sold financial assets are maintained, they continue to be recognised, even if
ownership of such assets has effectively been transferred.
If substantial transfer of the risks and benefits cannot be ascertained, the financial assets are derecognised
when no type of control is maintained over the same. Otherwise, when such control is retained, even
partially, these assets are maintained on the balance sheet to the extent to which the said control is
retained, calculated according to exposure to changes in the value of the sold assets and variations in
the cash flows of the same.

2 Financial trading assets include the above cited operating or economic hedges.
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These financial assets are derecognised on the date they are disposed of (settlement date).
Derivatives are considered financial assets if their fair value is positive and liabilities if their fair value is
negative.
The Group Dexia does not offset the current positive and negative values from transactions in existence
with the same counterparty.

2 – Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)
This category includes assets which meet both of the following conditions:
• they are managed with the objective of collecting cash flows and/or selling them (Held to Collect and Sale);
• they have contractual cash flows which represent solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI).
The item also includes equity securities (equity investment in the Istituto per il Credito Sportivo) not held
for trading purposes, which can be measured at fair value at initial recognition, with a contra-entry in
shareholders’ equity (FVOCI).
The first recognition of the financial asset is done on the basis of the IAS criteria of “settlement date
accounting”, meaning the settlement date for debt or equity securities and the disbursement date in
the case of loans.
Any commitments for transactions to be regulated that are in existence as of the date of the annual
report are evaluated using the same criteria applied to regulated transactions.
The category of financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, which are
not equity securities, as well as the category of financial assets measured at amortised cost, are subject
to impairment in accordance with the rules established in IFRS 9 and therefore to measurement of
the significant increase in credit risk for the purposes of assigning them to buckets or risk stages (with
reference to the methods of determining losses of value, please see that indicated in part E, section 1,
paragraph 2.3 – Methods for measuring expected losses).
Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are initially recognised in
the balance sheet at fair value, which is normally the same as the purchase price, including any charges
or revenue directly ensuing from the instrument. When the settlement price is different from fair value,
the financial asset is recognised at fair value and the difference compared to the settlement price is
booked to the income statement.
Subsequent measurement for instruments other than equity securities is carried out on the basis of the
fair value with recognition of gains or losses deriving from changes in fair value booked to a specific
reserve in shareholders’ equity. The portion of interest, determined using the amortised cost method,
and the effects of impairment, are recognised in the income statement.
Any accumulated or unrealised profits or losses on these instruments are recognised in the income
statement when the asset is derecognised.
For equity securities in this category, subsequent fair value changes are not subject to reclassification in
the income statement, even in the case of sale. Additionally, these equity instruments are not subject to
impairment.
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Changes in exchange rates for non-monetary instruments (equity securities) are booked to the specific
shareholders’ equity reserve, while those relating to monetary instruments (loans and debt securities) are
booked to the income statement.
To determine fair value for financial assets measured at fair value through comprehensive income and
for derecognition criteria, please see that already stated for financial assets designated at fair value
through profit and loss.

3 – Financial assets measured at amortised cost
This category includes financial assets (debt securities and loans) which meet both of the following
conditions:
• they are held as part of a business model with the objective of collecting contractual cash flows (Held
To Collect);
• the contractual terms of the financial asset involve financial flows solely represented by payments of
principal and interest (SPPI).
This item includes loans to banks and customers, including debt securities with the characteristics outline
above.
Initial recognition of a financial assets measured at amortised cost occurs on the disbursement date or,
in the case of a debt security, on the settlement date. These assets are initially recognised at their fair
value, equal to the amount paid out, or to the subscription/trading price, including any transaction costs/
income directly attributable to the single receivable. Even if they have the above features, costs which
are reimbursed by the borrower or which can be considered normal internal administrative costs are
excluded.
After initial recognition, the financial assets in question are measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method, equal to the initial booking value decreased/increased by equity payments,
writedowns/writebacks and amortisation - calculated using the effective interest rate method - the
difference between the amount paid out and that repayable at maturity, generally traceable to the
costs/revenues directly attributed to the individual receivable. The effective interest rate is identified by
calculating the rate that is equal to the current value of the future flows of the receivable, for capital
and interest, to the amount paid out inclusive of costs/revenues traceable to the receivable. This method
of accounting, using financial logic, makes it possible to distribute the economic effect of the costs/
revenues throughout the expected maturity of the receivable.
The amortised cost method is not used for short-term loans, as for these the effect of the application
of the actualisation logic based on effective interest is negligible. For these receivables, interest matures
“pro-rata temporis”, in accordance with the law of simple interest.
The book value of financial assets at amortised cost is closely connected to their classification in one of
three buckets (or risk stages) as provided in the new IFRS 9 impairment model.
The amount of expected losses and the calculation of interest income using the effective interest rate
method depend on the bucket which the assets are classified in.
In particular, when a financial instrument is placed in bucket 1, expected losses are measured over a time
horizon of 12 months. When an instrument is placed in Buckets 2 or 3, expected losses are measured
for the entire life of the instrument. For more information on methods used to determine losses in value,
please see that stated in part E, section 1, paragraph 2.3 – Methods for measuring expected losses).
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The calculation of the interest income of the instruments placed in Buckets 1 and 2 is carried out by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross amount, while for the instruments placed in Bucket 3 the
effective interest rate is applied to the amortised cost.
The original value of financial assets designated at amortised cost is restored in subsequent financial
periods to the extent to which the reasons for the writedown are no longer evident; the writeback is
booked to the income statement and may not in any case exceed the amortised cost that the loan would
have had in the absence of previous writedowns.
For the purposes of classifying impaired exposures in the various risk categories (non-performing loans,
unlikely to pay, impaired past-due and/or over-the-limit exposures), reference is made to the regulations
issued on the subject by the Bank of Italy together with the internal provisions which establish rules for
classification and transfers within the scope of the various expected risk categories.
The financial assets in question are derecognised from the balance sheet only if the transfer involved the
substantial transfer of all the risks and benefits connected to said loans. However, if a significant share of
the risks and benefits of the sold assets is maintained, they continue to be recognised, even if ownership
of such assets has effectively been transferred.
In the cases in which, during the life of an instrument, the original contractual conditions are modified
in accordance with the desires of the parties, it is necessary to verify whether the original asset should
continue to be recognised in the balance sheet or, if not, whether the original instrument must be
derecognised and a new financial instrument recognised.
Contractual changes to an asset lead to the derecognition of the same when the changes are “substantial”
in qualitative or quantitative terms. Please see part E, section 1, paragraph 4 Financial assets subject to
commercial renegotiation and exposures with forbearance measures for more information.

4 – Hedging derivatives
Pending the new standard on macro-hedging, Dexia Crediop has decided to maintain the requirements
already in effect through IAS 39 relative to Hedge Accounting for all its hedging relationships.
The item “Hedging derivatives” refers to instruments used to neutralize potential losses which may
be recognised in a particular element and attributable to one or more types of risk (interest rate risk,
exchange rate risk, price risk, credit risk, etc.).
The types of hedging used are the following:
• Fair value hedges, performed with the aim of hedging exposure to variations in the fair value of assets/
liabilities recognised in the balance sheet; the subject of such hedging can be specific transactions, or
an amount of balance sheet assets or liabilities, selected from a portfolio of financial instruments with
a similar level of exposure to interest rate risk (generic hedges, as envisaged in the IAS 39 carve out
adopted by the European Community);
• Cash flow hedges, performed with the aim of hedging the exposure to variations in expected cash flows
of assets/liabilities recognised in the annual report or relating to highly probable future transactions.
A financial instrument is designated as a hedge if there is formal documentation on the relationship
between the hedged item and the hedging instrument, which includes the risk management objectives,
the strategy for carrying out the hedge and the methods used to test the effectiveness of the hedge itself.
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Dexia Crediop conducts an assessment at the start and periodically (on a quarterly basis), using forecasting
and retrospective tests, to see whether or not the hedge is highly effective in offsetting the changes in the
fair value or the expected cash flows of the hedged instrument. The tests on effectiveness are considered
as passed if the ratio between the changes in the fair value (or cash flows) of hedging instruments and
those of the hedged items fall within the range of 80-125%.
The hedging operation, and the relative Hedge Accounting are interrupted prospectively if: (i) the hedging
operation through the derivative is revoked or is no longer highly effective; (ii) the derivative expires, is
sold, annulled or exercised; (iii) the hedged item is sold, expires or is redeemed; (iv) it is no longer highly
probable that the future hedged operation will be performed. In all the cases cited (except for the cases
under (ii), the derivative in question is reclassified among financial instruments for trading.
The accounting rules for hedging transactions envisage the following (see IAS 39, §85-101):
• Like all derivatives, hedging derivatives are initially recognised in the balance sheet on the trade date
and are subsequently measured at fair value. The “Hedging derivatives” items among the assets (item
50) and liabilities (item 40) on the balance sheet include the positive and negative value of derivatives
which are part of effective hedging operations.
• In the case of effective fair value hedging, any changes in the value of the hedging instruments and
the hedged instruments (as regards the part attributable to the hedged risk) are booked to the income
statement. The differences between these variations in value constitute the partial ineffectiveness
of the hedge and lead to a net impact in the income statement, recognised under item 90 “Net
hedging gains/losses”. Variations in value of the elements hedged, attributable to the risk which is
being hedged against, are booked to the income statement as a matching entry for the variation in
value attributed to the element in question. In the case of generic hedging the changes in the fair
value of the element hedged are posted in the appropriate items of the assets (60) and liabilities (50)
of the balance sheet pursuant to IAS 39, paragraph 89A.
• If a fair value hedge ceases to exist for reasons other than realization of the hedged item, the variations
in value of the latter, which were recognised in the balance sheet for as long as the effective hedge was
maintained, are booked to the income statement under interest income or expenditures. When the
hedge refers to interest-bearing financial instruments, this is done using the amortized cost principle,
or in other cases with a single amount.
• As regards cash flow hedges, the gain or loss portion on a hedging instrument that is considered
effective is initially recognised in shareholders’ equity (cash flow hedging reserve), under item 110
“Valuation reserves”. Any share of gain or loss associated with the hedging instrument, which exceeds
the fair value change of the expected flows from the covered element in absolute value, is immediately
booked to the income statement (over-hedging). When the cash flows being hedged become manifest
and are recognised in the income statement, the relevant gain or loss on the hedging instrument is
transferred from shareholders’ equity to the corresponding item in the income statement (90 - “Net
hedging gains/losses”).
• In the case of interruption of a cash flow hedge relation, the total of the gain or loss of the hedging
instrument previously booked to shareholders’ equity remains recognised in the specific equity reserve
until the moment in which the transaction takes place or it is held that there is no longer a possibility
that the transaction will occur. In this latter circumstance, this amount is transferred to the income
statement under item 80 “Net trading gains/losses”. Fair value changes booked to item 110 of the
liabilities are also recognised in the Statement of comprehensive income.
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5 – Equity investments
Investments in equity instruments fall under the definition of equity instruments contained in IAS 32.
The item “Equity investments” includes equity investments in subsidiaries, associated companies and
companies subject to joint control.
Subsidiaries are companies in which the parent has the power to determine administrative, financial and
management choices and in which it normally has more than half the voting rights.
Associated companies are deemed to be those in which the Parent Company holds at least 20% share of
the voting rights and companies whose administrative, financial and management choices are deemed
to be subject to significant influence owing to the effects of actually existing legal links.
Companies subject to joint control are deemed to be those where contractual agreements exist, which
require the consent of the Company and of other investors with whom the control is shared, in order for
administrative, financial and management choices to be made.
Equity investments in subsidiaries, associated companies and companies under joint control, are booked
to the balance sheet on the settlement date and are carried at cost, adjusted when impairment losses
are ascertained.
In the case that objective evidence of a loss in value is determined for an equity investment, an estimate
of the recoverable value of the equity investment is carried out, corresponding to the greater of the fair
value bet of sales expenses and the value in use. The value in use is the current value of the expected
financial flows that the equity investment could generate, including the final disposal value.
If the recoverable value is less than the book value of the equity investment, the associated writedown
is recognised in the income statement under item 220 “Profit(Loss) from equity investments”.
If the reasons for the write-down no longer exist, the reversals are booked to the income statement –
under the same item 220 - only up to reinstatement of the original book value.
The associated dividend is recognised when the right to receive it arises.
Minority interests, or at least those not subject to significant influence, are included under the item
“Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income”.
Equity investments are cancelled from the financial statement when the contractual rights on cash flows
deriving from such assets cease, or when the equity is sold with substantial transfer of all risks and
benefits linked to the same.
5.1 – Dividend
Dividend is recognised when the right to receive it arises, which corresponds to the financial period in
which the sum is received (IAS 18 paragraph 29).

6 – Property, plant and equipment
The item “Property, plant and equipment” includes assets held to be used for more than one financial
year for the production and supply of services or for administrative purposes (e.g. instrumental assets).
In line with paragraph 7 of IAS 16, Property, plant and equipment assets are recognised in the balance
sheet only when it is reasonably possible to determine the cost of the asset and it is probable that the
associated future economic benefits will accrue to the company. Therefore, it is important to establish
the time when the risks and benefits attached to an asset are effectively transferred to the company,
irrespective of when ownership is formally conveyed.
Property, plant and equipment assets are initially entered at cost, which includes not only the purchase
price but also any associated charges directly ensuing from the purchase and costs involved in starting
up the asset. The expenses incurred, subsequent to purchase, increase the book value of an asset or are
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recognised as separate assets only when they lead to an increase in future economic benefits due to the
use of the asset; other expenses incurred subsequent to purchase are booked to the income statement
in the period in which they are incurred.
In periods subsequent to that of initial recognition, assets are recognised in the accounts on the basis
of the amortisable historical cost method. The relevant amortisation is carried out on the basis of the
possible residual useful life of the assets. The useful life of Property, plant and equipment assets subject
to depreciation is periodically re-assessed.
A Property, plant and equipment asset is eliminated from the balance sheet when it is sold or scrapped
and when no future economic benefits are expected from its use.
The item “Property, plant and equipment” includes also Leasing contracts concerned to IFRS16
accounting approach, when a contract falls within the definition of leasing established under IFRS 16,
the tenant must recognise a right of use asset relative to the leased asset and a lease liability for the
debt contracted for the relative right of use, initially measured as the current value of the payments due
throughout the duration of the contract.
Subsequently, the asset represented by the right of use is amortised, generally at constant rates, and the
liability is measured at the amortised cost.
In the income statement, amortisation of the right to use is represented in the operating cost as other
amortizing items and separately with respect to the interest expense associated with the lease liability
that was represented in the net interest income.

7 – Intangible Assets
The item “Intangible assets” includes assets that can be identified and are without physical consistency,
which originate from legal or contractual rights and which are held to be used over a number of years.
In the main, they are represented by application software.
Intangible assets are recognised at cost, net of overall depreciation and permanent impairment losses,
only if the future economic benefits ascribable to the asset are likely and if the cost of the asset itself can
be measured reliably. Otherwise, the cost of the assets is booked to the Income Statement in the year
in which it was incurred.
Intangible assets recognised in the balance sheet are amortised on the basis of their residual useful life
according to a straight-line method. The period and method of amortisation are re-assessed at the end
of each financial period.
An intangible asset is eliminated from the balance sheet when it is disposed of or when no future
economic benefits are expected.

8 – Current and deferred taxes
Current income taxes are calculated on the basis of the tax result for the year. These taxes are entered
as tax liabilities if they exceed the amounts already paid in advance during the year, and as tax assets if
the amounts paid in advance exceed the taxes for the period.
Current taxes are booked as a revenue or as a charge and are included in profits or losses for the year
except for taxes that refer to items that are accredited or debited directly to shareholders’ equity, in
which case they are booked directly to shareholders’ equity.
With regards to deferred taxes, already as of financial year 2014, in accordance with that foreseen IAS
12, net advance tax assets were cancelled as the company did not hold it likely that they would be
recovered in the future, nor that the value of the assets or liabilities recognised in the balance sheet
would be extinguished through reductions or increases in future tax payments. Only those tax assets
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for which transformation into tax credits pursuant to Law 214/2011 is expected remained registered,
for which it is automatically held that the probability test of IAS 12 is passed, in accordance with the
Bank of Italy/CONSOB/ISVAP document no. 5 of 15 May 2012.

9 – Provisions for risks and charges
According to that envisaged in IAS 37, provisions for risks and charges involves exclusively provisions for
current obligations (legal or implicit) originating from a past event, for which:
• the payment of financial resources to fulfil said obligation is probable;
• it is possible to make a reliable estimate of the relative amount.
If the time factor is significant, the provisions, which are recognised in contra-items in the income
statement, are discounted at current market rates.
The item includes provisions for early retirement incentives, applying the rules of the national contracts
for bank workers and of specific company agreements.
9.1 – Provisions for risks and charges against commitments and guarantees issued
The sub-item “commitments and guarantees issued” includes provisions for credit risks based on
commitments to disburse funds and financial guarantees issued which are subject to the impairment
rules established under IFRS 9 and provisions for other commitments and guarantees that do not fall
under the cited scope of application.
For the first type, that already illustrated relative to allocation within the three risk stages and calculation
of expected losses applies for financial assets measured at amortised cost and financial assets measured
at fair value through other comprehensive income.
9.2 – Provisions for retirement funds and similar benefits
Staff pension funds include the various complementary retirement plans with defined benefits,
established to implement company agreements and recognised in the accounts in compliance with the
provisions of IAS 19 “Employee benefits”. These plans are considered defined benefit plans, in that
they guarantee a series of benefits which depend on factors such as age, years of service, and salary
prospects for employees, regardless of the effective performance of any financial assets used to serve
the plan. In these cases, the actuarial risk and the investment risk fall mainly on the Company that
guarantees the plan.
Liabilities related to these plans and the relative retirement costs relating to current employment are
determined by independent actuaries on the basis of actuarial and financial hypotheses defined by
the Dexia Group, using the Project Unit Credit Method. This method makes it possible to uniformly
distribute the cost of the benefit throughout the working life of the employee, as a function of the
discount rate set, the years of service matured, hypotheses of salary increases, and theoretical seniority
reached at the time the benefit is paid out.
More specifically, the amount booked as liability in item 100.b) “Provisions for risks and chargesretirement funds and similar benefits” is equal to the algebraic sum of the following values:
• current value of the obligation at the reference date (calculated using the above method);
• minus the fair value of any assets that serve the plan.
The cost components of benefits are recognised as follows:
• the pension cost and net interest on the net liabilities (assets) are recognised in the income statement,
according to the actuarial method already provided for in the previous text of IAS 19;
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• the revaluations of net liabilities (assets) are recognised in the other components of comprehensive
income (O.C.I.) Para. 122 specifies that the amounts recognised in other comprehensive income can
be reclassified to shareholders’ equity.
9.3 – Other provisions for risks and charges
This item includes provisions made against legal and implicit obligations existing at the close of the
period, including provisions for employee early retirement schemes and other social security and health
charges, and provisions for the creation of the reserve required for paying employees their long-service
bonuses according to the terms of company regulations.
These liabilities are determined, in the same way as pension funds, on the basis of an assessment
conducted by an independent actuary using the methods laid down in IAS 19 (refer to that above in
Provisions for retirement funds and similar benefits).
The actuarial gains and losses are therefore recognized in the balance sheet with a contra-item in the
income statement.
The provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.

10 – Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
This item includes “Due to banks”, “Due to customers”, and “Securities issued”, which include various
forms of provisioning from banks and customers, reverse repurchase agreements and provisioning
through bonds and other funding instruments in issue (net of any portions repurchased items).
Initial recognition of such financial liabilities is done on the settlement date when the sums collected
are received or when the securities are issued, on the basis of the fair value of the liabilities, which is
normally equal to the amount received or the issue price, with an increase for any additional costs/
revenues directly connected to the single funding or bond issue operation and not reimbursed by the
lender. Internal administrative costs are excluded.
After initial recognition, debts and the securities issued, with the exception of on-demand and shortterm entries which remain booked at the price received, are valued at their amortised cost using the
effective interest rate method.
Financial liabilities are derecognised when they have expired or are extinguished. They are also
derecognised in the case of repurchase of previously issued securities. The difference between the book
value of the liability and the amount paid to purchase it is booked to the income statement under item
100.c) “Gains(losses) from sale or repurchase of financial liabilities”.
Replacement on the market of own securities after buyback is considered a new issue with recognition
at the new placement price, with no effect on the Income Statement.

11 – Financial liabilities for trading
The item includes the negative value of trading derivatives.
All financial liabilities for trading are initially booked on the trade date based on fair value, without
considering any transaction costs directly attributable to the financial instrument, which are instead
immediately booked to the income statement.
Subsequently, these liabilities are booked at fair value, with recognition of the evaluation to the income
statement under item “80. Net trading gains (losses)”.
With regards to the criteria for determining fair value of financial instruments, please refer to section
A.4 “Fair value disclosure”.
Financial liabilities held for trading are derecognised from the financial statement when the contractual
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rights over the associated financial flows expire or when the financial liability is transferred with the
substantial transfer of all the risks and benefits deriving from ownership of the same.

12 – Currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are first entered in the accounting currency, applying the exchange
rate in effect at the moment of the transaction.
At the end of every financial year or interim period, foreign currency items are measured as follows:
• cash items are converted at the exchange rate in effect on the balance sheet date;
• non-cash items are carried at their historical cost converted at the exchange rate in effect on the date
of the transaction;
• non-cash items measured at fair value are converted at the exchange rate in effect on the balance
sheet date.
Exchange rate differences resulting from the settlement of cash elements or from the conversion of noncash elements at rates other than those of the initial conversion or the conversion rate of the previous
annual report, are booked to the Income Statement of the financial period in which they arise.
Exchange rate differences relating to a non-monetary element, valued at fair value as a matching entry
to a shareholders’ equity reserve, are also booked to shareholders’ equity. On the other hand, when a
non-monetary element is valued at fair value in the income statement as a matching entry, the relative
exchange rate difference is also booked to the income statement.

13 – Other information
13.1 – Accruals and deferrals
Accrued income and deferred expenses include portions of revenues/expenses relating to several
financial periods in part already matured during the current financial period (and in the previous ones)
but not yet received/paid. Deferred income and expenses include portions of revenues/expenses already
received/paid in the reporting period (or in previous ones) but relating to the current financial period or
subsequent ones.
These amounts are recognised in the balance sheet, adjusting the assets and liabilities they refer to.
13.2 – Recognition of revenues and costs
Revenues from the sale of goods or the provision of services are recognised in the balance sheet at the
fair value of the consideration received on the basis of the accruals concept. In the majority of cases the
consideration consists of cash or similar means and the amount of the revenues is the sum of cash or
similar means received or due.
Costs are booked to the income statement in the periods when the associated revenues are recognised.
13.3 – Valuation reserves
This item includes valuation reserves relative to financial assets measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income, cash flow hedges and defined benefit schemes.
13.4 – Provision for severance indemnities
Following the reform of complementary retirement funds pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 252
of 5/12/2005, the quotas of severance indemnities accrued through to 31/12/2006 remained at the
company, while quotas maturing after 1/1/2007 were destined, based on the employee’s choice, to the
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bank’s or the INPS Treasury’s complementary retirement funds.
Hence the severance indemnity fund accrued through to 31/12/2006 continues to be a defined benefit
plan, in accordance with that envisaged in IAS 19. The relative liability is booked to the financial statement
on the basis of the actuarial value of the same, determined by an independent actuary, on the basis of
simplified actuarial hypotheses, which no longer take into account expected future salary changes in the
employment contract. Future severance indemnity cash flows are discounted at the reference date and
any actuarial gains or losses are recognised among other comprehensive income items and reclassified
in shareholders’ equity (see above in the section Provisions for retirement funds and similar benefits).
Vice versa, the quotas of severance indemnities accrued after 1/1/2007 can be considered to be a defined
contribution plan for all purposes, in that the obligation of the company is limited to paying the amounts
accrued to the complementary retirement fund chosen by the employee or to the INPS Treasury. The
relative cost for the period is given by the amounts paid to these alternative retirement funds.
13.5 – Securities Loans
With reference to the clarifications provided by the Bank of Italy during the course of 2012 in regards
to security loan transactions without guarantees or with guarantees consisting of other securities or
unavailable cash, the accounting treatment described below was adopted.
The remuneration for the transactions in question is recognised by the lender under item 40 “fee
income” in the income statement. Correspondingly, the cost of said transactions is recognised by the
borrower under item 50 “fee expense” in the income statement.
With reference to any unavailable deposits made in favour of the lender by the borrower, considering
that the cash remains fully available to the latter until maturity of the security loan transaction, the
borrower - in application of the principle of substance prevailing over form - does not recognise either
the asset in terms of the lender in the annual report, nor the corresponding constrained liability.
Correspondingly, the lender does not recognise in the annual report a liability with the borrower or the
connected constrained asset.
13.6 – Methods used to determine fair value
In compliance with IFRS 13, fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an ordinary transaction between participants in the trading market for this
asset/liability at the reference measurement date. This definition implies the concept of “exit price”, that
is the expected sale or purchase value in realistic market conditions.
When determining fair value, the following have been duly considered:
• the specific characteristics of the asset/liability being measured, if they are significant for a participant
in the relevant trading market at the moment of pricing the transaction;
• the principal trading market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of this, the most advantageous;
• all estimate assumptions that reference market participants would use when pricing the asset/liability,
acting in their best interest. Among these assumptions is non-performance risk, which includes the credit
risk associated with the issuers or the counterparty of the transaction, including the creditworthiness
of the entity that prepares the financial statements (in the case of valuation of a liability).
When listed prices from active markets are not available, fair value is determined using measurement
techniques, based as much as possible on observable market data provided by external and independent
information providers (e.g. Bloomberg or Markit) and on market standard quantitative methods.
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The Financial Market Risk structure, centralised in the parent company, ensure regular monitoring of
the quality of measurements through considering prices for market transactions, comparing with the
valuations provided by counterparties of derivatives covered by cash-collateral (Credit Support Annex
or “CSA”) contracts or alternative estimation techniques. Measurement methodologies are subject to
validation and periodic review by the Validation structure, also centralised in the parent company.
The Market Risk unit is the local reference unit for the centralised structures mentioned above.
Assessment of financial assets measured at fair value, represented for the most part to loans with local
Italian entities which did not pass the SPPI test or classified on Fair Value through Other Comprehensive
Income (FVOCI), is done by discounting cash flows with credit spreads based on application on a series
of specified Add-Ons (like product, rating, maturity, eligibility) on BTP curve, other a fixed add-on equal
to 40 basis points as an illiquidity factor due to the involvement of complex structures.
With regards to measuring derivatives, Dexia adjusts market value to take into account counterparty risk
(Credit Value Adjustment (CVA) / Debt Value Adjustment (DVA)) and the costs or benefits of funding
(Funding Value Adjustment (FVA)).
In particular, when calculating CVA and DVA, the existence of two different markets is considered:
• the market for collateralised derivatives, involving the daily exchange of collateral and for which CVA
and DVA are calculated on the basis of expected changes in value over the estimated time interval
between the last exchange of collateral prior to default and the closure of the relative risk positions;
• the non-collateralised derivatives market, in which CVA and DVA are calculated on the basis of expected
changes in value throughout the life of each derivative.
For derivatives with counterparties in the Dexia Group, regardless of whether there is an active
bilateral CSA, the fair value and CVA and DVA adjustments are determined by applying the respective
methodologies for collateralised derivatives.
On the basis of future flow projections, expected positive exposures were used to calculate CVA, and
negative ones to calculate DVA. To calculate CVA and DVA, probability of default (PD) parameters were
based on market data and conventions. Loss Given Default (LGD) parameters were based on market
conventions or internal statistics that take historic recovery rate data into consideration.
The Funding Value Adjustment (FVA) reflects the costs/benefits of funding associated with the absence
of collateralisation contracts on derivatives with customers with balanced brokering, against which
mirror collateralised derivatives are achieved with market counterparties.
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A.4 – Information note on fair value
Qualitative information
A.4.1 Fair value levels 2 and 3: estimation techniques and input used
Financial assets and liabilities designated at fair value consist almost exclusively of derivatives (around
95% in terms of notional value), with a residual amount involving certain loans classified at Fair Value
Through Profit and Loss (FVTPL) or FVOCI.
With regard to these instruments as a whole, around 94% of fair value has been measured using
techniques mostly based on observable market data and through highly reliable evaluation models
(level 2). The residual amount includes instruments for which certain market parameters (e.g. volatility,
correlations) were not directly observable on the market or which were not judged to be representative
for the purpose of estimating fair value, hence mark-to-model parameters were used and the instruments
assigned to level 3.
See section 4 of Accounting policies for an analysis of the criteria adopted for the determination of the
fair value.
A.4.2 Estimation processes and sensitivity
In order to estimate the impact on fair value of the use of alternative measurement techniques relative
to the entire segment of instruments measured at fair value classified in level 3, assumptions in line with
those adopted at the Dexia Group level were used, by defining “best” and “worst” scenarios for each
product class involved.
In particular, for the derivatives segment, the two scenarios are based on the range of available market
data by risk factor and by “pillar” and based on fair value sensitivity calculated for changes equal to
±1 standard deviation. In the segment of loans measured at fair values, “Best” and “Worst” credit
spread were adopted which respectively use the minimum and maximum spread adopted for each asset
class (Pubblic Sector, Project, etc.) through application of an illiquidity (see above, par 13.6) respectively
halved and doubled.
The following table shows the results when using the alternative assumptions for level 3 instruments:
Financial
instrument

Non observables
inputs

Loans

Credit Spread

Derivatives

Interest Rate

Total

Alternative assumptions
Worst case

Best case

346 bps

162 bps

+ / - one standard deviation

Impact on fair value measurement
Worst case (M/e)

Best case (M/e)

-7,0

1,2

0,0

0,0

-7,0

1,2

A.4.3 Fair value Hierarchy
The financial assets/liabilities measured at fair value are classified on the basis of a hierarchy of levels that
reflects both the observable market prices and figures and information obtained from estimation models
used to determine fair value.
Level 1, not applying to Dexia Crediop, is reserved for financial assets and liabilities designated at fair
value for which there are prices from active markets available. Classification within level 2 or 3 depends
on the following two main criteria:
• degree of observability of market data used to determine fair value;
• degree of representation provided by the estimation model used to determine fair value.
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on the basis of the following rules:
“Clean” Model

Market data

Y

N

Observable

Level 2

Level 3

Not observable

Level 3

Level 3

The observability of market data and the degree of representation provided by each estimation model
are centrally monitored by the Dexia Group’s “Validation” structure.
A financial asset/liability is classified as being measured on the basis of “observable” data if the relative
weight of this data is preponderant, on the basis of appropriate materiality thresholds, in the use of a
not fully observable risk factor.
An estimation model is defined as “clean” if it is validated or characterised by over 80% of the underlying
transactions with Mark to Market discrepancies for Dexia Crediop and its market counterparties below
specific thresholds differentiated by product type.
Quantitative information
A.4.5 Fair Value Hierarchy
A.4.5.1 Assets and Liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis: breakdown by fair value
levels
thousands of euro

Financial assets/Liabilities measured
at fair value
1. Financial assets measured at fair value through
profit and loss
a) financial assets held for trading
b) financial assets designated at fair value through
profit and loss
c) other financial assets mandatorily measured
at fair value
2. Financial assets measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income
3. Hedging derivatives

31/12/2020
L1

L2

31/12/2019
L3

L1

L2

L3

853,291

177,363

1,005,765

188,677

773,383

105,060

878,848

9,751

79,908

72,303

126,917

178,926

171,703

0

26,561

0

94,858

12,345

103,098

11,375

1,119,852

189,708

1,135,424

200,052

803,492

128,683

962,450

11,235

4. Property plant and equipment
5. Intangible assets
Total
1. Financial liabilities held for trading
2. Financial liabilities designated at fair value
3. Hedging derivatives

2,688,834

2,907

2,558,105

40,873

Total

3,492,326

131,590

3,520,555

52,108

Key:
L 1 = Level 1
L 2 = Level 2
L 3 = Level 3

The fair value of derivative instruments classified as Financial Assets/Liabilities held for trading and
Hedging derivatives, includes adjustments for Credit Value Asjustment (CVA) for -29,6 millions and Debt
Value Adjustment (DVA) for 3 million.
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A.4.5.2 Annual change of assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis (level 3)
thousands of euro

Financial assets measured at fair value through
profit and loss

Financial assets
of which:
measured
of which:
Property
c) other
Intangible
Hedging
at fair value
of which: b) financial
plant and
financial
assets
derivatives
through
other
assets
a) financial
equipment
assets
comprehensive
assets held designed
mandatorily
income
at fair
for trading
measured at
value
fair value

Total

1.

Opening balances

188,677

9,751

178,926

11,375

2.

Increases

102,999

102,999

-

970

2.2. Profits booked to:

-

-

-

2.2.1. Income statement

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

2.1. Purchases

970

- of which capital gains
2.2.2. Shareholders’ equity

X

X

2.3. Transfers from other levels

85,372

85,372

2.4. Other increases

17,627

17,627

114,313

7,690

106,623

-

3.3. Losses booked to:

102,180

-

102,180

-

3.3.1. Income statement

102,180

-

102,180

-

3.

Decreases

-

3.1. Sales
3.2. Redemptions

- of which capital losses

102,180

- of which extraordinary loss
3.3.2. Shareholders’ equity
3.4. Transfers to other levels
3.5. Other decreases
4.

Closing balances

X

X

-

-

-

12,133

7,690

4,443

177,363

105,060

72,303

12,345
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A.4.5.3 Annual change of liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis (level 3)
thousands of euro

Financial liabilities
designated
at fair value

Financial liabilities
held for trading
1.

Opening balances

Hedging
derivatives

11,235

40,873

121,778

2,907

2.

Increases

2.1.

Issues

2.2.

Losses booked to:

483

2.2.1. Income statement

483

-

-

-

121,279

2,870

37

- of which capital losses
2.2.2. Shareholders’ equity

X

2.3.

Transfers from other levels

2.4.

Other increases

3.

Decreases

3.1.

Redemptions

3.2.

Repurchases

3.3.

Profits booked to:

4,330

40,873

3.3.1. Income statement

4,330

40,873

-

-

128,683

2,907

16
4,330

40,873

- of which capital gains
3.3.2. Shareholders’ equity
3.4.

Transfers to other levels

3.5.

Other decreases

4.

Closing balances

X

A.4.5.4 Assets and Liabilities not measured at fair value or measured at fair value on a not
recurring basis: breakdown by fair value levels
thousands of euro

Assets/Liabilities not
measured at fair value
or measured at fair value
on a non recurring basis
1. Financial assets measured
at amortised cost

31/12/2020
BV

L1

31/12/2019

L2

L3

BV

L1

L2

L3

15,758,302 4,069,591

9,662,315

629,875 16,271,585 5,170,614

9,254,007

192,308

Total

15,758,302 4,069,591

9,662,315

629,875 16,271,585 5,170,614

9,254,007

192,308

1. Financial liabilities measured
at amortised cost

12,823,177

101,851 13,388,026

35,346

2. Property plant
and equipement held
as investments
3. Assets held for sale

2. Liabilities related to assets
held for sale
Total
Key:
BV= book value
L1= Level 1
L2= Level 2
L3= Level 3
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12,823,177

101,655 12,777,455
-

-

101,655 12,777,455

38,207 13,250,731
-

-

38,207 13,250,731

-

-

-

101,851 13,388,026

35,346

A.5 – Information on the “day one profit/loss”
Following restructuring operations carried out during the year, derecognition due to “substantial”
changes in pre-existing non-SPPI assets involved, for 2020, the recognition of losses under item 110
“Net result of other financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value through profit and loss”. These
losses were more than balanced by Day One Profit (DOP) recorded at the initial recognition at fair value
of the restructured assets.
We can also note that as of 31 December 2020, there are no portions of DOP to be recognised in the
income statement in future years.
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Part B – Comments on the
balance sheet
Assets
Section 1 – Cash and cash equivalents – Item 10
1.1 Cash and cash equivalents: breakdown
thousands of euro

Total 31/12/2020
a) Cash

Total 31/12/2019

1

1

1

1

b) Unrestricted deposits at Central Banks
Total

Section 2 – Financial assets measured at fair value through profit and loss – Item 20
2.1 Financial assets held for trading: breakdown by type
thousands of euro

Items/Amounts

Total 31/12/2020
Level 1

Level 2

Total 31/12/2019
Level 3

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

A. Cash assets
1. Debt securities
1.1 Structured securities
1.2 Other debt securities
2. Equity securities
3. Mutual fund shares
4. Loans

17,065

4.1 Repurchase agreements
4.2 Others

17,065

Total A

17,065

B. Derivative instruments
1. Financial derivatives:
1.1 for trading

721,396

87,995

822,144

9,751

721,327

87,995

821,554

9,751

1.2 associated with the
fair value option
69

590

2. Credit derivatives:

1.3 others

51,987

56,704

2.1 for trading

51,987

56,704

2.2 associated with the
fair value option
2.3 others
Total B
Total (A+B)
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0

773,383

87,995

790,448

87,995

0

878,848

9,751

878,848

9,751

2.2 Financial assets held for trading: breakdown by debtors/issuers
thousands of euro

Items/Amounts

Total 31/12/2020

Total 31/12/2019

A. Cash assets
1. Debt securities
a) Central banks
b) General governments
c) Banks
d) Other financial corporations of which: insurance companies
e) Non-financial corporations
2. Equity securities
a) Banks
b) Other financial corporations of which: insurance companies
c) Non-financial corporations
d) Other issuers
3. Mutual fund shares
4. Loans

17,065

a) Central banks
b) General governments

17,065

c) Banks
d) Other financial corporations of which: insurance companies
e) Non-financial corporations
f) Households
Total A

17,065

-

861,378

888,599

861,378

888,599

Total B

861,378

888,599

Total (A+B)

878,443

888,599

B. Derivative instruments
a) Central counterparties
b) Others

In loan operations with public administrations, financing involving Covid-19 supports totals € 17 million.
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2.5 Other financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value: breakdown by type
thousands of euro

Items/Amounts

Total 31/12/2020
Level 1

Level 2

Total 31/12/2019
Level 3

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

1. Debt securities
1.1. Structured securities
1.2. Other debt securities
2. Equity securities
3. Mutual fund shares
4. Loans

79,908

72,303

126,917

178,926

2.1. Repurchase agreements
2.2. Others
Total

-

79,908

72,303

126,917

178,926

79,908

72,303

126,917

178,926

Key:
L1= Level 1
L2= Level 2
L3= Level 3

2.6 Other financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value: breakdown by debtors/issuers
thousands of euro

Items/Amounts

Total 31/12/2020

Total 31/12/2019

1. Equity securities
of which: banks
of which: other financial corporations
of which: non-financial corporations
2. Debt securities
a) Central banks
b) General governments
c) Banks
d) Other financial corporations of which: insurance companies
e) Non-financial corporations
3. Mutual fund shares
4. Loans

152,211

305,843

152,211

305,843

152,211

305,843

a) Central banks
b) General governments
c) Banks
d) Other financial corporations of which: insurance companies
e) Non-financial corporations
f) Households
Total
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Section 3 – Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income – Item 30
3.1 Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income: breakdown
by type
thousands of euro

Total 31/12/2020

Items/Amounts

Level 1

Level 2

Total 31/12/2019
Level 3

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

1. Debt securities
1.1. Structured securities
1.2. Other debt securities
2. Equity securities

26,500

4. Loans

145,203

Total

171,703

26,561
26,561

3.2 Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income: breakdown
by debtors/issuers
thousands of euro

Items/Amounts

Total 31/12/2020

Total 31/12/2019

1. Debt securities
a) Central banks
b) General governments
c) Banks
d) Other financial corporations of which: insurance companies
e) Non-financial corporations
2. Equity securities
a) Banks

26,500

26,561

26,500

26,561

b) Other issuers:
- other financial corporations of which: insurance companies
- non-financial corporations
- others
3. Loans

145,203

a) Central banks
b) General governments

145,203

c) Banks
d) Other financial corporations of which: insurance companies
e) Non-financial corporations
f) Households
Total

171,703

26,561

3.3 Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income:
gross carrying amount and accumulated impairment
thousands of euro

Gross carrying amount
Items/Amounts

of which:
Stage
instruments with
1
low credit risk

Stage
2

Accumulated impairment
Stage
3

Stage
1

Stage
2

Stage
3

Accumulated
partial
write-offs*

Debt securities
Lons

145,422

Total 31/12/2020

-

145,422

219
-

-

219

Total 31/12/2019
of which: purchased creditimpaired financial assets

X

X

X

* Amount to be disclose for information purpose.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

93

Section 4 – Financial assets measured at amortised cost – Item 40
4.1 Financial assets measured at amortised cost: breakdown by type of due from banks
thousands of euro

Total 31/12/2020

Type of transaction/Amounts

Book value

Fair value

of which:
Stage purchased or
L1
originated
3
impaired

Stage 1
and 2
A. Due from Central Banks

Total 31/12/2019

5,375

0

L2

0

1. Term deposits

Book value

5,375

34,093

X

X

X

X

X

X

3. Repurchase agreements

X

X

4. Others

X

X

2. Compulsory reserve

5,375

B. Due from banks
1. Loans
1.1 Current accounts and
demand deposits

Stage 1
and 2

L3

Fair value

of which:
Stage purchased or
L1
originated
3
impaired
0

L2

0

L3

34,093
X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

34,093

3,382,204

3,314,538

77,978 3,157,546

3,157,713

3,382,204

3,314,538

77,978 3,157,546

3,157,713

619

X

X

X

482

X

X

X

3,308,230

X

X

X

3,055,845

X

X

X

73,355

X

X

X

101,219

X

X

X

- Repurchase agreements

X

X

X

X

X

X

- Financial lease

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

3,191,806

-

1.2 Term deposits
1.3 Other loans:

- Others

73,355

101,219

2. Debt securities
2.1 Structured securities
2.2 Other debt securities
Total

3,319,913 77,978 3,191,639

3,387,579

Key:
L1= Level 1
L2= Level 2
L3= Level 3

4.2 Financial assets measured at amortised cost: breakdown by type of due from customers
thousands of euro

Type of transaction/
Amounts

Total 31/12/2020
Book value
Stage 1
and 2

1. Loans

of which:
purchased
Stage
or
3
originated
impaired

Total 31/12/2019

Fair value

L1

4,339,041 39,002

L2

Book value

L3

3,372,396 551,897

Stage 1
and 2

of which:
purchased
Stage
or
3
originated
impaired

Fair value

L1

4,578,299 47,134

L2

L3

4,075,649 175,400

1.1 Current accounts

X

X

X

X

X

X

1.2. Reverse repurchase
agreements

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

1.3. Loans

X

X

X

1.4. Credit cards,
personal loans,
salary-backed loans

3,943,336 39,002

X

X

X

X

X

X

1.5. Financial lease

X

X

X

X

X

X

1.6. Factoring

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

1.7. Other loans

395,705

2. Debt securities

7,992,680

4,069,591 2,970,006

4,188,180 47,134

390,119
8,454,513

5,170,614 1,986,552

16,908

2.1. Structured securities
2.2. Other debt securities
Total
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7,992,680
12,331,721 39,002

8,454,513
4,069,591 6,342,402 551,897 13,032,812 47,134

5,170,614 6,062,201 192,308

4.4 Financial assets measured at amortised cost: breakdown by debtors/issuers of due from
customers
thousands of euro

Total 31/12/2020

Total 31/12/2019

of which:
purchased
or originated impaired
assets

Type of transaction/Amounts

Stage 1
and 2

1. Debt securities

7,992,680

8,454,514

7,268,692

7,533,522

540,546

570,834

a) General governments
b) Other financial corporations
of which: insurance companies
c) Non-financial corporations

Stage 3

Stage 1
and 2

183,442

2. Loans

39,002

4,578,298

3,748,888

b) Other financial corporations

Stage 3

350,158

4,339,041

a) General governments

of which:
purchased
or originated impaired
assets

47,134

3,975,494

390,371

3,359

380,311

4,314

199,782

35,643

222,493

42,820

12,331,721

39,002

13,032,812

47,134

of which: insurance companies
c) Non-financial corporations
d) Households
Total

4.4a Loans at amortised cost with COVID-19 support measures: gross carrying amount and
accumulated impairment
thousands of euro

Gross carrying amount

Stage 1

of which:
instruments
with low
credit risk

Stage 2

Accumulated impairment

Stage 3

Stage 1

Stage 2

Accumulated
partial
Stage 3 write-offs*

1. Loans with forbearance
measures in accordance with GL
2. Loans with other forbearance
measures

198,030

3. New loans

106,728

106,728

Total (T)

106,728

106,728

174
4

198,030

0

4

174

0

Total (T-1)
* Value shown for information purposes.

4.5 Financial assets measured at amortised cost: gross carrying amount and accumulated
impairment
thousands of euro

Gross carrying amount

Debt securities

of which:
instruments with
Stage 1
low credit
risk
5,830,251
5,830,251

2,169,906

Loans

5,222,800

2,544,745

5,190,632

Stage 2

Accumulated impairment

Stage 3

Stage 1

Stage 2

1,460

6,017

51,892

192

40,733

Stage 3

12,890

Total 31/12/2020

11,053,051

11,020,883

4,714,651

51,892

1,652

46,750

12,890

Total 31/12/2019

11,183,121

11,179,308

5,061,136

58,403

277

19,529

11,269

X

X

of which: purchased
credit-impaired financial assets

Accumulated
partial
write-offs*

X

* Value shown for information purposes.

In consideration of the characteristics of Dexia Crediop’s operations, in the first stage, all the transactions
with counterparties with a have been considered “instruments with low credit risk” “investment grade”
internal rating.
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Section 5 – Hedging derivatives – Item 50
5.1 Hedging derivatives: breakdown by type of hedging and by level
thousands of euro

Fair value 31/12/2020
L1

Fair value 31/12/2019

NV
31/12/2020

L3

94,858

12,345

377,890

103,097

11,375

519,140

1) Fair value

82,002

12,345

125,890

88,870

11,375

145,640

2) Cash flow hedges

12,856

252,000

14,227

377,890

103,097

A) Financial derivatives

L1

L2

NV
31/12/2019

L2

L3

373,500

3) Foreign investments
B) Credit derivatives
1) Fair value
2) Cash flow hedges
Total

94,858

12,345

11,375

519,140

Key:
NV = notional value
L 1 = Level 1
L 2 = Level 2
L 3 = Level 3

5.2 Hedging derivatives: breakdown by portfolios hedged and type of hedging
thousands of euro

Fair value

Transaction/Type of
hedging

Cash flow hedges

Specific
debt
securities
and
interest
rate risk

equity
Generic Specific
securities currencies
credit goods others
and stock and gold
indices

1. Financial assets
measured at fair
value through
other
comprehensive
income
2. Financial assets
measured at
amortised cost
3. Portfolio

427
X

X
X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

4. Other transactions

2. Portfolio
Total liabilities

96

427
93,919
X

0

0

0

0

X

93,919

X
0

X
0

0

X

X

X

X

X

2. Portfolio of
financial assets
and liabilities

X

X

X

X

X

X
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12,857

0

X
0

X

0
X

X

0
X

X

0

X

X

X

X

1. Expected
transactions

X

X

X
X

X

X
0

X

X

X
X

Total assets
1. Financial liabilities

12,857

Generic

Foreign
investments

0
X

Section 6 – Fair value adjustment of financial assets in hedged portfolios – Item 60
6.1 Fair value adjustments of hedged assets: breakdown by portfolios hedged
thousands of euro

Fair value adjustments of hedged assets/Securities

Total 31/12/2020

1. Increases
1.1 of specific portfolios:
a) financial assets measured at amortised cost

Total 31/12/2019

1,770

2,082

1,770

2,082

1,770

2,082

1,770

2,082

b) financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
1.2 total
2. Decreases
2.1 of specific portfolios:
a) financial assets measured at amortised cost
b) financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
2.2 total
Total

Section 8 – Property, plant and equipment – Item 80
8.1 Property plant and equipment: breakdown of assets carried at cost
thousands of euro

Assets/Amounts
1. Property assets

Total 31/12/2020

Total 31/12/2019

121

188

21

23

a) land
b) buildings
c) furniture

1

d) electronic systems

62

81

e) others

38

83

2. Assets acquired on financial lease

1,599

a) land
b) buildings

1,599

c) furniture
d) electronic systems
e) others
Total

1,720

188

of which: obtained by the enforcement of guarantees received

Additional information
The depreciation method used for tangible assets, which is deemed to reflect the ways in which the
associated future economic benefits will be used, is the straight-line method. This method involves the
depreciation of a constant charge throughout the useful life of the asset if its residual value does not
change. During the period there have been no changes to the expected uses of the future economic
benefits, that would require changes to the depreciation method.
The useful life of assets is calculated on the basis of their expected usefulness. Since land and works of
art have an unlimited useful life, they are not subject to depreciation.
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8.6 Property plant and equipment for business purposes: annual change
thousands of euro

Land

Buildings

Electronic
systems

Furniture

Others

Total

A. Gross opening balances

12,907

1,688

1,675

1,861

18,131

A.1 Net total adjustments

12,884

1,687

1,592

1,780

17,943

A.2 Net opening balances

23

1

81

84

188

B. Increases:
B.1 Purchases

0

B.2 Expenses for capitalised improvements
B.3 Writebacks
B.4 Increases in fair value booked to
a) shareholders’ equity
b) income statement
B.5 Positive exchange-rate differences
B.6 Reclassification from buildings held
as investments

X

X

X

2

1

45

19

67

2

1

45

19

67

X

X

X

38

62

121

B.7 Other changes
C. Decreases:

0

C.1 Sales
C.2 Depreciation
C.3 Impairment losses booked to
a) shareholders’ equity
b) income statement
C.4 Decreases in fair value booked to
a) shareholders’ equity
b) income statement
C.5 Negative exchange-rate differences
C.6 Reclassification to:
a) property plant and equipment
held as investments
b) assets held for sale
C.7 Other changes
D. Net closing balances

21

D.1 Net total adjustments

12,886

1,688

1,637

1,799

18,010

D.2 Gross closing balances

12,907

1,688

1,675

1,861

18,131

E. Measurement at cost

98
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8.6a Property, plant and equipment used in the business - rights of use acquired: annual
changes
thousands of euro

Land
A.1 Gross opening balances

Buildings

Furniture

Electronic
systems

Others

Total

2,399

2,399

C. Decreases:

800

800

C.2 Depreciation

800

800

D. Net closing balances

1,599

1,599

D.1 Net total adjustments

800

800

2,399

2,399

B. Increases:
B.1 Purchases
B.7 Other changes

C.7 Other changes

D.2 Gross closing balances
E. Measurement at cost
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Section 9 – Intangible assets – Item 90
9.1 Intangible assets: breakdown by type of asset
thousands of euro

Total 31/12/2020
Assets/Amounts

Defined
duration
X

A.1 Goodwill
A.2 Other intangible assets
A.2.1 Assets carried at cost:

Indefinite
duration

Total 31/12/2019
Defined
duration
X

Indefinite
duration

1,836

2,306

1,836

2,306

1,836

2,306

1,836

2,306

a) Intangible assets generated internally
b) Other assets
A.2.2 Assets designated at fair value:
a) Intangible assets generated internally
b) Other assets
Total

Intangible assets consist of software purchased from third parties in the process of amortization.
The amortisation is carried out on the basis of the possible residual useful life.
9.2 Intangible assets: annual change
thousands of euro

Goodwill

Other intangible assets:
generated internally
DEF

INDEF

Other intangible
assets: others
DEF

Total

INDEF

A. Opening balances

40,787

40,787

A.1 Net total adjustments
A.2 Net opening balances

38,481
2,306

38,481
2,306

550

550

550

550

1,019

1,019

1,019

1,019

1,019

1,019

B. Increases
B.1 Purchases
B.2 Increases in internal intangible assets

X

B.3 Writebacks

X

B.4 Increases in fair value:
- to shareholders’ equity

X

- to income statement

X

B.5 Positive exchange-rate differences
B.6 Other changes
C. Decreases
C.1 Sales
C.2 Writedowns
- Amortization

X

- Devaluations:
+ shareholders’ equity

X

+ income statement
C.3 Decreases in fair value:
- to shareholders’ equity
- to income statement
C.4 Reclassification to non-current assets
held for sale
C.5 Negative exchange-rate differences
C.6 Other changes
D. Net closing balances
D.1 Total net adjustments
E. Gross closing balances
F. Measurement at cost
Key:
DEF: of defined duration
INDEF: of indefinite duration

100
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X
X

1,836

1,836

39,500
41,336

39,500
41,336

Section 10 – Tax credits and liabilities – Item 100 of the assets and Item 60 of the
liabilities
10.1 Deferred tax assets: breakdown
thousands of euro

31/12/2020
A. Deferred tax assets
A1. Loans (including securitisations)

31/12/2019

1,799

2,083

1,799

2,083

1,799

2,083

A2. Other financial assets
A3. Goodwill
A4. Deferred charges
A5. Property plant and equipment
A6. Provisions for risks and charges
A7. Representation expenses
A8. Staff expenses
A9. Tax losses
A10. Tax credit not used by discount
A11. Others
B. Compensation with deferred tax liabilities
C. Net deferred tax assets

As of financial year 2014, in accordance with that foreseen IAS 12, net advance tax assets have been
cancelled as the company did not hold it likely that they would be recovered in the future, nor that the
value of the assets or liabilities recognised in the balance sheet would be extinguished through reductions
or increases in future tax payments. Instead, only deferred tax assets deriving from adjustments of credits
deductible in future financial years are registered, for which transformation into tax credits is envisaged
under Law 214/2011 and for which the probability test of IAS 12 is automatically considered to have been
passed, in accordance with the Bank of Italy/Consob/ISVAP document no. 5 of 15 May 2012.
10.3 Change in deferred tax assets (with matching entry in income statement)
thousands of euro

Total 31/12/2020
1. Initial balance
2. Increases

Total 31/12/2019

2,083

2,279

0

0

284

196

284

196

284

196

1,799

2,083

2.1 Deferred tax assets arising in the year
a) relating to prior years
b) due to changes in accounting policies
c) writebacks
d) other
2.2 New taxes or increases in tax rates
2.3 Other increases
3. Decreases
3.1 Deferred tax assets cancelled in the year
a) reversals
b) written down as now considered unrecoverable
c) change in accounting policies
d) other
3.2 Reduction in tax rates
3.3 Other decreases
a) tax credit trasformation pursuant L.214/2011
b) other
4. Final balance
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10.3.bis Change in deferred tax assets pursuant L. 214/2011
thousands of euro

Total 31/12/2020
1. Initial balance

Total 31/12/2019

2,083

2,279

284

196

284

196

284

196

1,799

2,083

2. Increases
3. Decreases
3.1 Reversals
3.2 Tax credit trasformation
a) due to losses
b) due to fiscal losses
3.3 Other decreases
4. Final balance

10.7 Other information
A) Current tax assets
thousands of euro

Total 31/12/2020
A. Current tax assets

Total 31/12/2019

6,538

6,278

A1. IRES prepaid

-

-

A2. IRAP prepaid

-

-

6,538

6,278

-

-

6,538

6,278

A3. Other tax credit and withholding
B. Compensation with current tax liabilities
C. Net current tax assets

Section 12 – Other assets – Item 120
12.1 Other assets: breakdown
thousands of euro

Description
1. Adjustments to exchange rate derivatives

Total 31/12/2019

0

294

1,578

1,671

3. Other assets

35,724

59,228

Total

37,302

60,873

2. Sundry accrued expenses and deferred charges
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Liabilities
Section 1 – Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost – Item 10
1.1 Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost: due to banks breakdown by type
thousands of euro

Total 31/12/2020
Fair value
BV
L1
L2
X
X
10,164,128
X
X

Type of transaction/Amounts

1. Due to central banks
2. Due to banks
2.1 Current accounts and demand
deposits
2.2 Restricted deposits
2.3 Loans
2.3.1 Repurchase agreements
2.3.2 Others
2.4 Due for commitments to repurchase
own equity instruments
2.5 Debts for leasing
2.6 Other debts
Total

281,581
9,882,547
5,024,728
4,857,819

10,164,128

L3
X
X

X

X

X

X
X
X
X

X
X
X
X

X
X
X
X

Total 31/12/2019
Fair value
BV
L1
L2
X
X
10,588,125
X
X

L3
X
X

X

X

X

X
X
X
X

X
X
X
X

X
X
X
X

188,574
10,399,551
5,243,225
5,156,326

X

X

X

X

X

X

X
X

X
X
10,226,083

X
X

X
X

X
X
10,791,793

X
X

10,588,125

Key:
BV= book value
L 1 = Level 1
L 2 = Level 2
L 3 = Level 3

1.2 Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost: due to customers breakdown by type
thousands of euro

Type of transaction/Amounts
BV
1. Current accounts and demand
deposits
2. Restricted deposits
3. Loans
3.1 Repurchase agreements
3.2 Others
4. Due for commitments to repurchase
own equity instruments
5. Debts for leasing
6 Other debts
Total

Total 31/12/2020
Fair value
L1
L2

L3

215,786
255,312
255,312
1,610

Total 31/12/2019
Fair value
L1
L2

BV

L3

229,910
X
X
X
X

X
X
X
X

X
X
X
X

X

X

X

X
X

X
X
436,605

X
X

472,708

227,993
227,993

X
X
X
X

X
X
X
X

X
X
X
X

X

X

X

X

X
457,125

X

457,903

Key:
BV= book value
L 1 = Level 1
L 2 = Level 2
L 3 = Level 3

1.3 Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost: securities issued breakdown by type
thousands of euro

2,186,340
2,186,340

Total 31/12/2020
Fair value
L1
L2
101,655 2,114,767
101,655 2,114,767

2,186,340

101,655

2,186,340

101,655

Type of transaction/Amounts
BV
A. Securities
1. Bonds
1.1 structured
1.2 others
2. Other securities
2.1 structured
2.2 others
Total
Key:
BV= book value
L 1 = Level 1
L 2 = Level 2
L 3 = Level 3

L3
38,207
38,207

Total 31/12/2019
Fair value
BV
L1
L2
2,204,702 101,851 2,139,108
2,204,702 101,851 2,139,108

L3
35,346
35,346

2,114,767

38,207

2,204,702

101,851

2,139,108

35,346

2,114,767

38,207

2,204,702

101,851

2,139,108

35,346
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1.4 Details of subordinated debts
On 31 December 2020 subordinated debts stood at e 25,038 thousand.
The subordinate loan has the following characteristics:
- technical form: loan;
- nominal amount: € 25 million;
- duration: 5 years;
- maturity: December 2025;
- amortization: in a single payment at maturity;
- interest rate: euribor 6 months increased by 329 bp pa.

Section 2 – Financial liabilities held for trading – Item 20
2.1 Financial liabilities held for trading: breakdown by type
thousands of euro

Total 31/12/2020

Type of transaction/
Amounts

Total 31/12/2019
Fair
value*

Fair value

NV
L1

L2

L3

Fair
value*

Fair value

NV
L1

L2

L3

A. Cash liabilities
1. Due to banks
2. Due to customers
3. Debt securities
3.1 Bonds
3.1.1 Structured

X

X

3.1.2 Other bonds

X

X

3.2.1 Structured

X

X

3.2.2 Others

X

X

3.2 Other securities

Total A
B. Derivative instruments

4,250,999

1. Financial derivatives

3,448,372

762,163

128,683

X

760,544

91,325

1.1 Trading
1.2 Associated with
the fair value option
1.3 Others
2. Credit derivatives

4,919,177

X
X
802,627

2.1 Trading
2.2 Associated with
the fair value option
2.3 Others

X

1,619

37,358

914,994

11,235

X

X

875,785

265

X

X

X

41,329

X
802,627

41,329

X
X

-

4,116,550

X

X

X

X

X
39,209

10,970

X

47,456
47,456

X
X

X

X

Total B

X

803,492

128,683

X

X

- 962,450

11,235

X

X

Total (A+B)

X

803,492

128,683

X

X

. 962,450

11,235

X

Key:
NV= nominal or notional value
L 1 = Level 1
L 2 = Level 2
L 3 = Level 3
Fair value*= fair value calculated excluding the value changes due to variation in issuer’s creditworthiness since the date of issue.

104

X

Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

Section 4 – Hedging derivatives – Item 40
4.1 Hedging derivatives: breakdown by type of hedging and by hierarchical levels
thousands of euro

Type of transaction/Amounts

NV
31/12/2020

A) Financial derivatives
1) Fair value
2) Cash flow hedges

FV 31/12/2020
L1

L2

NV
31/12/2019

L3

FV 31/12/2019
L1

L2

L3

5,382,381

2,688,834

2,907

5,854,744

2,558,105

40,873

5,372,305

2,688,723

2,907

5,840,935

2,554,155

40,873

10,076

111

13,809

3,950

5,382,381

2,688,834

5,854,744

2,558,105

3) Foreign investments
B) Credit derivatives
1) Fair value
2) Cash flow hedges
Total

2,907

40,873

Key:
NV= notional value
L 1 = Level 1
L 2 = Level 2
L 3 = Level 3

4.2 Hedging derivatives: breakdown by portfolios hedged and type of hedging
thousands of euro

Fair value

Transaction/
Type of hedging

Cash flow hedges

Specific
equity
debt
currencies
Generic
securities securities
and
credit goods others
and interest and stock
gold
indices
rate risk

1. Financial assets measured
at fair value through other
comprehensive income
2. Financial assets measured
at amortised cost
3. Portfolio

2,691,630
X

X
X

0
X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

4. Other transactions
Total assets

Specific

0
0

-

1. Passività finanziarie

0

X

2. Portfolio

X

X

Total liabilities

X

X

X
X

X

X

X

X
X

X
-

X

X

X

X
2,691,630

Foreign
investment
Generic

111

X

X

-

X
X

111

1. Financial liabilities

X

X

X

X

X

X

2. Portfolio of financial assets
and liabilities

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X
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Section 6 – Tax liabilities – Item 60
See section 10 of assets.

Section 8 – Other liabilities – Item 80
8.1 Other liabilities: breakdown
thousands of euro

Description
1. Relations with suppliers and professionals
2. Sundry accrued expenses and deferred income

Total 31/12/2020

Total 31/12/2019

5,788

7,026

371

435

5,112

5,346

11,271

12,807

3. Adjustments to exchange rate derivatives
4. Other liabilities
Total

Section 9 - Provision for severance indemnities – Item 90
9.1 Provision for severance indemnities: annual change
thousands of euro

Total 31/12/2020
A. Opening balances

Total 31/12/2019

1,083

1,125

18

97

11

21

7

76

22

139

22

139

D. Closing balances

1,079

1,083

Total

1,079

1,083

B. Increases
B.1 Provision for the year
B.2 Other changes
C. Decreases
C.1 Indemnities paid
C.2 Other changes

Section 10 – Provisions for risks and charges – Item 100
10.1 Provisions for risks and charges: breakdown
thousands of euro

Items/Amounts
1. Provisions for credit risk of commitments and financial guarantees given

Total 31/12/2020

Total 31/12/2019

8,299

6,559

(2)

1,854

8,355

16,048

7,952

15,565

403

483

16,652

24,461

2. Provisions on other commitments and other guarantees given
3. Provisions for retirement benefit
4. Other provisions for risks and charges
4.1 legal and tax disputes
4.2 personnel expenses
4.3 others
Total
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10.2 Provisions for risks and charges: annual change
thousands of euro

Provisions on other
commitments and
other guarantees
given

Pension funds

A. Opening balances

6,559

1,854

16,048

24,461

B. Increases

2,044

19

1,563

3,626

2,044

19

1,563

1,582

304

1,875

9,256

11,435

304

1,875

5,411

7,590

B.1 Provision for the year

Other
provisions

Total

B.2 Changes due to the passing of time
B.3 Changes due to variations in the discount rate
B.4 Other changes
C. Decreases
C.1 Use during the period
C.2 Changes due to variations in the discount rate
C.3 Other changes

3,845

D. Closing balances

8,299

(2)

8,355

16,652

The Item C.1 “Use during the period” of Pension funds includes Euro 1.875 million relative to provisions,
pursuant to IAS 19R, registered with a contra-entry to shareholder’s equity.
The amount of 3.845 million of Item “Other changes” of Other provisions refer to the entry of litiges on
derivatives with Municipality of Messina.

10.3 Provisions for credit risk of commitments and financial guarantees given
thousands of euro

Provisions for credit risk of commitments and financial guarantees given
Stage 1

Stage 2

Stage 3

Total

Commitments
Financial guarantees given

7

123

8,169

8,299

Total

7

123

8,169

8,299

10.5 Company defined-benefit pension funds
1. Description of the funds
The sub-item “Pension funds and similar benefits” includes provisions recognized on the basis of IAS 19
“Employee benefits” against various forms of complementary retirement schemes with defined benefits.
These commitments are based on calculations carried out by independent Actuaries using the projected
units credit method. In particular, the provisions are the same as the current value of the defined-benefit
obligations net of the fair value of the fund’s assets.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

107

You can see below the information relating to the variations in the funds during the financial period, the
reconcilement between the current value of the funds, the current value of the assets serving the schemes
and the assets and liabilities entered in the balance sheet, together with the main actuarial assumptions.
2. Changes during the year to net defined benefit liabilities (assets) and reimbursement rights
thousands of euro

Variations in the defined-benefit obligations
Opening balances

31/12/2020
37,455

35,920

248

241

Retirement benefit costs relating to current employment
(Gain)/loss on settlements
Interest expenses
Contributions from those taking part in the scheme
Benefits paid out

0

0

343

623

69

77

(1,432)

(2,558)

0

208

Settlement payments from plan assets
Actuarial losses (gains) due to changes to financial and demographic hypotheses
Actuarial losses (gains) based on past experience
Other changes
Final balances

31/12/2019

0

0

(587)

2,956

0

(12)

36,096

37,455

3. Fair value information for assets serving the scheme
thousands of euro

Variations in assets of the schemes

31/12/2020

31/12/2019

Opening balance

35,601

36,561

Yield of the assets

1,287

415

Interest receivable

324

623

Employer contributions

249

275

Contributions from those taking part in the scheme
Benefits paid out

69

77

(1,432)

(1,905)

Settlement payments from plan assets

0

208

Administrative expenses

0

0

Other changes

0

(653)

36,098

35,601

Final balances

thousands of euro

Assets underlying the scheme: fair value levels
Equity instruments

6,047

- of which level 1

5,338

- of which level 2
Mutual investment funds
- of which level 1

6,657

- of which level 2

2,990

Debt securities
- of which level 1
Property and equity investments on property company
- of which level 2
Other activities
Total assets
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7,177
7,177
4,411
4,411
852
28,134

thousands of euro

Assets underlying the scheme: ratings
Equity instruments

6,047

Mutual investment funds

9,647

Debt securities

7,177

Government securities

1,927

- of which investment grade rating

1,723

- of which speculative grade rating

204

Financial companies

2,556

- of which investment grade rating

1,099

- of which speculative grade rating

1,457

Industrial companies

2,694

- of which investment grade rating

1,249

- of which speculative grade rating

1,445

Property and equity investments on property company

4,411

Other activities
Total assets

852
28,134

4. Description of the main actuarial hypotheses
Principali ipotesi attuariali
Discount rate

thousands of euro

31/12/2020

31/12/2019

minimum

maximum

minimum

maximum
1.00%

0.80%

1.20%

0.70%

Expected rate of yield of the assets

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

Expected rate of salary increases

N/A

N/A

0.70%

0.70%

Inflation rate

1.75%

1.75%

1.75%

1.75%

Expected rate of pension increases

0.50%

0.50%

0.50%

0.50%

5. Information on amounts, schedules and uncertainties for financial flows
The estimated effects on the defined benefit obligation following a 50 bps change in the discount rate
are as follows:
• +50bps; assumed discount rate = 1.70%, obligation = -702
• -50bps; assumed discount rate = 0.70%, obligation = +901
6. Plans relative to several employers
Based on collective agreements signed in 2015 between Dexia Crediop, Intesa Sanpaolo and the
respective unions, a portion of former Dexia Crediop employees and pensioners, already registered with
the defined benefit fund “pension fund for former Crediop personnel hired through 30 September 1989”,
were transferred to the Intesa Sanpaolo Group defined benefit pension fund (former “complementary
pension fund for Banco di Napoli employees”).
At the end of each year, in the case a technical overdraft relative to the population attributable to the
former Crediop Fund is identified, Dexia Crediop and Intesa Sanpaolo deposit the capital necessary
to cover this overdraft, as identified during the actuarial checks, in proportion to the weight of the
mathematical reserves of the members pertaining to each company with regards to total capital relative
to the former Crediop Fund.
10.6 Provisions for risks and charges – other provisions
The other provisions, amounting to e 8,355 thousand, consist of:
• provisions for legal disputes of e 7,952 thousand, relative to proceedings concerning administrative
and to judicial proceedings with local authorities (see the following paragraphs for further details);
• personnel expenses: the provision includes e 403 thousand for charges related to redundancy bonus
schemes, length of service bonuses, and life insurance benefits. Specifically, the provision includes the
charge specifically allocated for the Solidarity Fund, the payment of which is directly connected with
the 2009-2011 corporate restructuring plan, a defined service provision that falls under the scope of
IAS 19.
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Administrative, judicial, and arbitration procedures
Below we provide information about the most important administrative, legal or arbitration proceedings which
could have, or recently have had, repercussions for Dexia Crediop’s financial position and/or profitability.
From 2009, the year when some territorial and local authorities began to dispute derivative transactions
concluded with Dexia Crediop, to the end of 2020, Dexia Crediop has been successful in a number of cases and
proceedings relating to the Province of Pisa, the Municipality of Florence and the Regions of Apulia, the Region
of Tuscany, the Municipality of Forlì, the Regions of Lazio and Piedmont, the Metropolitan City of Milan, the
Province of Brescia, the Municipality of Prato (civil and administrative disputes), the Municipality of Ferrara, the
Region of Campania and the Municipality of Messina.
***
Municipality of Prato:
On 31 May 2017, the Criminal Court of Prato exonerated Dexia Crediop and one of its former employees of the
charge of fraud against a public entity, in relation to swap operations carried out with the Municipality between
2002 and 2006 with no case to answer.
The Public Prosecutor’s Office has submitted an appeal to the Florence Criminal Appeals Court relative to the
judgement of the Prato Criminal Court.
Municipality of Venezia:
On 21 June 2019, Dexia Crediop received a writ of summons from the Municipality of Venice, to appear before
the Venice Civil Court in relation to swap contracts signed with Dexia Crediop and another bank in 2007. The
Municipality of Venice contests, among other things, the existence of implicit costs in derivative transactions and
violation of transparency requirements relative to intermediaries. With Order 6823/2019, issued on 3 January
2020, the Venice Civil Court suspended judgement while awaiting to hear the decision of the Joint Divisions
of the Court of Cassation on the preventive jurisdiction case brought by Dexia Crediop. On 6 October 2020,
with Ordinance 28384-20, the Joint Divisions of the Court of Cassation affirmed the Italian court’s jurisdiction
regarding the requests put forward by the Municipality of Venice to the Venice Civil Court.
On 15 August 2019, Dexia Crediop brought a case to the London High Court/Commercial Court in relation to
swap contracts signed with the Municipality of Venice, in order to obtain a declaration that these contracts are
legitimate, valid and binding. With an order dated 13 November 2020, the London High Court/Commercial
Court rejected the application filed by the Municipality of Venice to remove certain sections of the Dexia Crediop
Particulars of Claim. The Municipality of Venice reimbursed Dexia Crediop for the legal fees it sustained in
relation to this stage of the case.
Municipality of Messina:
On 14 April 2011, the Municipality of Messina served Dexia Crediop with a writ of summons before the Civil Court
of Messina. The writ concerns two derivative transactions entered into by the Municipality of Messina on 28 June
2007 to which Dexia Crediop is party, along with another bank. The Municipality of Messina demanded the nullity
of the contracts with regards to Dexia Crediop or alternatively that they be declared cancelled and that the bank
be ordered to pay compensation for damages. On 11 January 2017, the Civil Court of Messina, after the issuing
of the Supreme Court ruling on 23 October 2014, which declared that the Italian civil and administrative Courts
lacked jurisdiction in favour of the English courts, and as was also determined by the Regional Administrative
Court of Sicily on 10 July 2015, declared it lacked jurisdiction with ruling no. 48 of 11 January 2017.
On 22 February 2018, as the Municipality of Messina’s breach of its obligations pursuant to the swap contracts
still continued, Dexia Crediop took legal action in England, aimed at ascertaining the validity and effectiveness
of the swap contracts signed with the Municipality of Messina and requiring the Municipality to pay the netting
amounts. On 18 November 2020, Dexia Crediop and the Municipality of Messina signed a settlement agreement
whereby, among other things, the Municipality of Messina recognised the full validity and efficacy ab origine of
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the swap contracts and paid the amounts due for netting and interest on arrears. Based on a joint request by
the parties, the English case was closed on 27 November 2020.
Province of Crotone:
On 5 July 2012, Dexia Crediop initiated legal action in England, aimed at ascertaining the validity and effectiveness
of the 3 swap contracts signed by the Province of Crotone in December 2007. On 11 May 2015, the High Court/
Commercial Court issued a Default Judgement which granted Dexia Crediop’s request, containing, inter alia: (i)
a declaration that the swap contracts are valid, effective and binding from the time of origin; and (ii) an order
for the Province of Crotone to repay the legal expenses incurred by Dexia Crediop in the proceeding in question.
On 2 March 2017, Dexia Crediop received a declaration recognising and rendering enforceable the English
ruling in Italy.
On 9 November 2017, Dexia Crediop began enforcement action in Italy in order to obtain payment of the court
costs ordered by the English judge in favour of Dexia Crediop (GBP 340,140 plus interest and procedural costs).
The enforcement proceedings against the Province of Crotone were declared to be complete on 8 January 2019
based on the Enforcement Judge’s determination that the Province had a lack of funds available at the time of
seizure. On 28 March 2019, Dexia Crediop began a new enforcement action. The proceedings ended on 24
August 2020 with the seized amounts transferred to Dexia Crediop.
At the same time, on 23 July 2019, Dexia Crediop brought a compliance case against the Province of Crotone,
with the Regional Administrative Court of the Calabria Region, aimed at obtaining the appointment of a
commissioner to execute the Default Judgement.
Considering the financial situation of the Province of Crotone, a provision was made equivalent to the currently
unpaid netting amount of € 2.4 million.
Basilicata Region:
On 13 May 2020, Dexia Crediop received an invitation to present information from the Public Prosecutor of
the Court of Auditors of the Basilicata Region, as part of a proceedings for presumed tax damages regarding
the derivatives contracts concluded with the Region.
PICFIC:
On 22 May 2012 and 5 June 2012, Dexia Crediop purchased certified healthcare receivables in respect of various
hospitals of Lazio from the “Italian Province of the Congregation of the Children of the Immaculate Conception”
(“Provincia Italiana della Congregazione dei Figli dell’Immacolata Concezione” - PICFIC), including Rome 1 Local
Health Authority. The receivables above relative to Rome 1 Local Health Authority, despite certification of the
same having been made, were found to be partially subject to previous seizures.
Rome 1 Local Health Authority did not proceed with the payment of the assigned receivables for about € 3.8
million; pending litigation a provision for legal risks of equal value was set aside.
In an appeal pursuant to Art. 702 of the Italian Code of Civil Procedure Dexia Crediop summoned before the Civil
Court of Rome the Rome 1 Local Health Authority, and the Lazio Region in order to obtain, among other things, an
order to pay the receivables not yet received. With an order filed with the clerk of the court on 4 February 2014, the
Civil Court of Rome rejected Dexia Crediop’s pleas.
With an appeal lodged on 5 March 2014, Dexia Crediop challenged the said order before the Rome Court of
Appeal. The appeal ended on 24 January 2019 with the publication of judgement 486 with which the Appeals
Court partially accepted Dexia Crediop’s appeal, condemning the Rome 1 Local Health Authority to pay Dexia
Crediop approximately € 900 thousand, plus contractual interest. On 24 July 2019, Dexia Crediop filed its appeal
to the Court of Cassation.
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On 30 October 2012, PICFIC was admitted to the procedure for a composition agreement pursuant to art.
161, paragraph 6, of Italian Royal Decree No. 267 of 16 March 1942, converted on 29 March 2013, into the
extraordinary administration procedure pursuant to Law Decree No. 347 of 23 December 2003, converted into
Law No. 39 of 18 February 2004.
On 5 April 2016, the extraordinary administration of PICFIC served Dexia Crediop a writ of summons in the
Civil Court of Rome concerning the revocation of the credit assignment deeds of 22 May 2012 and 5 June
2012 and, requesting to order Dexia Crediop to pay PICFIC a sum equal to the nominal value of the transferred
receivables and those already cashed. The hearing for clarification of the conclusions by the parties has been
set for 27 May 2021.
LIRI:
On 23 December 2003, Dexia Crediop, in a pool with another bank, signed a loan contract with the company
Livorno Reti e Impianti S.p.A. (“LIRI”) (currently in voluntary liquidation, begun in August 2014) which is 100%
controlled by the Municipality of Livorno.
On 18 July 2016, LIRI summoned Dexia Crediop before the Civil Court of Rome, claiming (i) the existence of
an implicit derivative in the loan contract, (ii) the presence of implicit costs and (iii) the violation inter alia of the
requirements of proper conduct and good faith. The hearing for clarification of the conclusions took place on
11 December 2018. On 21 February 2020, the Rome Civil Court issued judgement 3875/2020, with which it
entirely rejected LIRI’s requests, also ordering LIRI to pay € 78,000 for court costs, as well as other legal expenses
in favour of the banks involved in the case. On 12 May 2020, LIRI issued a writ of summons regarding its appeal
with the Rome Court of Appeal. The hearing before the Court of Appeals has been scheduled for 27 April 2021.
FIRA:
On 9 February 2004, Dexia Crediop, in a pool with another bank, signed a loan contract with the company
Fi.R.A. S.p.A. – Regional Finance Abruzzo (“FIRA”), currently wholly owned by the Abruzzo Region since
2017.
On 21 May 2018, FIRA summoned Dexia Crediop before the Civil Court of L’Aquila, challenging the
validity of the early termination clause of the loan agreement, considering that this clause (i) represents
an implicit derivative in the loan agreement, (ii) is affected by uncertainty, and (iii) is contrary to the
requirements of the Consolidated Banking Law and the legislation on banking transparency. The case is
currently being investigated.
Municipality of Padua:
Following the serving of a complaint on 25 April 2020 regarding the renegotiation of a loan contract
with Dexia Crediop signed on 8 July 2005, the Municipality of Padua summoned Dexia Crediop to a
proceedings for the required civil mediation which was unsuccessfully completed on 27 July 2020.
ICS:
l’Istituto per il Credito Sportivo (ICS), a bank in which Dexia Crediop holds an equity investment, was subject
to extraordinary administration procedures from 1 January 2012 to 28 February 2018. Within the scope of
the commissioner activities, the special commissioners have questioned the legal status of a fund contributed
by the State, disputing the distribution of profits to investors and the ICS Bylaws in effect in 2005. The case in
progress in the civil courts refers to the request made by the Extraordinary Commissioners of ICS in the second
half of 2013 for the restitution of the dividends received from 2005-2010 in excess of the minimum dividend
established under the former Bylaws enacted in 2002 (amount requested from Dexia Crediop: approximately
€ 16.9 million). On 18 September 2019, the Rome Civil Court published a judgement which granted the
request to return the dividends presented by the ICS and ordered Dexia Crediop to pay € 16,863,574.72, plus
interest on arrears and other charges. Dexia Crediop complied with the judgement, making the payment due,
with a reserve for return based on the appeal of the sentence. In fact, Dexia Crediop appealed this ruling with
a writ of summons issued at the end of January 2020. The hearing for clarification of the conclusions has been
scheduled for 1 February 2023.
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Section 12 – Corporate capital – Items 110, 130, 140, 150, 160, 170, and 180
12.1 “Share capital” and “Treasury shares”: breakdown
Share capital, fully subscribed and paid up, amounts to € 645,210,000 and consists of 19,674,500,000
ordinary shares with no nominal value. The company does not own any treasury shares.
12.2 Equity - Number of shares: annual change
Items/Types
A. Shares existing at start of period
- fully paid up

Ordinary

Others

12,174,500,000
12,174,500,000

- not fully paid up
A.1 Treasury shares (-)
A.2 Shares in circulation: opening balance

12,174,500,000

B. Increases
B.1 New issues
- against payment:
- company merger operations
- bond conversion
- exercise of warrants
- others

7,500,000,000

- free of charge:
- for employees
- for directors
- others
B.2 Sale of treasury shares
B.3 Other changes
C. Decreases
C.1 Cancelled
C.2 Purchase of treasury shares
C.3 Corporate sale transactions
C.4 Other changes
D. Shares in circulation: closing balance

19,674,500,000

D.1 Treasury shares (+)
D.2 Shares existing at end of period
- fully paid up

19,674,500,000
19,674,500,000

- not fully paid up
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12.4 Profit reserves: other information
thousands of euro

A. Opening balances
B. Increases
C. Decreases
Destination usefuel 2019
D. Closing balances

Legal reserve
77,413

Other reserves
294,990

77,413

129,332
129,332
165,658

Pursuant to article 2430 of the Italian Civil Code, the legal reserve is formed of at least one-twentieth of
the net annual profits until the reserve reaches one fifth of the share capital.

Other information
1. Commitments and financial guarantees issued other than those designated at fair value
thousands of euro

Nominal value on commitments and financial
guarantees issue
Stage 1
Stage 2
Stage 3
Commitments to disburse
funds
a) Central Banks
b) General governments
c) Banks
d) Other financial corporations
e) Non-financial corporations
f) Households
Financial guarantees issued
a) Central Banks
b) General governments
c) Banks
d) Other financial corporations
e) Non-financial corporations
f) Households

31/12/2020

31/12/2019

8,250

8,250

8,750

8,250

8,250

8,750

10,485

12,495

20,424

43,404

50,654

10,485

12,495

20,424

43,404

50,654

2. Other commitments and other guarantees issued
thousands of euro

Nominal value
31/12/2020
31/12/2019
Other guarantees issued
of which: non-performing
a) Central Banks
b) General governments
c) Banks
d) Other financial corporations
e) Non-financial corporations
f) Households
Other commitments
of which: non-performing
a) Central Banks
b) General governments
c) Banks
d) Other financial corporations
e) Non-financial corporations
f) Households
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2

6

2

6

3. Assets set up as collateral for own liabilities and commitments
thousands of euro

Portfolios

Amount
31/12/2020

Amount
31/12/2019

1. Financial assets measured at fair value through profit and loss
2. Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
3. Financial assets measured at amortized cost

10,762,418

9,788,179

4. Tangible assets
of which: tangible assets that constitute inventories

5. Management and broking for customer accounts
thousands of euro

Type of services

Amount

1. Execution of orders on behalf of the clientele
a) Purchases
1. settled
2. not settled
b) Sales
1. settled
2. not settled
2. Portfolio management
3. Custody and administration of securities

6,124,127

a) third-party securities on deposit: as custodian bank (excluding portfolio management schemes)
1. securities issued by consolidated companies
2. other securities
b) other third party securities on deposit (excluding portfolio management schemes): other

40,598

1. securities issued by consolidated companies
2. other securities

40,598

c) third-party securities deposited with third parties
d) portfolio securities deposited with third parties

6,083,529

4. Other transactions
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6. Financial assets subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar
agreements
thousands of euro

Technical types

1. Derivatives

Gross
amounts
(before
offsetting)
(a)

Gross
amounts
set off in
Financial
Statement
(b)

Net amount
presented
in Financial
Statement
(c) = (a) - (b)

Amount subject to an
enforceable master
netting arrangements
or similar agreement an
not set off in Financial
Statement
Financial
Instruments
(d)

Net amount
Net amount
31/12/2020
31/12/2019
(f = c - d - e)

Cash
collateral
(e)

297,629

-

297,629

68,296

229,333

-

Total 31/12/2020

297,629

-

297,629

68,296

229,333

0

Total 31/12/2019

364,400

-

364,400

144,293

220,107

-

2. Repurchase agreement
3. Securities lending
4. Others
X

X

0

7. Financial liabilities subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar
agreements
thousands of euro

Technical types

Gross
amounts
(before
offsetting)
(a)

Gross
amounts
set off in
Financial
Statement
(b)

Net amount
presented
in Financial
Statement
(c) = (a) - (b)

Amount subject to an
enforceable master
netting arrangements
or similar agreement an
not set off in Financial
Statement
Financial
Instruments
(d)

Net amount
Net amount
31/12/2020
31/12/2019
(f = c - d - e)

Cash
collateral
(e)

1. Derivatives

3,549,863

-

3,549,863

(147,736)

3,697,599

-

-

2. Repurchase agreement

5,027,561

-

5,027,561

5,120,991

(93,430)

-

-

Total 31/12/2020

8,577,424

-

8,577,424

4,973,255

3,604,169

0

Total 31/12/2019

8,753,339

-

8,753,339

5,322,802

3,430,537

3. Securities lending
4. Others

116

Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

X

X
0

Part C – Comments on the
income statement
Section 1 – Interest – Items 10 and 20

1.1 Interest and similar income: breakdown
thousands of euro

Items/Technical types

Debt securities

assets measured at fair value through
1 Financial
profit and loss:
1.1 Financial assets held for trading
1.2 Financial assets designated at fair value
through profit and loss
1.3 Other financial assets mandatorily
measured at fair value through profit and loss
Financial
assets measured at fair value through
2 other comprehensive
income
3 Financial assets measured at amortized cost:

Loans
5,621

5,621

7,844

5,621

5,621

7,844

2,412

2,421

4,833

167,020

80,719

247,739

3,137

3,137

3,592

77,582

244,602

284,171

(237,842)

(237,842)

(266,714)

24,133

24,133

(213,709)

44,484

3.1 Due from banks
3.2 Due from customers

Other
Total
Total
transactions 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

167,020

4 Hedging derivatives

X

X

5 Other assets

X

X

19,851

6 Financial liabilities
Total

169,432

88,761

of which: interest income on impaired assets

287,863

1,684

48,844
1,861

of which interest income on financial leasing

The item “Hedging derivatives”, other operations, shows the amount of the differentials that corrects
the interest income recorded on the hedged financial instruments.
In the Item Financial liabilities reported the positive interest on Financial liabilities matured due to the
negative rates and represented on Item Other assets in previous period.
1.2 Interest and similar income: other information
thousands of euro

Items

31/12/2020

1.2.1 Interest income on financial assets in foreign currencies

474

1.3 Interest and similar expenses: breakdown
thousands of euro

Items/Technical types

Payables

1. Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost

(507)

1.1 Amounts due to central banks

(56,764)

Total
31/12/2020

Total
31/12/2019

(57,271)

(71,672)
(2,444)

X

1.2 Due to banks
1.3 Due to customers
1.4 Securities in issue

Securities

Other
transactions

(468)

X

(468)

(39)

X

(39)

(6)

(56,764)

(69,222)

X

(56,764)

2. Financial liabilities held for trading
3. Financial liabilities designated at fair value
4. Other liabilities and provisions

X

(14,613)

(14,613)

(11,435)

5. Hedging derivatives

X

12,101

12,101

13,455

5. Financial activities

X
(2,512)

(59,783)

(69,652)

Total
of which interest debt for leasing

(507)

(56,764)

(34)

The item “Hedging derivatives”, other operations, shows the amount of the differentials that corrects
the interest income recorded on the hedged financial instruments.
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1.4 Interest and similar expenses: other information
thousands of euro

Items

31/12/2020

1.4.1 Interest paid on liabilities in foreign currency

(472)

1.5 Differentials on hedging transactions
thousands of euro

Items/Amounts

31/12/2020

A. Positive differentials on hedging transactions

31/12/2019

16,944

21,245

B. Negative differentials on on hedging transactions

(242,685)

(274,504)

C. Balance (A-B)

(225,741)

(253,259)

Section 2 – Fees and commissions – Items 40 and 50
2.1 Fee and commission income: breakdown
thousands of euro

Type of services/Amounts

Total 31/12/2020

a) guarantees given				

464

Total 31/12/2019
488

b) credit derivatives				
c) management, broking and consulting services:			

2,588

1. financial instrument trading			
2. foreign exchange trading			
3. portfolio management			
4. custody and administration of securities			

2,588

5. depositary bank		
6. placing of securities			
7. collection of the data receipt and transmission activities
8. advisory services			
8.1 in relation to investments		
8.2 in relation to financial structure		
9. distribution of third-party services			
9.1. portfolio management		
9.1.1. individual
9.1.2. collective
9.2. insurance products
9.3. other products
d) collection and payment services				
e) servicing of securitisation transactions			
f) services for factoring transactions				
g) management of rate- and tax-collection agencies
h) multilateral trading facilities management			
i) keeping and management of current accounts				
j) other services

2,350

896

Total

2,814

3,972

The amount of e 2.4 million, recognised since the previous year under the item “Custody and administration”,
as of 2020 has been moved to the item “Other services” and refers to a service linked to the creation of
commercial opportunities with another market counterparty.
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2.3 Fee and commission expenses: breakdown
thousands of euro

Services/Amounts

Total 31/12/2020

a) guarantees received

Total 31/12/2019

(213,525)

(117,989)

(35)

(46)

(35)

(46)

(81)

(84)

(107)

(88)

(213,748)

(118,207)

b) credit derivatives
c) management and brokerage services:
1. financial instrument trading
2. foreign exchange trading
3. portfolio management
3.1 own
3.2 for third parties
4. custody and administration of securities
5. placing of financial instruments
6. external marketing of financial instruments, products and services
d) collection and payment services
e) other services
Total

Section 3 – Dividend and similar income – Item 70
3.1 Dividend and similar income: breakdown
thousands of euro

Items/Income

Total 31/12/2020
Dividend

Total 31/12/2019

Income similar

Dividend

Income similar

A. Financial assets held for trading
B.

Other financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value
through profit and loss

C.

Financial assets measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income

-

195

D. Equity investments
Total

0

0

195

0
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Section 4 – Net trading gains (losses) – Item 80
4.1 Net trading gains (losses): breakdown
thousands of euro

Transactions/Income components

Capital gains
(A)

Trading
profits
(B)

Capital losses
(C)

Net income
(losses)[(A+B)
- (C+D)]

Trading
losses
(D)

1. Financial assets held for trading

(624)

1.1 Debt securities
1.2 Equity securities
1.3 Mutual fund shares
1.4 Loans

624

(624)

1.5 Others
2. Financial liabilities held for trading
2.1 Debt securities
2.2 Payables
2.3 Others
3. Other financial assets and liabilities:
foreign exchange differences

X

X

4. Derivative instruments

114,977

209,705

94,887

212,153

17,642

108,855

209,485

90,170

212,153

16,017

108,855

209,485

90,170

212,153

16,017

X

X

4.1 Financial derivatives:
- on debt securities and interest rates

X

X

2

- on equity securities and stock indices
- on currencies and gold

0
X

X

0

- others
4.2 Credit derivatives

6,122

220

4,717

114,977

209,705

94,887

1,625

of which: economic hedges linked
to the fair value option
Total

212,153

17,020

Section 5 – Net hedging gains (losses) – Item 90
5.1 Net hedging gains (losses): breakdown
thousands of euro

Income components/Amounts

Total 31/12/2020

Total 31/12/2019

A. Income relating to:
A.1 Fair value hedging derivatives
A.2 Hedged financial assets (fair value)
A.3 Hedged financial liabilities (fair value)
A.4 Cash flow hedging derivatives

313
189,952

325,901

6,533

4,268

17

6

196,815

330,175

134,735

336,987

A.5 Assets and liabilities in foreign currencies
Total hedging income (A)
B. Expenses relating to:
B.1 Fair value hedging derivatives
B.2 Hedged financial assets (fair value)

43,272

B.3 Hedged financial liabilities (fair value)
B.4 Cash flow hedging derivatives
B.5 Assets and liabilities in foreign currencies
Total hedging expenses (B)
C. Gains less losses on hedging (A – B)
of which: net gains (losses) of hedge accounting on net positions
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178,007

336,987

18,808

(6,812)

Section 6 – Gains (Losses) from sale/repurchase – Item 100
6.1 Gains (Losses) from sale/repurchase: breakdown
thousands of euro

Total 31/12/2020
Items/Income components

Gains

Losses

Total 31/12/2019

Net
result

Gains

Net
result

Losses

A. Financial assets
1. Financial assets measured at amortized cost:

6,065

6,982

(917)

31

9

22

6,065

6,982

(917)

31

9

22

32,266

35,627

(3,361)

32,266

35,627

(3,361)

38,331

42,609

(4,278)

31

9

22

1.1 Due from banks
1.2 Due from customers
2.

Financial assets measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income
2.1 Debt securities
2.2 Loans

Total assets (A)
B. Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost
1. Due to banks
2. Due to customers
3. Securities in issue
Total liabilities (B)

-

The net gain of 4.3 million euro originates mainly from the sale of debt securities with customers.

Section 7 – Net result of financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value through
profit and loss – Item 110
7.2 Net change in other financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value through profit
and loss: breakdown of the other financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value through
profit and loss
thousands of euro

Transactions/Income components

Gains
(A)

Gains on
disposals (B)

Losses
(C)

Losses on
Net result
disposals (D) [(A+B) - (C+D)]

1. Financial assets
1.1 Debt securities
1.2 Equity securities
1.3 Mutual fund shares
1.4 Loans
2. Financial assets: foreign exchange
differences
Total

2,517
X

5,760
X

2,517

7,278
X

5,760

775

224

775

224

X
7,278
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Section 8 – Net losses/recoveries on credit impairment – Item 130
8.1 Net impairment losses for credit risk relating to financial assets at amortised cost: breakdown
thousands of euro

Writedowns
Transactions/Income
components

Stage 3

Stage 1 and 2

A. Due from banks
- Loans
- Debt securities
of which: acquired or
originated impaired loans
B. Due from customers
- Loans
- Debt securities
of which: acquired or
originated impaired loans
Total

Writebacks

Write-off Others

Stage 1 and 2

Stage 3

(11,920)

31/12/2020 31/12/2019
(11,920)

7

(18,512)

(10,785)

(30,432)

(10,778)

(11,920)

(17,627)

(1,893)

736

272

(13,171)

(1,893)

645

272

(4,456)

91

(29,547)

(1,893)

736

272

8.1a Net impairment losses for credit risk relating to loans at amortised cost with COVID-19
support measures: breakdown							
thousands of euro

Writedowns (1)
Transactions/Income
components

Stage 1 and 2

1. Loans with forbearance
measures in accordance with GL
2. Loans with other forbearance
measures
3. New loans

174

Total

178

Stage 3
Write-off Others

Writebacks (2)
Stage 1 and 2

Stage 3

31/12/2020 31/12/2019

4

Total (T-1)

8.2 Net impairment losses for credit risk relating to financial assets measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income: breakdown
thousands of euro

Writedowns (1)
Transactions/Income
components

Stage 1 and 2

Stage 3
Write-off Others

Writebacks (2)
Stage 1 and 2

A. Debt securities
B. Loans
- Due to banks
- Due to customers
of which: acquired or
originated impaired financial
assets
F. Total

Stage 3

31/12/2020 31/12/2019

29

29

(87)

17

(70)

(87)

17

(87)

46

(41)

Section 9 – Gains/losses from contractual changes without cancellations – Item 140
9.1 Profits (losses) from contractual changes: breakdown
The result deriving from contractual changes without derecognition is equal to € 2.25 million (in respect
of 0,36 million of previous period) and refers to the renegotiation of a loan with a local authority for
2.37 million and debt securities for 0.161 million.
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Section 10 – Administrative expenses – Item 160
10.1 Personnel expenses: breakdown
thousands of euro

Type of expense/Amount
1) Employees

Total 31/12/2020

Total 31/12/2019

(8,652)

(9,926)

a) wages and salaries

(5,653)

(5,905)

b) social security contributions

(1,536)

(1,614)

(330)

(344)

c) retirement indemnities
d) other pension costs
e) provisions for severance indemnities
f) provision for retirement benefits and similar benefits:

(11)

(21)

(267)

(246)

(267)

(246)

(183)

(195)

(183)

(195)

(672)

(1,601)

(704)

(744)

- defined contribution
- defined benefits
g) payments to complementary external pension funds:
- defined contribution
- defined benefits
h) costs pursuant to payment agreements based on own equity instruments
i) other employee benefits
2) Other personnel working
3) Directors and statutory auditors
4) Retired personnel
5) Recovery of expenses for employees seconded to other companies
6) Recovery of expenses for others’ employees seconded to the company
Total

(403)

(388)

(9,759)

(11,058)

10.2 Average number of employees by category
Employees:
a) managers

13

b) middle managers

48

- of which: of 3rd and 4th level

25

c) remaining employees

14

Other personnel

10.3 Company defined-benefit pension funds: total costs
thousands of euro

31/12/2020

31/12/2019

a) Retirement benefit costs

248

246

b) Interest expenses

343

611

c) Yield of the assets

(324)

(623)

267

269

d) Administrative expenses
e) Actuarial losses (gains) recognized in the balance sheet
Total

35

10.4 Other employee benefits
The balance includes amounts relative to redundancy incentives and premiums for insurance stipulated
in favour of employees.
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10.5 Other administrative expenses: breakdown
thousands of euro

Type of expense/Amount

31/12/2020

31/12/2019

Maintenance costs on furniture and equipment

(283)

Property rent payments

(39)

(932)

Telephone expenses

(62)

(50)

(4)

(6)

(1,065)

(1,018)

Postage and telegraph expenses
Costs for maintenance and updating of software
Security

(106)

Car leasing instalments
Energy, heating and water expenses

(2)

(73)

(17)

(62)

(2,265)

(2,302)

(3)

(14)

(1,832)

(1,794)

Advertising and public relations

(21)

(25)

Books, periodicals and information services

(22)

(24)

Maintenance costs on company-owned buildings
IT Services
Stationery and printing
Costs for cleaning premises
Professional fees

Insurance premiums
Membership fees
Other expenses
Total

(130)

(6)

(15)

(515)

(574)

(123)

(123)

(5,976)

(7,531)

(1)

(5)

Indirect taxes
– Imu Tax
– Flat-rate tax, Decree 601/73
– Other tax
– National Resolution Fund/Single Resolution Fund contributions

(202)

(23)

(2,858)

(6,572)

Total

(3,061)

(6,600)

Total of other administrative expenses

(9,037)

(14,131)

Other administrative expenses include 2.8 million euro for the contribution to the Single Resolution Fund and
to the National Resolution Fund.
The fees paid by Dexia Crediop S.p.A. for auditing services in 2020 are shown below, net of VAT and
expenses which will be reimursed:
thousands of euro

Services
Legal Audit
Other auditing services
Total
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51
156

Section 11 – Net provisions for risks and charges – Item 170
11.1 Net provisions for credit risk from loans commitments and financial guarantees given:
breakdown
thousands of euro

Items/Income components

Total 31/12/2020
Provisions

First stage

Utilisation

Total 31/12/2019
Net result

(2)

Second stage

340

Third stage

(2,042)

Total

(2,044)

Provisions

Utilisation

Net result

(2)

1

1

340

116

116

117

117

(2,042)
340

(1,704)

11.3 Net provisions for other risks and charges: breakdown
thousands of euro

Items/Income components

Total 31/12/2020
Provisions

Utilisation

Total 31/12/2019
Net result

Provisions

Utilisation

Net result

A. Risks

(1,563)

3,845

2,282

(2,861)

(2,861)

Total riscks

(1,563)

3,845

2,282

(2,861)

(2,861)

35

35

22

22

35

35

22

22

3,880

2,317

22

(2,839)

B. Charges
1. Personnel
2. Others
Total charges
Total Risks and Charges

(1,563)

(2,861)
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Section 12 – Net adjustments on property plant and equipment – Item 180
12.1 Net adjustments on property plant and equipment: breakdown
thousands of euro

Assets/Income component

Amortization
(a)

Impairment losses
(b)

Writebacks
(c)

Net result
(a + b - c)

A. Property plant and equipment
1. For functional use
- Company owned
- Right of use acquired on lease

(867)

(867)

(68)

(68)

(799)

(799)

(867)

(867)

2. Held for investment
- Company owned
- Right of use acquired on lease
3. Inventories
Total

X

Section 13 – Net adjustments on intangible assets – Item 190
13.1 Net adjustments on intangible assets: breakdown
thousands of euro

Assets/Income component

Amortization
(a)

Impairment losses
(b)

Writebacks
(c)

Net result
(a + b - c)

A. Intangible assets
A.1 Company owned

(1,019)

(1,019)

(1,019)

(1,019)

(1,019)

(1,019)

- Generated within the company
- Other
A.2 Right of use acquired on lease
Total
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Section 14 – Other operating expenses and revenues – Item 200
14.1 Other operating expenses: breakdown
thousands of euro

Items/Amounts

31/12/2020

Interbank charges
Other expenses

(146)

Total

(146)

14.2 Other operating revenues: breakdown
thousands of euro

Items/Amounts

31/12/2020

Interbank revenues
Refund of expenses
Other income

723

Total

723

Section 18 – Profits (losses) on disposal of investments – Item 250
18.1 Profits (losses) on disposal of investments: breakdown
thousands of euro

Income component/Book value

Total 31/12/2020

Total 31/12/2019

A. Assets
- Profit on disposal
- Losses on disposal
B. Others assets
- Profit on disposal

-

-

-

-

0

0

- Losses on disposal
Net result
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Section 19 – Income tax for the period on continuing operations – Item 270
19.1 Income tax for the period on continuing operations: breakdown
thousands of euro

Component/Amounts
1.

Current taxes (-)

2.

Changes in current taxes compared to previous periods (+/-)

3.

Decreases in current taxes for the period (+)

Total 31/12/2020

Total 31/12/2019

3bis. Reduction in current taxes for tax credits pursuant to Law no. 214/2011 (+)
4.

Changes in prepaid taxes (+/-)

5.

Changes in deferred taxes (+/-)

6.

Taxes for the period (-) (-1+/-2+3+3bis+/-4+/-5)

Current taxes are collected under the tax rules in force.

19.2 Reconciliation between theoretical tax burden and tax burden according to financial
statements
thousands of euro

Taxable income/Variations/Taxes
Pre-tax profit - Rate (33.07%)
Increases in taxes (Rate 27.5%)
Decreases in taxes (Rate 27.5%)
Greater taxable amount for IRAP (Regional Business Tax) (Rate 5.57%)
Increases in taxes (Rate 5.57%)
Decreases in taxes (Rate 5.57%)
Changes in deferred tax assets
Taxes for the period
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31/12/2020
Taxable amount

Tax

Part D – Comprehensive income
Detailed statement of comprehensive income
thousands of euro

Items
10. Net Income (Loss) for the period
Other comprehensive income without reversal to income statement
20 Equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income:
a) change in fair value
b) transfers to other components of shareholders’ equity
Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss (changes in
30
creditworthiness):
a) change in fair value
b) transfers to other components of shareholders’ equity
40 Hedging of equity securities designated at fair value through other comprehensive income:
a) change in fair value (hedgged instrument)
b) change in fair value (hedging instrument)
50 Property plant and equipment
60 Intangible assets
70 Defined benefit plans
80 Non-current assets held for sale
90 Share of valuation reserves related to equity investments
Other comprehensive income with reversal to income statement
110 Hedging of foreign investments:
a) change in fair value
b) reversal to income statement
c) other changes
120 Exchange differences:
a) changes in the value
b) reversal to income statement
c) other changes
130 Cash flow hedging:
a) changes in fair value
b) reversal to income statement
c) other changes
of which: result of net positions
140 Hedging instruments (non-designated items):
a) changes in the value
b) reversal to income statement
c) other changes
Financial assets (other than equity securities) measured at fair value through
150
other comprehensive income:
a) changes in fair value
b) reversal to income statement
- adjustments for credit risk
- profit/losses from realization
c) other changes
160 Non-current assets and groups of assets held for sale:
a) changes in fair value
b) reversal to income statement
c) other changes
170 Share of valuation reserves related to equity investments:
a) changes in fair value
b) reversal to income statement
- impairment losses
- gains/losses on disposals
c) other changes
180 Income taxes relating to items reclassified to profit or loss
190 Total other comprehensive income
200 Comprehensive income (10+190)

Total 31/12/2020
(241,886)

Total 31/12/2019
(129,332)

(61)
(61)

(1,398)
(1,398)

1,867

(1,964)

2,197
2,212
(15)

5,000
5,000

(13,511)
(17,247)
3,736
3,736

(9,508)
(251,394)

1,638
(127,694)
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Part E – Comments on risks and
associated hedging policies
The information which must be provided pursuant to Memorandum no. 285 “Supervisory provisions for
banks” issued by the Bank of Italy on 17 December 2013 (Second Part, Chapter 13, “Information for the
public”) is available on the Dexia Crediop S.p.A. website (www.dexia-crediop.it).
Introduction
In order to establish an efficient process for managing the risks to which the Bank is exposed, Dexia
Crediop follows a series of sources of company regulations which transpose the Dexia Group’s policies,
adapting them to national regulations.
The Policies defined by the Dexia Group are applied and are generally valid for all the legal entities that fall
within the Group’s scope. In performing their operations and on the subject of managing and measuring
risks, the single entities follow the guidelines defined and formalised in the respective policies. The
indications and guidelines contained in the policies defined by the Dexia Group are adopted within Dexia
Crediop by defining and formalising specific regulations that make up the internal regulatory corpus.
In order to build an efficient and effective corporate risk control and management system, Dexia Crediop
has defined specific roles and responsibilities assigned to the Bank’s corporate bodies and the individual
Company Operating Units (COUs).
In the area of risk management, we note the fundamental role played by the Bank’s main corporate bodies,
namely the Board of Directors, in its capacity as strategic supervisory body, the Chief Executive Officer in
his/her capacity as management body, and the Board of Statutory Auditors in its capacity as control body.
Furthermore, specific committees are included such as the Steering Committee, the Lending Committee,
the Finance Committee, and the Risk Committee, which are attended by the managers of the COUs.
Important risk management functions are also performed by specific Coordination Groups. In particular:
• New Products Coordination Group: each of the Bank’s new products is analysed in detail, as regards both
operational impact and risk impact;
• Rate Associated Risks Coordination Group: this group analyses problems relative to derivatives, structured
loans and debt management operations, relative to both public and private customers;
• The Default Watchlist Coordination Group: this committee plays a fundamental role in the process of
analysing default operations and/or those on the company’s watchlist, and of monitoring credit risk;
• The IT Security and Operational Continuity Coordination Group: this committee plays a fundamental
role in terms of the IT security process and in supervising provisions aimed at guaranteeing operational
continuity.
Besides the Bodies/Committees/Coordination Groups indicated above, the Bank’s COUs responsible for
monitoring and controlling risks are mainly the Risk and Compliance & Anti-Money Laundering. The
Risk Department includes the Credit, Operational Risk & Security and Market Risk units. Representatives
of the Risk Department play a significant role in the Steering Committee, Lending Committee, Finance
Committee and all of the Coordination Groups identified above. The Risk Department has no hierarchical
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relationship with the Bank’s operating units and, therefore, carries out its function independently of the
Front Office COUs.
The main duties of Compliance & Anti-Money Laundering include: monitoring the evolution of the
legislative framework of reference, analysing the impact on processes and procedures; promoting and
defining the necessary safeguards against identified non-compliance risks, consequently proposing
organisational and procedural changes and verifying the effectiveness of the action taken; contributing
to promoting a corporate culture based on values of correct conduct; identification of applicable
regulations on anti-money laundering, financing of terrorism and regulations regarding identification
and adequate verification of customers, and regulations regarding prevention of tax evasion.
Other corporate units, such as the Legal Unit, are positioned within the general framework for managing
specific types of risk.
It is worth noting, finally, the role of the Internal Audit Unit, which is responsible for carrying out internal
auditing in the Bank and constantly supervising its operation and effective application of the current
internal audit system. In this context, Internal Audit assesses whether the risks assumed in the Bank’s
various operations are adequately known, monitored and managed.
As can be deduced from the explanation above, the risk culture of the Dexia Group and of Dexia Crediop
is diffused at every level, with multiple COUs directly involved in managing risks and various Committees
and Coordination Groups providing for the participation of representatives from many of the Bank’s
units which, in turn, receive support from other COUs not directly involved in risk management.

Section 1 – Credit risk
Qualitative information
1. General aspects
Recall that, as of 15 July 2014, the European Commission confirmed the run-off management of Dexia
Crediop. Therefore, as of said date, Dexia Crediop can no longer establish any new operational loan
transactions.
Additionally:
• as of 17 February 2020, the ECB Executive Board decided to grant Dexia SA and all of its subsidiaries
(including Dexia Crediop) authorisation to return to a less sophisticated approach (the “standardised”
approach) to calculate own fund requirements for credit risk for individual supervised entities and at the
consolidated level for Dexia SA;
• on 28 May 2020, the ECB informed Dexia SA, Dexia Crédit Local and Dexia Crediop of the Executive
Board’s decision to classify the Group headed by Dexia SA as a Less Significant Entity (LSE) due to
the existence of special circumstances, pursuant to Title 9, part IV of Regulation EU 468/2014 and,
consequently, that the Group would no longer be under the direct supervision of the ECB as of 1 July
2020.
The Group will therefore be under the consolidated supervision of the Autorité de contrôle prudentiel et
de résolution - ACPR. A memorandum of understanding specifies how the consolidated monitoring of
Dexia SA will be exercised by the ACPR, together with Banque Nationale de Belgique. Dexia Crédit Local
is supervised by the ACPR and Dexia Crediop S.p.A. is supervised by the Bank of Italy.
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2. Impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic
The COVID-19 pandemic caused an unprecedented economic and health shock in 2020, leading
governments and central banks to adopt exceptional measures to stop the spread of the virus and
support the economy. While the medium-term consequences of the crisis are still very uncertain, the
situation led Dexia Crediop to implement various precautionary measures within its specific run-off
structure.
Protecting personnel and operational continuity
From the beginning of the crisis, after the aggravation of effects linked to the spread of COVID-19 and
also following the consequent and repeated restrictive measures implemented by the Italian government,
Dexia Crediop activated a crisis unit to protect its staff and implemented all measures needed to allow
all employees to work remotely (smart working). At the beginning of June, a plan was established and
implemented for a progressive return to the bank, voluntarily, adapted based on developments in the
pandemic and always in compliance with orders from the Italian government and the relevant health
institutions.
The crisis unit ensured operational continuity for the bank and also managed all impacts at a human
and personal level associated with the emergency. Thanks to involvement of all stakeholders, constant
support from IT and the excellent work done by the various company units, the switch to remote work
was done quickly for all staff, through the use of a VPN connection, making it possible to maintain all
bank activities and guarantee full operational continuity from the beginning of the lockdown.
Additionally, as part of mandatory workplace health and safety training, specific training was offered on
various aspects associated with the pandemic including, among other things, work-life balance, stress
management project management and remote management.
3. Credit risk management policies
3.1 Organisational aspects
Credit risk is the risk of loss linked to the counterparties’ incapacity to honour their financial obligations.
The factors which influence the level of this risk are:
• counterparty creditworthiness, measured with an internal rating (determined on the basis of specific
models), although, as noted above, as of 17 February 2020, the ECB decided to grant authorisation to
Dexia SA and all of its subsidiaries (including Dexia Crediop) to return to a “standardised approach” to
calculate own fund requirements relative to credit risk;
• the customer segment concerned (public sector, Corporate, Project Finance, banking and financial
sector, etc.);
• the economic, legal and financial context in which the counterparty operates;
• the type of operation carried out;
• the duration of the operations;
• any guarantees (real, personal, financial) backing the operation.
It should be highlighted that almost all the existing exposure regards customers in the public sector,
with a moderate risk level and also subject to particular controls linked to their nature. Credit risk (such
as operative and market risk) is monitored by the Risk Department, in which two “line” functions –
Operational Risk & Security, and Market Risk – ensure monitoring of the respective risk categories and
activities aimed at the computerisation of the new strategic processes in relation to the Risk applications.
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Risk has no hierarchical relationship with the bank’s operational COUs, and therefore exercises its
functions in manner that is entirely dependent from Front Office units.
Specific Coordination Groups/Committees also form an integral part of the internal auditing systems,
helping to ensure that the system works correctly.
In particular, the Lending Committee’s task is to examine materials related to existing loan proposals of
any technical type. The Committee expresses an opinion regarding risk and financial conditions on the
basis of proposals from the relevant COU, an opinion provided by Risk in regard to risk and, finally, an
opinion (for “non standard” operations) containing legal assessments provided by the General and Legal
Secretariat.
The Default Watchlist Coordination Committee examines situations falling within the criteria of defaults
as established by the Supervisory Authorities and by Dexia Group policies.
3.2 Management, measuring and audit systems
As regards the methods of management, measuring and auditing, certain guidelines have been fixed at
the Dexia Group level.
The Dexia Group has developed internal rating systems (IRSs) for the various types of counterparties,
including Corporate, Project Finance, Western European Local Public Sector (LPS), “Public Satellites”,
“Private Satellites”, Banks and Sovereign States, which are all still used to determine IFRS 9 impairment,
and, more generally, carries out extensive credit analysis for its various counterparties even if, as noted
above, calculation of own fund requirements is now done exclusively with the Standardised Approach.
The internal rating system (IRS), defined on the basis of an advanced method (Advanced IRBA) involves:
• the adoption of internal procedures to calculate and create historical data for IRSs;
• the progressive development of an IT system (FERMAT) intended to consolidate in a shared standardised
and IFRS 9-compliant form information relative to all the counterparts (Client Database) and exposures
(Exposure Database) of the Dexia Group;
• the adoption of a system for measuring the Bank’s risk profile using an approach based on its own
economic resources.
3.3 Methods for measuring expected losses
Measuring a significant increase in credit risk (SICR)
Since 2019, the Dexia Group and, therefore, also Dexia Crediop, began a review of its strategic refocus.
In order to better assess credit risk for its portfolio of assets, which is rapidly changing and, in particular,
following the recommendations made by the European Central Bank as part of the centralised and local
inspection (On Site Inspection - OSI) on credit risk, Dexia Crediop, as a member of the Dexia Group,
decided to refine the methodology it uses to measure a possible significant increase in credit risk (SICR),
inspired by European Banking Authority recommendations.
In fact, based on discussions with regulatory authorities and a comparison with the new guidelines and
regulatory texts issued by the EBA, as well as with methodologies used by other banks, it was revealed
that the approach previously used by Dexia provided similar results but, at the same time, could be
improved by using more generally utilised estimates.
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To allow for improved comparison with other banks and in line with regulatory requirements, Dexia
decided to update its estimates. This change was also part of the switch from the advanced to the
standardised approach in effect as of the first quarter of 2020.
The new SICR classification rule is now in line with the best market practices and guidelines currently
available.
The qualitative and quantitative assessments resulting from backtesting indicate that the new SICR
rule, which uses the increase for the lifetime Probability of Default for a contract, allows for better
determination of an increase in risk, while also being more in line with market practices and regulatory
guidelines. The assessments also indicate that the thresholds selected for the SICR and Low Credit Risk
Exemption - LCRE (see below) are appropriate.
Comprehensive assessment of the SICR rule
Initially, it was determined which “bucketing” rule was most in line with the notion of “significant
increase in credit risk”. In practice, this implies that the buckets identified should adequately distinguish
between situations with a small increase in default risk versus those with a high increase, with reference
to the original contract date.
Backtesting demonstrated that the new bucketing rule was able to better distinguish the relative increase
in default risk compared to the rule previously adopted. Additionally, analysis provided satisfying results
regarding the fact that the selected SICR threshold (see herein) constituted a cut-off level that provided
good differentiation compared to the other possible thresholds.
Having considered the adoption of the new classification rule as an increased measure of credit risk,
another backtest was carried out to determine which SICR threshold offers suitable segmentation. This
backtest was based on an independent 0/1 type indicator relative to increased risk, which identifies files
on the watchlist or in forbearance.
Following a qualitative backstop, contracts on the watchlist or in forbearance are classified in bucket 2.
Therefore, given the new SICR formulation, the threshold selected must be able to satisfactorily separate
watchlist and forbearance contracts from the others. This analysis supports the selection of a SICR
threshold of 200%.
Additionally, from a qualitative point of view, the use of a sectoral worst-case lifetime PD for the
denominator in the SICR formula (as occurred under the previous rule used by Dexia) is less appropriate
with a high-quality credit portfolio in run-off during a positive phase in the credit cycle.
Low Credit Risk Exemption (LCRE)
After the comprehensive assessment of the SICR rule, a specific assessment was done of the LCRE (only
for securities, as required under the EBA Guidelines).
Initially, the pre-selected LCRE threshold of 0.3% was translated to the corresponding rating threshold for
the sector. It was demonstrated that this threshold is prudential compared to the investment/speculative
grade threshold for the accounting Guidelines, confirming the strong capacity to pay contractual cash
flows.
Additionally, even if the IFRS 9 standard does not explicitly establish it, the ECB Manual - Phase 2 for
Asset Quality Review (AQR) includes among the backstops for SICR (with respect to the date of initial
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recognition) a threshold to be used for the LCRE. On the basis of this threshold, only exposures with
a 12-month PD exceeding 0.3% are to be considered as needing a SICR assessment. This is the level
definitively adopted by the Dexia Group and, therefore, by Dexia Crediop, however, limited to securities,
as already noted above.
Secondly, the time needed to verify a default event within the scope of counterparties falling under
the area of application of the LCRE is quite long, demonstrating the reduced risk of non-payment. In
other words, given the lifetime PD levels for these counterparties, it is expected that a default event will
occur, on average, only over the long-term, meaning they are not exposed to immediate credit risk and,
consequently, there is still sufficient time to add the relative exposures to bucket 2.
The methodological development outline above is also based on better understanding of the expectations
of IFRS 9 for coverage through impairment of credit risk.
Consequently, this led to a significant increase at 31 December 2020 compared to the previous year
(totalling € 13.9 million, of which 12.5 was in bucket 2) in collective impairments for Sovereign exposures
held in the Dexia Crediop portfolio. This followed the placement in bucket 2 of most of the exposures
represented by mortgages granted to various counterparties for which debt service is the responsibility
of the Italian government.
Measuring expected losses
In the context of the current pandemic, the assumptions and estimates used to prepare the 2020
financial statements are different than the ones used at the end of 2019 and were already so as of the
preparation of the half-yearly financial report last 30 June.
In particular, the Dexia Group and, therefore, Dexia Crediop, reviewed the macroeconomic scenarios
underlying the Point in Time (PIT) and prospective measurements for the Probability of Default and Loss
Given Default models used to measure expected credit losses based on that established under IFRS 9.
Therefore, when preparing the annual financial statements, as occurred last 30 June, the Dexia Group
(including Dexia Crediop) adopted a “baseline” macroeconomic scenario based on the projections
published by the ECB and the Fed in June and September 2020. In a situation of heightened uncertainties
regarding developments in the health crisis, the most adverse elements of these two scenarios were
kept. A baseline scenario was prepared for various countries, including Italy.
The “base line” scenario is based on the assumption that a certain resurgence of contagion would be
seen in subsequent quarters, which would require partial containment measures until the point at which
a medical solution becomes available during 2021. The June macroeconomic situation is generally less
favourable than the September one. In the euro zone, it is expected that gross domestic product (GDP)
will decrease by 8.7% in 2020, followed by a 5.2% rise in 2021 and 3.3% in 2022. Outside the euro
zone, global GDP is likely to decrease by 4% in 2020, followed by a 6% increase in 2021 and 3.8% in
2022.
Additionally, the IFRS 9 approach establishes that the macroeconomic uncertainties seen in the
“baseline” scenario should be taken into account. Therefore, a difference of two standard deviations was
considered for the macroeconomic indicators on the basis of a three-year time horizon. This difference
was calibrated by comparing macroeconomic projects from previous years with the macroeconomic
developments actually observed. The consequent expected credit losses are therefore obtained by
weighing the “baseline” scenario against an “optimistic” and a “pessimistic” scenario, within this range
of uncertainty. Given that expected losses are globally more heavily impacted in the “pessimistic” scenario
compared to the “optimistic” scenario for the Dexia portfolio, taking account of the uncertainties in
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the “baseline” scenario translates globally to a net increase in impairment with respect to just the
“baseline” scenario.
In addition to the baseline scenario, in the context of the pandemic the ECB published an “optimistic”
and a “worst-case” scenario. These provide additional information on macroeconomic uncertainties. In
terms of sensitivity analysis, the “worst-case” scenario foresees reduced GDP growth equal to around
5% over three years, while the unemployment rate is expected to increase by 2%; the result (considering
that the ECB’s “worst-case” scenario is Dexia’s “baseline” scenario) is a significant increase in expected
credit loss (see below).
In addition to automatic classifications in bucket 2 linked to the revision of the macroeconomic scenarios
and the Significant Increase in Credit Risk (SICR), the Dexia Group (including Dexia Crediop) also revised
the “sensitive sectors”, adding new ones and extending the scope of existing ones. All counterparties
who risk negative impacts from the crisis were systematically classified within bucket 2.
In-depth analysis was also done of non-performing counterparties on a quarterly basis, to estimate the
consequences of the health crisis on their financial situations.
These factors are reflected in an increase of the bank’s final cost of risk, which amounts to € 69.8 million
at the end of 2020.
Impact of the pandemic on Dexia Crediop’s reference market: rescheduling of bank loans
The lockdown imposed to limit the spread of the virus had significant negative effects on the budgets
of local Italian authorities (that is a significant reduction in both fiscal and non-fiscal inflows with respect
to 2019).
In this context, various agreements were signed during 2020 to lighten the debt load on local entities,
by the Italian Ministry of Economy and Finance (MEF), Cassa Depositi e Prestiti and the ABI, as well as
by the two national associations of Italian municipalities and provinces (ANCI and UPI) and, finally, by
certain Italian banks.
While Dexia Crediop did not participate in these agreements, it nonetheless implemented a COVID
action plan to support its main clients, making use of bilateral agreements whenever there were signs of
lower financial flows caused by the epidemic. As part of this plan, 9 renegotiations were carried out with
6 major counterparties, for a total amount of around € 327 million, which led to the deferral of around
€ 34 million in capital payments due in 2020 and an increase in the average term of around one year.
In addition to restructuring bank loans, governments also adopted a series of measures to support the
economy, including by granting government-backed loans. Given its nature as a company being wound
up, Dexia Crediop is not authorised to grant new loans and, therefore, did not grant any guaranteed
loans.
As regards the aspects related to the quantification of impairments, IFRS 9 established a new evaluation
model based on expected losses, which replaced the IAS 39 incurred losses model. The scope of
application is financial assets measured at amortised cost, debt instruments measured at fair value
with offsetting in other comprehensive income, leasing contracts, financial guarantees issued and loan
commitments.
In this model, each financial instrument (with the exclusion of those originating or purchased as already
non-performing) is placed in one of the three buckets established by the standard, based on changes in
its credit risk starting from the initial evaluation:
Bucket 1: financial instruments that have not undergone a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition;
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Bucket 2: financial instruments that have undergone a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, but for which objective evidence of a loss of value does not exist;
Bucket 3: non-performing financial instruments.
For financial instruments with no objective evidence of impairment which must be allocated to buckets
1 or 2, Dexia has developed, as outline above, an approach based on both a qualitative and quantitative
test in order to assess a possible significant increase in credit risk with respect to the time the financial
instrument was initially acquired in the portfolio.
The quantitative test involves comparing through-the-cycle (TTC) PD on the original contract term at
the reference date and at the initial date. This change in PD is then compared to the PD for the original
duration of the contract on the start date. If the change exceeds an established threshold (200%), the
change in the PDs indicates a significant deterioration in credit risk, and the financial instrument must
be allocated to bucket 2.
Additionally, both accounting and prudential requirements allow the assumption that credit risk for a
financial instrument has not increased significantly since the time of initial recognition if it is determined
that the financial instrument has “low” credit risk as of the measurement date (Low Credit Risk Exemption
- LCRE).
IFRS 9, paragraph B5.5.22 24 indicates a low risk if “the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations”. An external rating of “investment grade” also indicates low credit
risk.
The qualitative part of the approach, based on forward-looking indicators for the counterparty, involves
assigning exposures which are closely monitored through the watchlist process to bucket 2, classified as
in forbearance1 or which are in a sensitive sector2 (see above).
Standard IFRS 9 indicates that, independent of the manner in which an entity measures significant
increases in credit risk, there is an assumption that credit risk for a financial asset increases significantly
relative to initial recognition when contractual payments are overdue for more than 30 days. Given the
characteristics of the Dexia portfolio and, in particular, the significant segment relative to the public
sector, administrative procedures may lead to delays in contractual payments. Therefore, for this type of
population, initial analysis is done to ensure that this delay is not due to administrative procedures and,
if not, all exceptions are analysed and documented individually.
The initial PD must not be changed and is determined only once for each exposure. Nonetheless, if
the contractual terms for a financial asset are restructured (or renegotiated or refinanced) and if this
restructuring involves derecognition pursuant to IFRS 9, the restructured asset is considered to be a new
asset. The relative test regarding a “significant increase in credit risk” is hence performed with respect
to the new features of the restructured asset, meaning the PD at the origination date is redetermined,
taking into account the rating of the counterparty at the restructuring date and the duration of the
restructured financial asset.
Finally, it should be noted that following the request made by Dexia SA to be authorised as of 31 March
2020 to cancel its initial decision to not apply the transitional provisions of IFRS 9 to Dexia Crediop,
pursuant to article 473 bis of Regulation EU 575/2013, intended to mitigate impacts on own funds of
1 The concept of forbearance refers to concessions guaranteed to counterparties facing financial difficulties.
2 “Sensitive sectors” are economic sectors which have high credit risk factors .
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credit institutions resulting from the adoption of IFRS 9 (impact of IFRS 9 impairment on CET1), the ECB
Executive Board decided to grant Dexia Crediop authorisation to: (i) amend its initial decision as above;
(ii) as of the same date, fully apply these transitional provisions.
Below are some details regarding the calculation of expected credit losses (ECL).
Calculating expected credit losses for financial instruments in buckets 1 or 2
Calculation of expected credit losses is a function of the probability of changes in ratings, of probability
of default (PD) and in Loss Given Default (LGD) and Exposure at Default (EAD) parameters. The probability
of changes in ratings, PD and LGD are “point in time” (PIT) and “predictions”, in the sense that they
take current and estimated future macroeconomic conditions into account. Dexia has developed internal
models based on segmentation of sectors, as well as models for the best estimate of average PD, changes
in ratings and LGD, constructed over a multi-year horizon, based on historical data.
These “best estimates” are adjusted to obtain the IFRS 9 PIT models for PD and LGD, which capture the
dependencies between the various macroeconomic variables and risk parameters and are constructed
statistically, looking for historical interrelationships. This approach makes it possible to project PD, rating
changes and LGD for any economic situation.
The probability of migration for the PIT rating, probability of default and LGD are regularly subjected to
backtesting on the basis of a specific Dexia internal policy.
Calculating expected credit losses for financial instruments in bucket 3
In this case, expected credit losses are defined based on the individual features of the exposure, mainly
on the basis of cash flow models, market price models or the value of the collateral. In certain marginal
cases, no loss may be forecast, especially when the value of collateral exceeds the value of the instrument.
When Dexia has no reasonable expectation of recovering a financial asset, either entirely or partially,
its gross book value is reduced. Therefore, Dexia’s policy is to recognise a loss in the income statement
following renunciation of the loan, which means that no further enforcement activities will be carried out.
3.4 Other significant impacts related to the COVID-19 epidemic
Temporary measures to loosen regulatory capital requirements for banks
As part of the strategies adopted to deal with the crisis caused by the COVID-19 epidemic, on 12 March
2020, the ECB announced measures to loosen capital requirements for SREP. This led to the loosening
of the capital conservation reserve and of additional capital (P2G - Pillar 2 Guidance). Consequently, the
capital requirement applicable to Dexia Crediop is 11.25% on a stand-alone basis, in contrast to the
14.75% initially communicated for 2020.
Additionally, on 18 June 2020, the European Parliament approved a series of temporary adjustments
to the capital requirement regulations (CRR Quick-Fix), allowing banks to mitigate the impact of the
COVID-19 pandemic on their regulatory capital. Transitional provisions allow for regulatory capital to be
adjusted for potential new expected credit losses identified in 2020 and 2021 pursuant to IFRS 9. For
Dexia Crediop, these transitional provisions translated to a positive impact of around € 31.6 million on
its CET1 at the end of 2020.
3.5 Credit risk mitigation techniques
As concerns operations in derivatives, the ISDA Master Agreement is accompanied by the Credit Support
Annex (CSA) for all banking counterparties: this collateralisation agreement minimises the credit risk
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through the regular (almost entirely daily, with a small residual amount weekly or monthly) exchange of
margins as a guarantee of the net value of the bilateral exposure.
The forms of real guarantees used are essentially pledges (mainly on securities) and much less frequently
mortgages on properties. The management of these guarantees is the task of the administrative and
legal COUs.
The counterparties offering personal guarantees are general banks and local or regional governments.
The credit risk of these counterparties is assessed on the basis of the external and internal ratings
attributed to them.
The use of credit derivatives is not normally adopted as a mitigation technique, although it is permissible.
Since lending activities were mainly aimed at the domestic public sector, the majority of guarantees
backing loans consist of the issue of payment notes issued by local entities or the debt service provided
by the Italian State.
4. Non- performing loans exposure
4.1 Management strategies and policies
Dexia Crediop has issued specific rules governing the treatment of non-performing loans and actions to
be taken in order to manage such loans so as to ensure that the procedures aimed at a positive outcome
are implemented correctly.
These rules define the general guidelines within which the individual organisational units treat this
subject within the scope of their own responsibilities.
The various conditions of each non-performing loan have been classified within the scope of an internal
watchlist consisting of four categories with an ascending scale of seriousness:
• watchlist exposures;
• impaired past-due and/or over-the-limit exposures;
• unlikely to pay;
• non-performing loans.
The Default Watchlist Coordinating Committee is responsible for examining the non-performing
positions and proposes, in particular:
• their classification in one of the four categories;
• the adoption of impairments referring to the exposures of bucket 3;
• analysis of impairments for buckets 1 and 2, periodically quantified at a Dexia Group level, on the basis
of the IFRS 9 impairment model, based on expected losses.
Transactions previously included in the default/watchlist categories are re-classified as “performing” when
the counterparty emerges from a situation of economic/financial difficulty and returns to making all
payments regularly as before.
Note that Dexia Crediop’s activities have never involved the execution of operations to purchase impaired
loans falling within the IFRS 9 category of Purchased or Originated Credit-Impaired (POCI).
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5. Financial assets subject to commercial renegotiation and exposures with forbearance
measures
In line with the Dexia Group’s objectives and its orderly resolution plan, proactive management of the
loan portfolio is limited solely to operations that provide a reduction in risks and/or simplification of the
rate structure in order to transform positions to plain vanilla (fixed or variable rate).
In this context, special attention is paid to managing relationships with customers in order to implement
these renegotiations in line with the stated goals.
For details regarding 2020 transactions, please see paragraph 3 – “Operating Trends” in the Report on
Operations.
That being established, Dexia had determined the accounting standards applicable to loan restructuring
in compliance with paragraph B3.3.6 of IFRS 9, relative to restructuring of financial liabilities.
Restructured and modified financial assets
When financial assets are restructured, each one is considered individually. Changes in the contract
involve changes in the originally foreseen future cash flows.
The criteria used for recognising restructured and modified loans and early repayments differs based
on whether the results of the restructuring are “substantially diverse” with respect to the original
contractual conditions as established.
A “substantial change” in the terms of an existing financial asset is recognised as the repayment of the
original financial asset and a new financial asset is simultaneously recognised.
To determine whether the terms for an asset after restructuring can be considered as substantially
different from a qualitative point of view, the following factors are considered (other factors may also
be considered):
• the currency of the debt instrument;
• the interest rate;
• the conversion features associated with the instrument;
• changes in covenants;
• a change in counterparty.
Additionally, based on paragraph B.3.3.6 of IFRS 9, Dexia holds that terms are “substantially different”
when the current net value of cash flows based on the new conditions, including any fees paid net of
fees received, differs from the current net value of residual cash flows for the original asset by at least
10%.
When the change does not involve derecognition, any difference between contractual cash flows
discounted at the original effective interest rate and the current gross accounting value of a financial
assets is immediately recognised through profit and loss.
Restructuring or changes to a financial asset may lead to a substantial change in the terms and conditions,
which would lead to the derecognition of the original financial asset. The indemnity received against
early repayment is immediately recognised through profit and loss. A new financial asset is recognised
at fair value plus admissible transaction costs (even if the asset is classified and measured at amortised
cost in subsequent periods).
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Exposures with forbearance measures
Exposures with forbearance measures (“forborne exposures”) are restructured contracts to which
forbearance measures have been applied.
Forbearance measures involve concessions granted to a debtor who is facing or is about to face difficulties
in respecting their financial commitments (in other words, forbearance involves counterparties dealing
with “financial difficulties”).
Restructured contracts are classified as either:
• Renegotiated: renegotiation implies a change in the previous contract terms and conditions;
• Refinanced: this implies the use of new debt to ensure the full or partial replacement of the preexisting debt.
That being established, relative to Dexia Crediop, at 31 December 2020, the financial statements include
11 transactions classified as forborne for a total of approximately € 31.6 million in terms of EAD, in the
local entities and project finance segments.
These transactions, specifically with regards to local entities involved, consisted in renegotiations of
existing loans or securities for which counterparties indicated the need to deal with a reduction in
revenue caused by the COVID crisis, requesting restructuring which would allow for a reduction in
principal payments during 2020. For the Project Finance sector, this involved a loan which had been
granted several concessions in the past based on internal and external events which altered original credit
quality. This latter position is classified as in default on the basis of the internal Dexia IRBA Advanced
ratings model and is also subject to specific impairment for a part of the existing exposure. Therefore,
for the purposes of calculating ECLs, it is classified in bucket 3.
In reference to the calculation methodologies for the above ECLs, please see the sections “Calculating
expected credit losses for financial instruments in buckets 1 and 2” and “Calculating expected credit
losses for financial instruments in bucket 3”.
As noted above (see the section on “Measuring expected losses”), Dexia Crediop did not participate in
any of the economic support measures implemented by the government and trade associations.
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Quantitative information					

A. Credit quality

				

A.1 Impaired and performing loan exposure: amounts, value adjustments, trends,
economic distribution
A.1.1 Distribution of financial assets by portfolio and credit quality (book values)
		

		
thousands of euro

Portfolio/Quality

Nonperforming
loans

1. Financial assets measured at amortised cost

Unlikely
to pay
47,070

Past due
impaired
exposures

Past due not
impaired
exposures

3,776

Other not
impaired
exposures

Total

15,707,456 15,758,302

2. Financial assets measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income

145,203

145,203

152,211

152,211

3. Financial assets designated at fair value
through profit and loss
4. Other financial assets mandatorily measured
at fair value through profit and loss
5. Financial instruments classified as held for sale
Total 31/12/2020

47,070

3,776

16,004,870 16,055,716

Total 31/12/2019

55,401

3,775

16,518,252 16,577,428

				
A.1.1a Distribution of loans with COVID-19 support measures by portfolio and credit quality
(book values) 				
thousands of euro

Portfolio/Quality
A. Financial assets measured
at amortised cost

Non
performing
loans

Unlikely
to pay

Past due
impaired
exposures

Past due not
impaired
exposures

Other not
impaired
exposures
304,580

A.1 with forbearance measures
in accordance with GL
A.2 with other forbearance measures

197,856

A.3 new loans

106,724

B. Financial assets measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income
B.1 with forbearance measures
in accordance with GL
B.2 with other forbearance measures
B.3 new loans
Total (T)
Total (T-1)
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304,580

Total

A.1.2 Distribution of financial assets by portfolio and credit quality (gross and net values)
thousands of euro

Impaired
Portfolio/Quality

Gross
exposure

1. Financial assets
measured at
amortised cost

Performing

Specific
Net
writedowns exposure

63,854

13,008

Overall
partial
write-offs*

50,846

Gross
exposure

Portfolio
writedowns

15,755,740

2. Financial assets
measured at fair
value through other
comprehensive
income
3. Financial assets
designated at fair
value through profit
and loss
4. Other financial assets
mandatorily measured
at fair value through
profit and loss

Total
(net
exposure)

Net
exposure

48,284 15,707,456

145,422

219

X

X

X

X

15,758,302

145,203

145,203

152,211

152,211

5. Financial instruments
classified as held
for sale
Total 31/12/2020

63,854

13,008

50,846

15,901,162

48,503 16,004,870

16,055,716

Total 31/12/2019

70,589

11,413

59,176

16,232,071

19,662 16,518,252

16,577,428

thousands of euro

Assets with obvious low credit quality
Portfolio/Quality

Accumulated Capital
Losses

1. Financial assets held for trading

Net exposure

3,653

Other Assets
Net exposure

25,756

852,687

2. Hedging derivatives

107,203

Total 31/12/2020

3,653

25,756

959,890

Total 31/12/2019

158

19,023

984,048

* Value shown for information purposes.

				
A.1.3 Distribution of financial assets by range of overdue amounts (book values)
		

		
thousands of euro

First stage

Portfolios/Stages of risk

Second stage

Third stage

From
From
From 1 From 1
From 1 over 30
From 1 over 30
up to 90
up to 90
up to 90
day to 30 day to 30
day to 30 days up
day to 30 days up
days
days
days
days
days
to 90
days
to 90
days
days
days
1. Financial assets measured at
amortised cost

15,657

13,329

51,256

Total 31/12/2020

15,657

13,329

51,256

Total 31/12/2019

9,257

2. Financial assets measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income
3. Financial instruments classified
as held for sale

3,775

60,167
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A.1.4 Financial assets, loans commitments and financial guarantees given: trend of total value
adjustments and total provisions 		
thousands of euro

Total provisions
on loans
commitments
and financial
guarantees given

Reasons/Stages of risk
Overall value adjustments

Opening balance
Increases in acquired or
originated financial assets

277
4

277 19,529

1,371

Contract changes without
cancellations

Third stage

Total

6

Second stage

First stage

of which: collective write-downs

of which: acquired or originated impaired loans

of which: specific write-downs

Financial assets measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income

19,529 11,269

11,269

426 6,127 37,634

(199)

(199)

(199)

1,820

1,820

1 (303) 2,042 32,344

4

Cancellations other than
write-offs
Net adjustments for credit
risk (+/-)

Financial assets measured at amortized cost

of which: collective write-downs

of which: specific write-downs

Financial assets measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income

Activities falling within Activities falling within
the second stage
the third stage
Financial assets measured at amortized cost

of which: collective write-downs

of which: specific write-downs

Financial assets measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income

Financial assets measured at amortized cost

Activities falling
under the first stage

1,371 27,413

27,413

27

27

27

Changes in estimation
methodology

-

Write-off
Other variations
Closing balance

1,652

1,652 46,969

46,969 12,890

12,890

7

123 8,169 69,810

Recoveries from financial
assets subject to write-off
Write-off recognised directly in
profit or loss

“Cancellations other than write-offs” for stage 3 refer to the amount collected in 2020 for impairment
in the financial statements recorded for the financing of the Municipality of Taranto.
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A.1.5 Financial assets, loans commitments and financial guarantees given: transfers between risk
stages (gross and nominal values)
thousands of euro

Portfolios/Risk stages

1. Financial assets valued at amortized cost
2. Financial assets measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income
3. Financial instruments classified as held for sale
4. Loans commitments and financial
guarantees given
Total 31/12/2020
Total 31/12/2019

Gross values/nominal values
Transfers between first Transfers between sec- Transfers between first
ond and third stage
and third stage
and second stage
From the
From first From second From second From third
From first
stage
stage to
stage to first stage to third
stage to
stage to third third
to the first
second stage
stage
stage
second stage
stage
stage
49,610
188,991

49,610
927,689

188,991
143,176

A.1.5a Loans with COVID-19 support measures: transfers between risk stages (gross and nominal
values) 						
thousands of euro

Portfolios/Risk stages

Gross values/nominal values
Transfers between first Transfers between Transfers between first
and second stage
second and third stage
and third stage
From third
From the
From
From
Transfers
From
stage to
third stage
second
first
between
second
stage to
stage to
second
stage to to the first
first and
third stage
stage
stage
third stage first stage third stage

A. Financial assets valued at amortized cost
A.1 with forbearance measures in accordance with GL
A.2 with other forbearance measures
A.3 news loans
B. Financial assets measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income
B.1 with forbearance measures in accordance with GL
B.2 with other forbearance measures
B.3 news loans
Total 31/12/2020
Total 31/12/2019

13,183
13,183

13,183

A.1.6 Cash and off-balance sheet credit exposures to banks: gross and net values
thousands of euro

Type of exposures/Amounts

Gross exposure
Impaired

A. CASH EXPOSURES
a) Non-performing loans
- of which: exposures with forbearance measures
b) Unlikely to pay
- of which: exposures with forbearance measures
c) Past due impaired exposures
- of which: exposures with forbearance measures
d) Past due not impaired exposures
- of which: exposures with forbearance measures
e) Other not impaired exposures
- of which: exposures with forbearance measures
Total A
B. OFF-BALANCE-SHEET EXPOSURE
a) Impaired
b) Performing
Total B
Total A+B

Performing

Total value
adjustments
and provisions

Net
exposure

Overall
partial
write-offs*

X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X

3,401,071

13,492

3,387,579

-

3,401,071

13,492

3,387,579

-

X
3,611,287
3,611,287
7,012,358

13,492

3,611,287
3,611,287
6,998,866

X
-

* Value shown for information purposes.
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A.1.7 Cash and off-balance sheet credit exposures to customers: gross and net values
thousands of euro

Types of exposures/Values

Gross exposure
Impaired

Performing

Total value
adjustments
and provisions

Overall
partial
write-offs*

Net
exposure

A. CASH EXPOSURE
a) Non-performing loans

963

X

963

-

X

12,043

47,070

1,740

X

721

1,019

3,778

X

2

3,776

12,634,356

- of which: exposures with forbearance measures
b) Unlikely to pay
- of which: exposures with forbearance measures
c) Past due impaired exposures

X
59,113

- of which: exposures with forbearance measures
d) Past due not impaired exposures
- of which: exposures with forbearance measures
e) Other not impaired exposures
- of which: exposures with forbearance measures
Total A

X
X
X
X

12,669,367

35,011

X

46,898

15

46,883

12,669,367

48,019

12,685,202

8,169

12,255

63,854

B. OFF-BALANCE-SHEET EXPOSURE
a) Impaired
a) Performing
Total B
Total A+B
				

20,424

X

X

814,458

20,424

814,458

8,169

814,458
826,713

84,278

13,483,825

56,188

13,511,915

* Value shown for information purposes.

A.1.7a Cash credit exposures to customers with COVID-19 support measures: gross and net values		
			
thousands of euro

Types of exposures/Values

Gross
exposure

Total value
adjustments
and provisions

Net
exposure

A. CREDIT EXPOSURES NON PERFORMING
a) With forbearance measures in accordance with GL
b) With other forbearance measures
c) New loans
B. CREDIT EXPOSURES UNLIKELY TO PAY
a) With forbearance measures in accordance with GL
b) With other forbearance measures
c) New loans
C) CREDIT EXPOSURES PAST DUE IMPAIRED
a) With forbearance measures in accordance with GL
b) With other forbearance measures
c) New loans
D) EXPOSURES PAST DUE NOT IMPAIRED
a) With forbearance measures in accordance with GL
b) With other forbearance measures
c) New loans
E) OTHER EXPOSURES NOT IMPAIRED

321,823

178

321,645

b) With other forbearance measures

215,095

174

214,921

c) New loans

106,728

4

106,724

321,823

178

321,645

a) With forbearance measures in accordance with GL

Total (A+B+C+D+E)
			
* Value shown for information purposes.
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Overall
partial
write-offs*

A.1.9 Cash credit exposures to customers: trend of gross impaired exposures
thousands of euro

Reasons/Categories

Non-performing
loans

A. Gross initial exposure

Unlikely
to pay

Impaired past
due exposures

1,162

65,649

3,778

199

6,536

-

199

6,536

963

59,113

- of which: loans sold but not derecognized
B. Increases
B.1 transfers from performing exposures
B.2 transfers from acquired or originated impaired financial assets
B.3 transfers from other categories of impaired exposures
B.4 contractual changes without cancellations
B.5 other increasing variations
C. Decreases
C.1 transfers to performing exposures
C.2 write-off
C.3 collections
C.4 disposals
C.5 losses on disposals
C.6 transfers to other non-performing exposures categories
C.7 contractual changes without cancellations
C.8 other decreases
D. Gross closing exposure

3,778

- of which: loans sold but not derecognized

A.1.9 bis Cash credit exposures to customers: trend of gross exposures with forbearance measures
by credit quality
thousands of euro

Reasons/Categories

Exposures with
forbearance measures:
impaired

A. Gross initial exposure

Exposures with
forbearance measures:
performing

1,870

-

- of which: loans sold but not derecognized
B. Increases

51,144

B.1 transfers from performing exposures without forbearance measures

51,144

B.2 transfers from performing exposures with forbearance measures
B.3 transfers from non performing exposures with forbearance measures

X
X

B.4 transfers from non performing exposures without forbearance measures
B.5 other increases
C. Decreases
C.1 transfers to performing exposures without forbearance measures

130

4,246

130

4,246

1,740

46,898

X

C.2 transfers to performing exposures with forbearance measures
C.3 transfers to non performing exposures with forbearance measures

X

C.4 write-off
C.5 collections
C.6 disposals
C.7 losses on disposals
C.8 other decreases
D. Gross closing exposure
- of which: loans sold but not derecognized
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A.1.11 Impaired cash loan exposures to customers: trend of overall value adjustments
thousands of euro

Reasons/Categories

Non-performing loans

Total
A. Total initial adjustments

Of which:
exposures with
forbearance
measures

1,162

Past due impaired
exposures

Unlikely to pay
Of which:
exposures with
forbearance
measures

Total

Of which:
exposures with
forbearance
measures

Total

10,248

606

3

1,894

114

-

- of which: loans sold but not
derecognized
B. Increases
B.1 value adjustments for impaired
financial assets acquired
or originated

X

B.2 other value adjustments

X
1,894

X
114

B.3 losses on disposal
B.4 transfers from other categories
of impaired exposures
B.5 contractual changes without
cancellations

X

X

X

B.6 other increasing variations
C. Decreases

199

C.1 writebacks from valuations
C.2 writebacks from collections

99

1

99

1

199

C.3 gains from disposal
C.4 write-off
C.5 transfers to other categories
of impaired exposures
C.6 contract changes without
cancellations

X

X

X

C.7 other decreasing variations
D. Total final adjustments
- of which: loans sold but
not derecognized
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963

12,043

720

2

A.2 Classification of financial assets, loans commitments and financial guarantees given
according to external and internal ratings

					
A.2.1 Distribution of financial assets, loans commitments and financial guarantees given
according to external ratings (gross amounts)
thousands of euro

Exposure

External rating classes
class 1

class 2

class 3

class 4

class 5

class 6

Without
rating

Total

A. Financial assets
measured at amortized
cost

710,409

2,106,299

7,957,744

2,859,004

2,288

2,183,850

15,819,594

- First stage

710,409

1,872,084

6,710,353

7,237

2,288

1,750,680

11,053,051

234,215

1,247,391

2,851,767

381,278

4,714,651

51,892

51,892

- Second stage
- Third stage
B. Financial assets
measured at fair
value through other
comprehensive income

145,422

145,422

145,422

145,422

- First stage
- Second stage
- Third stage
C. Loans commitments
and financial guarantees
given
- First stage
- Second stage
- Third stage
Total (A+B+C)

710,409

2,106,299

8,103,166

2,859,004

2,183,850

15,965,016

D. Loans commitments
and financial guarantees
given

176,472

126,428

3,536,471

444,273

162,525

4,446,169

- First stage

176,472

126,428

3,523,976

444,273

142,101

4,413,250

of which: acquired or
originated impaired loans

- Second stage

12,495

12,495

- Third stage

20,424

Total D

176,472

Total (A + B + C + D)

886,881

126,428

20,424

3,536,471

444,273

162,525

4,446,169

2,232,727 11,639,637

3,303,277

2,346,375

20,408,897

The exposure considered is that of the financial statements included in the tables above A.1.2, A.1.6
and A.1.7. The external rating classes adopted to complete the table are those used by Standard&Poor’s,
Moody’s and Fitch. Given that several external ratings are assigned, the criteria adopted in making the
choice is that established by the Bank of Italy, namely where there are two ratings, the worst is used,
where there are three ratings the two best are identified, and, if these differ, the worse of the two is
chosen. In order to breakdown according to ratings classes, a summary table has been used to convert
the classification envisaged by the various different ratings companies to the credit standing classes.
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A.2.2 Distribution of financial assets, loans commitments and financial guarantees given
according to internal ratings (gross amounts)
thousands of euro

Exposure

Internal rating classes
AAA / AA-

A. Financial assets
measured at amortized
cost
- First stage
- Second stage
- Third stage
B. Financial assets
measured at fair
value through other
comprehensive income
- First stage
- Second stage
- Third stage
C. Loans commitments
and financial guarantees
given
- First stage
- Second stage
- Third stage
Total (A+B+C)

A+ / A-

BBB+/BBB-

BB+/B-

D1 / D2

916,657

2,059,111

5,601,710

7,190,220

916,657

2,052,361
6,750

4,802,289
799,421

3,281,740
3,908,480

Without
rating

51,892

Total
4

15,819,594

4

11,053,051
4,714,651
51,892

51,892

of which: acquired or
originated impaired loans
D. Loans commitments
and financial guarantees
given
- First stage
- Second stage
- Third stage
Total D
Total (A + B + C + D)

145,422

145,422

145,422

145,422

145,422

145,422

916,657

2,059,111

5,747,132

7,190,220

51,892

176,472

3,667

3,538,147

698,362

29,521

176,472

3,667

3,525,650
12,497

698,362

9,097

176,472
1,093,129

3,667
2,062,778

3,538,147
9,285,279

698,362
7,888,582

20,424
29,521
81,413

15,965,016

-

4,446,169

-

4,413,248
12,497
20,424
4,446,169
20,411,185

A.3 Distribution of secured credit exposures accoridng to type of guarantee
A.3.2 Secured cash and off-balance sheet credit exposures to customers
thousands of euro

Personal guarantee (2)

1. Secured cash loan
1,332,538 1,314,733
exposure:
1.1 fully secured
1,181,403 1,163,765
- of which impaired
54,891
42,890
1.2 partially secured
151,135
150,967
- of which impaired
2. Secured off-balance
sheet loan exposure:
2.1 fully secured
- of which impaired
2.2 partially secured
- of which impaired
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Total (1)+(2)

Other subjects

Other financial corporations

Unsecured loans

Banks

CLN
Central counterparties
Banks
Other financial
corporations

Other subjects

Other
derivatives

General governments

Loan derivatives

Other collateral guarantee

Securities

Properties - mortgages

-

Properties - financial leases

Net exposure

Gross exposure

Collateral
guarantee (1)

15,050 104,466

576,900 733,363

11,923 1,441,702

15,050 104,466
- 19,807

576,149 456,177
23,083
750 277,187

11,923 1,163,765
42,890
277,937

-

-

B. Distribution and concentration of credit exposures
				

B.1 Distribution of on and off-balance sheet customer loan exposure according to sector
thousands of euro

Non-financial
corporations

Total value
adjustments

Net exposure

Householdes

Total value
adjustments

Net exposure

Net exposure

Total value
adjustments

Net exposure

Total value
adjustments

Financial corporations (of
which: insurance
corporations)

Financial
corporations

Total value
adjustments

Exposure/Counterparties

Net exposure

General
governments

A. Cash credit exposure
A.1 Non-performing loans

-

-

-

-

-

963

-

-

3,358

-

43,712

12,043

1,019

720

- of which: exposures
with forbearance
measures
A.2 Unlikely to pay
- of which: exposures
with forbearance
measures
A.3 Past due impaired
exposures

3,776

2

-

11,328,282

31,600

930,917

919

375,155

2,492

11,332,058

31,602

934,275

919

418,867

15,498

12,254

8,169

38,666

-

- of which: exposures
with forbearance
measures
A.4 Not impaired exposures
- of which: exposures
with forbearance
measures
Total (A)
B. Off-balance sheet credit
exosure
B.1 Impaired exposures
B.2 Performing exposures
Total (B)

582,857

192,936

582,857

-

192,936

-

50,920

8,169

Total (A+B) 31/12/2020

11,914,915

31,602

1,127,211

919

469,787

23,667

Total (A+B) 31/12/2019

12,423,951

16,173

1,078,020

163

689,576

19,294
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B.2 Distribution of on and off-balance sheet customer loan exposure according to
area
thousands of euro

Other European
countries

Italy
Exposure/
Geographical area

Net
exposure

America

Asia

Rest of the world

Total
Net
Total
Net
Total
Net
Total
Net
Total
adjustments exposure adjustments exposure adjustments exposure adjustments exposure adjustments

A. Cash credit
exposure
A.1 Non- performing
loans

0

963

0

0

A.2 Unlikely to pay

47,070

12,043

0

0

A.3 Past due
impaired exposures

3,776

2

0

0

A.4 Performing
exposures

12,224,632

35,010 409,723

1

Total (A)

12,275,478

48,018 409,723

1

B. Off-balance sheet
credit exposure
B.1 Impaired
exposures

12,254

B.2 Performing
exposures

691,698

Total (B)

703,952

8,169
122,761
8,169

122,761

Total (A+B)
31/12/2020

12,979,430

56,187 409,723

1 122,761

Total (A+B)
31/12/2019

13,730,804

35,630 463,432

0

54,311

Breakdown according to geographic area of relations with customers residing in Italy
thousands of euro

North West Italy
Exposure/ Geographical
area

Net
exposure

North East Italy

Total
adjustments

Net
exposure

Central Italy

Total
adjustments

Net
exposure

Italy - South and Island

Total
adjustments

Net
exposure

Total
adjustments

A. Cash credit exposure
A.1 Non-performing loans

0

0

8,069

115

0

0

A.4 Performing exposures

3,061,186

2,450

1,255,499

Total (A)

3,069,255

2,565

1,260,543

A.2 Unlikely to pay
A.3 Past due impaired
exposures

963
5,044

30,599

11,927

3,358

3,776

2

2,629

6,027,488

27,543

1,880,459

2,388

2,629

6,061,863

39,472

1,883,817

3,351

12,254

8,169

B. Off-balance sheet credit
exposure
B.1 Impaired exposures
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B.2 Performing exposures

422,104

Total (B)

422,104

0

52,552

0

97,755

8,169

131,541

0

Total (A+B) 31/12/2020

3,491,359

2,565

1,313,095

2,629

6,159,618

47,641

2,015,358

3,351

Total (A+B) 31/12/2019

3,606,789

1,342

1,393,891

2,090

6,698,787

29,102

2,031,338
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52,552

85,501

131,541

B.3 Distribution of on and off-balance sheet bank loan exposure according to area
thousands of euro

Exposure/
Geographical
area

Other European
countries

Italy

America

Asia

Rest of the world

Net
Total
Net
Total
Net
Total
Net
Total
Net
Total
exposure adjustments exposure adjustments exposure adjustments exposure adjustments exposure adjustments

A. Cash credit
exposure
A.1 Non- performing
loans
A.2 Unlikely to pay
A.3 Past due impaired
exposures
A.4 Performing
exposures
Total (A)

252,687

13,492 2,916,847

1

218,040

4

252,687

13,492 2,916,847

1

218,040

4

3,431,148

180,139
180,139

0

0

0

3,683,835

13,492 3,096,986

1

218,040

4

417,197

1,572 2,819,108

207,983

4

B. Off-balance sheet
credit exposure
B.1 Impaired exposures
B.2 Performing
exposures
Total (B)
Total (A+B)
31/12/2020
Total (A+B)
31/12/2019

3,431,148

0

Breakdown according to geographic area of relations with banks residing in Italy
thousands of euro

North West Italy
Exposure/
Geographical area

North East Italy

Central Italy

Italy - South and Island

Net
Total
Net
Total
Net
Total
exposure adjustments exposure adjustments exposure adjustments

Net
exposure

Total
adjustments

A. Cash credit exposure
A.1 Non- performing loans
A.2 Unlikelytopay
A.3 Past due impaired exposures
A.4 Performing exposures

179,264

73,423

13,491

Total (A)

179,264

0

73,423

13,491

91,645

2,646

3,336,857

B. Off-balance sheet credit
exposure
B.1 Impaired exposures
B.2 Performing exposures
Total (B)

91,645

2,646

3,336,857

0

Total (A+B) 31/12/2020

270,909

2,646

3,410,280

13,491

Total (A+B) 31/12/2019

284,917

2,543

129,737

1,572

B.4 Large exposure
The information in relation to Large exposure is provided considering the changes made to prudential
regulations on risk concentration.
a) Exposure (book value)
b) Weighted (weithed value)
c) Number

19,462,369

thousands of euro

1,567,731

thousands of euro

26
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C. Securitisation transactions

Qualitative information
The section does not include securitisations where all the liabilities issued by the vehicle company (e.g. ABS
securities) are subscribed at the issue by the bank originator.
C.2 Exposure resulting from securitization transactions Main “Third Party“
by type of securitized asset and by type of exposure

A.1
- Non-residential
mortgage loans
A.2
- Other
A.3
- Leasing
A.4
- Other assets
A.5
- Other non-per-forming loans

Impairment/
Writebacks

Net exposure

Impairment/
Writebacks

Net exposure

Impairment/
Writebacks

Impairment/
Writebacks

Net exposure

Impairment/
Writebacks

Net exposure

Impairment/
Writebacks

Credit lines
Senior Mezzanine Junior
Net exposure

thousands of euro

Guarantees given
Senior Mezzanine Junior
Net exposure

Book value

Impairment/
Writebacks

Impairment/
Writebacks

Book value

Book value

Type of underlying assets/
Exposure

Impairment/
Writebacks

Cash exposure
Senior
Mezzanine Junior

439,301 916

E. Sales transactions
A. Financial assets sold but not fully derecognized
Qualitative and Quantitative Information
E.1 Financial assets sold and fully recognised and associated financial liabilities: book value
thousands of euro

Financial assets sold and fully recognised

Associated financial liabilities

Of which:
Of which: subject
subject to to sale agreement
Of which
Book value securitisation
with repurchase nonperforming Book value
transaction
obligation
A. Financial assets held for trading
X
1. Debt securties
2. Equity instruments
3. Loans
4. Derivative instrument
B. Other financial assets
mandatorily measured at fair
value through profit and loss
1. Debt securties
2. Equity instruments
3. Loans
C. Financial assets designated at
fair value through profit and loss
1. Debt securties
2. Loans
D. Financial assets measured
at fair value through other
comprehensive income
1. Debt securties
2. Equity instruments
3. Loans
E. Financial assets measured at
amortised cost
1. Debt securties

X
X
X
X

X

X

6,488,927

2. Loans
Total 31/12/2020
Total 31/12/2019
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5,024,728

6,488,927
6,488,927
6,766,093

5,024,728
5,024,728
5,243,225

Of which:
Of which: subject
subject to
to sale agreement
securitisation with repurchase
transaction
obligation

E.3 Sale transactions with liabilities associeated exclusively to sold assets sold and not fully
derecognised: fair value
thousands of euro

Fully
recognised

Partially
recognised

Total
31/12/2020

31/12/2019

5,718,960

5,718,960

5,750,840

5,718,960

5,718,960

5,750,840

Total associated financial assets

5,718,960

5,718,960

5,750,840

Total associated financial assets

5,024,728

A. Financial assets held for trading
1. Debt securties
2. Equity instruments
3. Loans
4. Derivative instruments
B. Other financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value
through profit and loss
1. Debt securties
2. Equity instruments
3. Loans
C. Financial assets designated at fair value through profit and loss
1. Debt securties
2. Loans
D. Financial assets measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income
1. Debt securties
2. Equity instruments
3. Loans
E. Financial assets at amortised cost
1. Debt securties
2. Loans

Total 31/12/2020

694,232

Total 31/12/2019

507,615

X
694,232
X

X
X
507,615
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Section 2 – Market risks
2.1 – Interest rate and price risks - Regulatory trading book
INTEREST RATE RISK
Qualitative information
A. General aspects
The portfolio consists exclusively of derivative products (mainly back to back Interest Rate Swaps (IRS))
with an original maturity exceeding one year and back to back swap, for which the interest rate risk is
generated by the running net interest.
Paired derivatives with balanced intermediation, which make up the “Structuring” area, are typically
composed of a derivative with client (not the subject of collateralisation agreements) and a derivative
of the opposite sign with primary market counterparty, hedged by a contract of cash collateral of the
“CSA” type.
The underlying operation, no longer active due to the run-off situation, was for the most part relative
to medium/long-term debt management represented by loans or securities, of public customers, and
marginally on the sale of derivative products to financial customers and Corporate.
In both cases, the interest rate risk was precisely covered by derivatives of the opposite sign traded on
the market.
Impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic
Given the particular composition of the portfolio described above (balanced brokering), no significant
impacts on market risk due to Covid-19 were identified.
B. Management and measurement methods of interest rate risk
The interest rate risk is managed by the CLM & Market Execution organisational unit and is subject to
daily monitoring at local level by Market Risk and at a consolidated level by the structure
Financial Market Risk allocated at the parent company.
The main interest rate risk indicators measured are the following:
• Shift sensitivity of fair value;
• Value at Risk (VaR).
The shift sensitivity of fair value quantifies the change in the portfolio value consequent to parallel and
instantaneous increases of the market interest rates curve.
The VaR is defined as the maximum potential loss caused by possible adverse movements in market
interest rates, with reference to a confidence level of 99% and a holding period of ten working days.
Periodic scenario analysis are also carried out to measure the impact on the value of the portfolios
caused by a series of instantaneous shocks on market interest rates.
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PRICE RISK
The portfolio is not exposed to price risk.
Quantitative information
1. Regulatory banking book: distribution according to residual maturity (re-pricing date) of
financial assets and cash liabilities and financial derivatives
Currency of instruments: Euro

Type/Residual maturity

thousands of euro

On
demand

Up to 3
months

Between
3 and 6
months

Between
6 months
and 1
year

Between
1 year
and 5
years

Between
5 and 10
years

More
than 10
years

Unspecified
term

1. Cash assets
1.1 Debt securities
- with early
redemption option
- others
1.2 Other assets
2. Cash liabilities
2.1 Repurchase agreements
2.2 Other liabilities
3. Financial derivatives
3.1 With underlying security
- Options
+ long positions
+ short positions
- Other derivatives
+ long positions
+ short positions
3.2 Without underlying
security
- Options
+ long positions
+ short positions
- Other derivatives
+ long positions

-

375,736

2,774,151

225,666

550,699

368,646

2,996,107

+ short positions

732,366

302,368

3,616,716

253,869

567,806

406,879

1,411,001
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3. Regulatory trading book - internal models and other sensitivity analysis methods
At 31 December 2020, a global sensitivity shift was recorded in the Structuring area equal to € 4,900 per
1 bp against an operating limit set at € 80,000 and a VAR of € 0.1 million, compared to an operating
limit set at € 0.2 million. Both indicators, as well as all those related to the sub-limits for curves, pillars
and currency set for sensitivity, have remained constantly below the limits during the year.
The internal model is not used to calculate the capital requirements for market risks.

2.2 – Interest rate risk and price risk – Banking book
INTEREST RATE RISK
Qualitative information
A. General aspects, management and measurement methods of interest rate risk
The exposure to short-term interest-rate risk (usually below one year) of the banking book, generated in
particular by the fixing of the Euribor parameter to which the bank’s floating rate financial assets and
liabilities are typically indexed or synthetically transformed, is managed by the CLM & Market Execution
organisational unit, within the Cash and Liquidity Management (CLM) area. Operating proposals for
opening or closing the interest rate risk are discussed and approved by the Finance Committee, which
evaluates expected impacts on the use of the fixed operating and risk limits.
Exposure to medium/long-term fixed rate interest rate risk is generated by mismatching between
financial assets and liabilities with an original maturity of more than a year (including the conventional
fixed rate liability represented by shareholders’ equity) and the relative hedging derivatives (“ALM
Rate”segment). At the end of December 2020, this exposure was residual, at 0.3 million of sensitivity
per 100 bp (up to a limit of e 15 million). Every operating proposal aimed at managing the interest rate
risk, is approved by the Finance Committee based on interventions presented by Financial Control.
Activities to measure and control market risks are assigned to Market Risk (within CLM) and to
Financial Control (within ALM Rate). They calculate risk indicators verifying whether the
operating limits set are respected.
For interest rate risk, fair value or cash flow hedging derivatives are used. The most commonly used
instruments are Overnight Indexed Swaps (within “CLM”) Interest Rate Swaps (within “Rate ALM”).
Impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic
The sole (indirect) effect worthy of note is the heavy volatility of short-term rates during 2020, which
partially contributed to the exceeding of the VaR limit seen in the CLM area (see herein, paragraph
Banking book - internal models and other sensitivity analysis methods).
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PRICE RISK
Qualitative information
A. General aspects, management and measurement of price risk
The banking portfolio is exposed to price risk relative to equity securities classified among financial assets
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income.
The item include the equity investment in the Istituto per il Credito Sportivo for which the fair value
was measured on the basis of the portion of shareholders’ equity attributed by the new articles of
association, issued with a combined ministerial decree on 24 January 2014 and published in the Official
Journal on 19 April 2014. As indicated in the section on judicial procedures in course, this measurement
does not in any constitute acquiescence with respect to the “forced” reduction of the equity investment
made by the new Articles of Association subject to disputes in course.
B. Price risk hedging activities
Given the nature underlying, no hedges are implemented of the price risk.
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Quantitative information
1. Banking book: distribution according to residual maturity (re-pricing date) of financial assets
and liabilities
Currency of instruments: Euro
thousands of euro

Type/Residual maturity
1. Cash assets
1.1 Debt securities
- with early redemption option
- others
1.2 Due from banks
1.3 Due from customers

On
demand

Between Between Between 1 Between
More than Unspecified
3 and 6 6 months year and 5 5 and 10
10 years
term
years
years
months and 1 year

Up to 3
months

1,216,223 2,944,997 3,168,893 1,403,350 1,367,439 1,456,891 4,518,161
165,109

261,510 1,393,309 1,318,467

158,235

215,636

6,874

16,031

24,559

45,874 1,279,835 1,302,435

676,354

1,022,278 2,146,240

113,473

700,913

767,434 3,389,846
127,223

33,090

640,211 3,356,756

62,467

6,332

55,118

-

91,942

28,836

537,247 1,713,117

78,551

611,408

689,457 1,036,373

28,836

537,247 1,713,117

78,551

611,408

689,457 1,036,373

28,836

537,247 1,713,117

78,551

611,408

689,457 1,036,373

6,106,841 4,359,625 2,129,213

12,131

149,526

- c/c
- other loans
- with early redemption option
- others
2. Cash liabilities
2.1 Due to customers
- c/c
- other payables

5,475

-

215,787

41,179

207,488

6,664

-

-

-

9,588

-

-

-

-

-

-

206,198

41,179

207,488

6,664

-

-

-

206,198

41,179

207,488

6,664

-

-

-

3,891,056 4,313,852 1,921,725

-

-

-

-

- with early redemption option
- others
2.2 Due to banks
- c/c
- other payables
2.3 Debt securities

-

-

-

-

1,999,998

3,891,056 4,313,852 1,921,725
4,594

-

5,468

149,526

5,475

-

1,999,998

4,594

-

5,468

149,526

5,475

-

19,898

246,685

278,045

-

- with early redemption option
- others
2.4 Other liabilities
- with early redemption option
- others
3. Financial derivatives
3.1 With underlying security
- Options
+ long positions
+ short positions
- Other derivatives
+ long positions
+ short positions
3.2 Without underlying security
- Options
+ long positions
+ short positions
- Other derivatives
+ long positions

- 1,832,509 3,582,919

+ short positions

-

4. Other off-balance sheet
+ long positions
+ short positions
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217,148

415,314

405,699 1,031,625 1,163,940 2,651,406

2. Banking book: internal models and other sensitivity analysis methods
The interest-rate risk indicators measured are the following:
- Shift sensitivity of fair value;
- Value at Risk (VaR).
The shift sensitivity of fair value quantifies the variation in the portfolio value consequent to parallel and
instantaneous increases of the market rates curves.
The VaR is defined as the maximum potential loss caused by possible adverse movement in market rates,
with reference to a confidence level of 99% and a holding period of ten working days.
The table and graphs below summarise the changes in the indicators relative to interest-rate risk over the
short term (CLM perimeter) during the course of 2020:
VAR 10 days
(Euro)
191,189
71,100
238,174
666,173
500,000

31 December 2020
Minimum
Medium
Maximum
Limite
700

Shift Sensitivity 100 bps
(absolute values in euro)
3,000,000
4,200
2,236,010
8,326,700
10,000,000

VAR 2020

600
700
500
600
400
500
300
400
200
300

VAR
Limit

100
200
17/12/2020
17/12/2020 31/12/2020
31/12/2020

03/12/2020

Limit

03/12/2020

19/11/2020

27/08/2020

13/08/2020

30/07/2020

16/07/2020

02/07/2020

18/06/2020

04/06/2020

10/09/2020
10/09/2020 24/09/2020
24/09/2020
08/10/2020
08/10/2020
22/10/2020
22/10/2020
05/11/2020
05/11/2020 19/11/2020

27/08/2020

13/08/2020

30/07/2020

16/07/2020

02/07/2020

18/06/2020

04/06/2020

21/05/2020

09/04/2020

26/03/2020

12/03/2020

27/02/2020

13/02/2020

30/01/2020

23/04/2020
23/04/2020 07/05/2020
07/05/2020 21/05/2020

09/04/2020

26/03/2020

12/03/2020

27/02/2020

13/02/2020

30/01/2020

16/01/2020
02/01/2020

0

VAR

16/01/2020

02/01/2020

0
100

Sensitivity CLM 2020 (absolute values in euro)

12,000
10,000
12,000
8,000
10,000
6,000
8,000
4,000
6,000

Sensitivity
Limit

2,000
4,000
17/12/2020 31/12/2020
31/12/2020

03/12/2020

17/12/2020
03/12/2020

19/11/2020

10/09/2020 24/09/2020
24/09/2020
08/10/2020
08/10/2020
22/10/2020
22/10/2020
05/11/2020
05/11/2020 19/11/2020

10/09/2020
27/08/2020

27/08/2020
13/08/2020

13/08/2020
30/07/2020

30/07/2020
16/07/2020

16/07/2020
02/07/2020

02/07/2020
18/06/2020

04/06/2020

18/06/2020
04/06/2020

21/05/2020

23/04/2020 07/05/2020
07/05/2020 21/05/2020

23/04/2020
09/04/2020

09/04/2020
26/03/2020

26/03/2020
12/03/2020

12/03/2020
27/02/2020

27/02/2020
13/02/2020

13/02/2020
30/01/2020

30/01/2020
16/01/2020

16/01/2020

02/01/2020

0

Sensitivity

02/01/2020

0
2,000

Limit

As can be seen in the above graphs, during the year the VaR limit was exceeded five times (always quickly
resolved), for the most part due to heavy volatility in short-term rates in euros and the use of a “Decay Factor”,
which assigns greater weight to more recent events when estimating the variance/covariance matrix.
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

161

The global sensitivity limits and the relative “tenor” sub-limits (3, 6, 9 and 12 months) were always
respected.
With regards to the measurement of risk and related operating limits on the medium and long-term
imeframe (ALM Rate perimeter), the table below provides values identified during the course of 2020:
year 2020

Shift Sensitivity 100 bps (absolute values in euro)

31 December 2020

328,289

Minimum

328,289

Medium

3,552,867

Maximum

6,044,736

Limit

15,000,000

Recall that the sensitivity recognised for operational purposes includes the sensitivity attributable to the
“conventional fixed-rate liability” represented by Dexia Crediop’s own funds. The limit on the sensitivity
indicator was consistently complied with during the course of the year.
The banking book is also exposed to basis risk with reference to hedging derivatives subject to
cash-collateral contracts (typically CSAs), measured througha different OIS discount curve than the one
based on the Euribor parameter utilised for the underlying assets in hedging relationships. Fair value
sensitivity to an increase of 1 basis point in the spread between the two curves is equal to around € 2.2
million as at 31 December.
Finally, exposure to spread risk on loans and owned securities measured at fair value (FVTPL or FVOCI)
is noted, with fair value sensitivity to an increase of 1 basis point in the credit spread curves of around
€ -0.24 million.
The two cited components contribute to the volatility of the income statement and the equity reserve;
the results derived from it, of a measurement nature, are classified respectively in the “Accounting
Volatility” segment and “OCI” relative to segment reporting.
2.3 – Exchange rate risk
Qualitative information
A. General aspects, management and measurement of exchange rate risk
The Group can holds financial assets and issues bonds in other than euro currencies with the aim of
exploiting favorable market opportunities, taking into account the cost of exchange rate risks.
B. Exchange rate risk hedging activities
Financial assets and liabilities in currencies other than the euro are systematically hedged at the origin
against exchange rate risks using derivative products.
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Quantitative information
1. Distribution according to currency of the assets, liabilities and derivatives
thousands of euro

Items
A. Financial assets

Currencies
US Dollar

Sterling

Yen

Canadian Dollar

Swiss franc

Other currencies

39

A.1 Debt securities
A.2 Equity securities
A.3 Due from banks

39

A.4 Due from customers
A.5 Other financial assets
B. Other assets
C. Financial liabilities

10,068

C.1 Due to banks

10,068

C.2 Due to customers
C.3 Debt securities
C.4 Other financial liabilities
D. Other liabilities
E. Financial derivatives

10,068

61,178

10,068

30,589

Total assets

10,107

30,589

Total liabilities

10,068

30,589

39

0

- Options
+ long positions
+ short positions
- Other derivatives
+ long positions
+ short positions

Differences (+/-)

30,589
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Section 3 – Derivative instruments and hedging policies
3.1 Trading financial derivatives
A. Financial derivatives
A.1 Trading financial derivatives: notionalvalues at the end of the period
thousands of euro

Underlying assets/
Type of derivatives

31/12/2020

31/12/2019
Over the counter

Over the counter

Without central counterparties Organised
Without central counterparties Organised
Central
Central
markets
markets
Without
Without
counterpar- With offsetting
counterpar- With offsetting
offsetting
offsetting
ties
ties
agreements
agreements
agreements
agreements
1. Debt securities
and interest rates
a) Options
b) Swap

4,437,917

2,101,888

5,106,219

2,606,264

3,169

1,859

4,163

2,023

4,434,748

2,100,029

5,102,056

2,604,241

30,589

40,417

32,323

40,417

30,589

40,417

32,323

40,417

4,468,506

2,142,305

5,138,542

2,646,681

c) Forward
d) Futures
e) Others
2. Equity securities
and stock indices
a) Options
b) Swap
c) Forward
d) Futures
e) Others
3. Currencies
and gold
a) Options
b) Swap
c) Forward
d) Futures
e) Others
4. Goods
5. Others
Total
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A.2 Trading financial derivatives: positive and negative gross fair value - breakdown by
product
thousands of euro

Type of derivatives

31/12/2020

31/12/2019

Over the counter
Central
counterparties

Over the counter

Without central counterparties Organised
Without central counterparties Organised
Central
markets
markets
With netting Without netting
counterparties With netting Without netting
agreements
agreements
agreements
agreements

1. Positive fair value
a) Options

796

b) Interest rate swaps

190,426

c) Cross currency swap

600,589

834
181,678

17,580

633,032
16,351

d) Equity swaps
e) Forwards
f) Futures
g) Others
Total

0.00

190,426

618,965

181,678

650,217

1. Negative fair value
a) Options

1,155

b) Interest rate swaps

787,177

c) Cross currency swap

28,461

1,193
74,053

833,504

64,202

27,330

d) Equity swaps
e) Forwards
f) Futures
g) Others
Total

0.00

816,793

74,053

862,027

64,202
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A.3 OTC trading financial derivatives: notional values, positive and negative gross fair value by
counterparties
thousands of euro

Underlying assets

Central
counterparties

Banks

Other financial
corporations

Other subjects

Contracts not part of offsetting agreements
1) Debt securities and interest rates

263,002

2,514,324

- notional value

X

210,408

1,891,480

- positive fair value

X

52,594

548,791

- negative fair value

X

74,053

2) Equity securities and stock indices
- notional value

X

- positive fair value

X

- negative fair value

X

3) Currencies and gold

57,997

- notional value

X

40,417

- positive fair value

X

17,580

- negative fair value

X

4) Goods
- notional value

X

- positive fair value

X

- negative fair value

X

5) Other valuables
- notional value

X

- positive fair value

X

- negative fair value

X

Contracts part of offsetting agreements
1) Debt securities and interest rates
- notional value

4,441,093

975,582

3,677,715

760,202

- positive fair value

190,159

267

- negative fair value

573,219

215,113

2) Equity securities and stock indices
- notional value
- positive fair value
- negative fair value
3) Currencies and gold
- notional value

59,050
30,589

- positive fair value
- negative fair value
4) Goods
- notional value
- positive fair value
- negative fair value
5) Other valuables
- notional value
- positive fair value
- negative fair value
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28,461

A.4 Residual maturity of OTC trading financial derivatives: notional values
thousands of euro

Underlying instruments/Residual maturity
A.1 Financial derivatives on debt
securities and interest rates

Up to 1 year
1,616,712

Between 1 year
and 5 years

More than 5
years

Total

1,243,758

3,679,335

6,539,805

13,491

57,515

71,006

A.2 Financial derivatives on equity
securities and stock indices
A.3 Financial derivatives on currencies and gold
A.4 Financial derivatives on commodities
A.5 Other financial derivatives
Total 31/12/2020

1,616,712

1,257,249

3,736,850

6,610,811

Total 31/12/2019

1,748,469

1,902,457

4,134,297

7,785,223

B. Credit derivatives
B.1 Trading credit derivatives: notional values at the end of the period
thousands of euro

Type of transaction

Trading derivatives
on a single subject

on several subjects (basket)

1. Protection purchases
a) Credit default products

802,627

b) Credit spread products
c) Total rate of return swap
d) Others
Total 31/12/2020

802,627

Total 31/12/2019

802,627

2. Protection sales
a) Credit default products

802,627

b) Credit spread products
c) Total rate of return swap
d) Others
Total 31/12/2020

802,627

Total 31/12/2019

802,627

B.2 Trading credit derivatives: positive and negative gross fair value - breakdown by product
thousands of euro

Types of derivatives

Total 31/12/2020

Total 31/12/2019

1. Positive fair value
a) Credit default products

51,987

56,704

51,987

56,704

41,329

47,456

41,329

47,456

b) Credit spread products
c) Total rate of return swap
d) Others
Total
2. Negative fair value
a) Credit default products
b) Credit spread products
c) Total rate of return swap
d) Others
Total
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B.3 OTC trading credit derivatives: notional values, positive and negative gross fair value by
counterparties
thousands of euro

Central
counterparties

Other financial
corporations

Banks

Other subjects

Contracts not part of offsetting agreements
1) Purchase of protection

854,614

− notional value

X

-

-

802,627

− positive fair value

X

-

-

51,987

− negative fair value

X

-

-

-

2) Sale of protection
− notional value

X

-

-

-

− positive fair value

X

-

-

-

− negative fair value

X

-

-

-

-

-

-

Contracts part of offsetting agreements
1) Purchase of protection
− notional value

-

− positive fair value

-

-

-

-

− negative fair value

-

-

-

-

612,185

231,771

2) Sale of protection
− notional value

-

583,724

218,903

-

− positive fair value

-

-

-

-

− negative fair value

-

28,461

12,868

-

B.4 Residual maturity of OTC credit derivatives: notional values
thousands of euro

Underlying instruments/ Residual term

Between 1 year
and 5 years

Up to 1 year

More than 5
years

Total

1. Protection sale

-

-

802,627

802,627

2. Purchase of protection

-

-

802,627

802,627

Total 31/12/2020

-

-

1,605,254

1,605,254

Total 31/12/2019

-

-

1,605,254

1,605,254

3.2 Accounting hedges
Qualitative information
A. Fair value hedging
Fair value hedges (whether micro or macro, the latter achieved through the use of the portfolio hedge)
have the aim of reducing exposure to interest-rate risk. The risk hedged against involves changes in the
fair value of underlying assets attributable to changes in the relative interest rate.
The instruments underlying the hedging are specific financial assets or liabilities, or aggregates of similar
type, and transactions are carried out under market conditions.
Initial tests are performed on each hedge regarding the applicability of hedge accounting, as well as
regular tests on their effectiveness.
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B. Cash flow hedging
Hedges, the purpose of which is to stabilise cash flow indexed to variable parameters (typically Euribor),
have specific financial assets or liabilities as underlying elements, which are homogeneous with them
and realised at market conditions.
Initial tests are performed on each hedge regarding the applicability of hedge accounting, as well as
regular tests on their effectiveness.
D. Hedging instruments
For interest rate risk, fair value or cash flow hedging derivatives are used. Interest Rate Swaps are the
most frequently used instruments.
E. Hedged items
The instruments underlying the hedging are specific financial assets or liabilities, or aggregates of similar
types. Only the types of hedges listed above apply. Application of a financial instrument to one of these
excludes simultaneous application of another one of the types listed.
Each of these types can be further classified into one or more detailed operating strategies, within
which the specific purposes of the hedge selected are clearly indicated, as well as allowable underlying
instruments and possible hedging instruments.
Quantitative information
A. Hedging financial derivatives
A.1 Financial hedging derivatives: notional values at the end of the period
thousands of euro

Underlying assets/
Type of derivatives

31/12/2020
Over the counter

31/12/2019
Over the counter

Without central counterparties Organized
Without central counterparties Organized
Central
Central
markets
markets
Without
Without
counterparties With offsetting offsetting
counterparties With offsetting offsetting
agreements
agreements
agreements
agreements
1. Debt securities
and interest rates
a) Options
b) Swap

5,761,454

6,362,021

22,519

25,603

5,738,935

6,336,418

10,076

24,664

c) Forward
d) Futures
e) Others
2. Equity securities
and stock indices
a) Options
b) Swap
c) Forward
d) Futures
e) Others
3. Currencies and gold
a) Options
10,855

b) Swap
c) Forward

10,076

13,809

5,771,530

6,386,685

d) Futures
e) Altri
4. Goods
5. Others
Total
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A.2 Financial hedging derivatives: positive and negative gross fair value - breakdown by product
thousands of euro

Type of
derivatives

Change in the value
used to detect the
ineffectiveness of the
hedge

Positive and negative fair value
31/12/2020

31/12/2019

Over the counter

Central
counterparties

Without central
counterparties
With
Without
offsetting
offsetting
agreements agreements

Over the counter
Organized
markets

Central
counterparties

Without central
counterparties
With
Without
offsetting
offsetting
agreements agreements

Total
Total
Organized 31/12/2020 31/12/2019
markets

1. Fair value
positivo
a) Options
b) Interest rate
swaps

107,203

114,472

107,203

114,472

107,203

114,472

107,203

114,472

2,465

3,355

2,465

3,355

2,689,165

2,587,263

2,689,165 2,587,263

8,263

8,263

c) Cross
currency swaps
d) Equity swaps
e) Forwards
f) Futures
g) Others
Total
1. Negative
fair value
a) Options
b) Interest rate
swaps
c) Cross
currency swaps
d) Equity swaps
e) Forwards

111

97

2,691,741

2,598,978

111

97

f) Futures
g) Others
Total
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2,691,741 2,598,978

A.3 OTC hedging financial derivatives notional values, positive and negative gross fair value
by counterparties
thousands of euro

Underlying assets

Central
counterparties

Other financial
corporations

Banks

Other subjects

Contracts not part of offsetting agreements
1) Debt securities and interest rates
- notional value

X

- positive fair value

X

- negative fair value

X

2) Equity securities and stock indices
- notional value

X

- positive fair value

X

- negative fair value

X

3) Currencies and gold
- notional value

X

- positive fair value

X

- negative fair value

X

4) Goods
- notional value

X

- positive fair value

X

- negative fair value

X

5) Other
- notional value

X

- positive fair value

X

- negative fair value

X

Contracts part of offsetting agreements
1) Debt securities and interest rates
- notional value
- positive fair value
- negative fair value

8,078,773

481,514

5,505,240

256,214

51,570

55,633

2,521,963

169,667

2) Equity securities and stock indices
- notional value
- positive fair value
- negative fair value
3) Currencies and gold
- notional value

10,187
10,076

- positive fair value
- negative fair value

111

4) Goods
- notional value
- positive fair value
- negative fair value
5) Other
- notional value
- positive fair value
- negative fair value
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A.4 Residual maturity of OTC hedging financial derivatives: notional values
thousands of euro

Underlying instruments/Residual maturity
A.1 Financial derivatives on debt securities
and interest rates

More than 5
years

Total

505,273

1,341,364

3,914,817

5,761,454

-

-

-

-

10,076

-

-

10,076

A.4 Financial derivatives on commodities

-

-

-

-

A.5 Other financial derivatives

-

-

-

-

Total 31/12/2020

515,349

1,341,364

3,914,817

5,771,530

Total 31/12/2019

62,779

563,523

5,760,383

6,386,685

A.2 Financial derivatives on equity securities
and stock indices
A.3 Financial derivatives on currencies and gold
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D. Hedged instruments
D.1 Fair value hedging
thousands of euro

Underlying instruments/Residual maturity
Micro
hedge:
carriyng
amount

A. ASSETS
1. Financial assets measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income –
hedging of:
1.1 Debt securities and interest rates
1.2 Equity securities and stock indices
1.3 Currencies and gold
1.4 Credit
1.5 Others
2. Financial assets measured at amortised
cost – hedging of:
1.1 Debt securities and interest rates
1.2 Equity instruments and stock indexes
1.3 Currencies and gold
1.4 Credit
1.5 Others
Total 31/12/2020
Total 31/12/2019
B. LIABILITES
1. Financial liabilites measured at amortised
cost – hedging of:
1.1 Debt securities and interest rates
1.2 Currencies and gold
1.3 Others
Total 31/12/2020
Total 31/12/2019

Micro hedge –
net positions:
carrying amount Cumulative
of assets or
changement
libilities (before of fair value
the offset)
of hedged
instrument

150,127

Specific coverages
Hedging
interruption:
cumulative
changement
of residual fair
value

Changement
value
recognised
to hedging
ineffectiveness

Macro
hedge:
carryng
amount

8,587
X
X
X
X
X

0
150,127

8,587

5,494,256

138,405

189,699

3,534,243

104,772

1,960,013

33,633

5,644,383
8,105,126

146,992
325,717

X
X
X
X
X
189,699
82,724

92,569

6,533

92,569

6,533

92,569
204,704

6,533
4,268

X
X
X

D.2 Cash flows and foreign investment hedging
thousands of euro

Changement value
recognised to hedging
ineffectiveness
A. CASH FLOWS HEDGING
1. Assets
1.1 Debt securities and interest rates
1.2 Equity securities and stock indices
1.3 Currencies and gold
1.4 Credit
1.5 Others
2. Liabilites
1.1 Debt securities and interest rates
1.2 Currencies and gold
1.3 Others
Total 31/12/2020
Total 31/12/2019
B. FOREIGN INVESTMENT HEDGING
Total 31/12/2020
Total 31/12/2019

Hedging termination:
Hedging reserve residual value of hedging
reserve

280,353

11,931

3,115

10,068
290,421
448,012

4
11,935
12,853

3,115

290,421
448,012

11,935
12,853

X
3115
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E. Effects of hedging policy to corporate capital
E.1 Reconciliation of corporate capital items
thousands of euro

Cash flow hedging reserve
Debt
Equity
securities securities Gold and
and interest and stock currencies
rates
indices
Opening balances
Changement of fair value
(effective portion)
Reversal to profit or loss

Foreign investment hedging reserve

Credit

(463) 13,316

Debt
Equity
securities
securities
Others and
interest and stock
rates
indices

Gold and
currencies

Credit

Others

-

4

370

-

463

(15)

-

- of which: economic
transaction no more
expected
Other change
- of which: transfers of
initial carrying amount of
hedged items
Closing balances

1,375

4 15,046

-

3.3 Other information on derivatives instruments (trading and hedging)
A. Financial and credit derivatives
A.1 OTC financial and credit derivatives: net fair value by counterparty
thousands of euro

Central
counterparties
A. Financial derivatives
1) Debt securities and interest rates
- notional amount
- positive net fair value
- negative net fair value
2) Equity securities and stock indices
- notional amount
- positive net fair value
- negative net fair value
3) Currencies and gold
- notional amount
- positive net fair value
- negative net fair value
4) Commodities
- notional amount
- positive net fair value
- negative net fair value
5) Other
- notional amount
- positive net fair value
- negative net fair value
B. Credit derivatives
1) Protection buyer’s contracts
- notional amount
- positive net fair value
- negative net fair value
2) Protection seller’s contracts
- notional amount
- positive net fair value
- negative net fair value
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Banks

Other financial
corporations

13,668,780
10,373,801
240,713
3,054,266

1,789,530
1,311,144
107,335
371,051

92,676
56,987

56,769
40,417
16,352

Other subjects
3,035,728
2,389,559
581,967
64,202

35,689

859,331
802,627
56,704
615,958
583,724

234,124
218,903

32,234

15,221

Section 4 – Liquidity risk
Qualitative information
A. General aspects, management and measurement of liquidity risk
The bank is structurally exposed to liquidity risk as loans are mainly concentrated on the long-term
horizon, against deposits with a shorter average duration.
The management of short-term liquidity risk lies with the Cash & Liquidity Management unit.
The sustainability of the liquidity profile in the long-term is first and foremost verified during approval of
the Financial Plan in relation to the objectives established in terms of volumes and time frames of loans
and deposits.
Liquidity risk control is entrusted, within Finance&Operation, to Financial Control, which operates within
the framework of the internal provision on liquidity risk governance, management and control.
In particular, this function monitors two basic amounts on a daily basis, over a time horizon of six
months:
a) liquidity gap (accumulated balance of forecast cash flows according to maturity);
b) available reserves (value of eligible assets according to maturity), analysing the developments through
daily communications to senior management, the corresponding Dexia Group department and the
regulatory authority (three-month maturity ladder).
Financial Control, as established by the regulatory authority, also provides:
• on a monthly basis, the value of the Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) and the value of the main source
of the bank funding (Monitoring Tools);
• quarterly, the actual use of the bank’s assets (Asset Encumbrance);
• quarterly, the value of the Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR).
The liquidity risk control system includes stress tests and a Contingency Funding Plan drawn up by the
Dexia Group.
With regard to maturities of more than six months, Financial Control periodically analyses monthly
buckets (up to three years) and annual buckets (more than three years) of developments in the liquidity
gap and the available reserves, considering two alternative scenarios (“regulatory” and “management”
liquidity positions) on the basis of the criteria respectively adopted for the maturity ladder drawn up for
the regulatory authority and management hypotheses such as the renewal of highly probable operations.
The outcome of the above analyses and audits are discussed by the Finance Committee usually once a
fortnight.
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Quantitative information
1. Breakdown by maturity by residual maturity of financial assets and liabilities - Currency: Euro
thousands of euro

Item/Time bracket
Cash assets
A.1 Government
securities
A.2 Other debt
securities
A.3 Mutual fund shares

between between
from more
from
from
from
between
1 year
6 months
more than more than more than than 1
on
3 and 6
and
and 1
demand 1 day to 7 7 days to 15 days to month to
months
anno year 5 years
15 days 1 month 3 months
days
10,015

2,818

39

30,688 3,253,101

1,716

162

7,215

322,582

more
than
5 years

508,460 2,181,733 7,871,953
264,317

637,838 2,227,895

64,081

518,493 2,948,717

6,672

51,195

89,561

7,763

543

181,827

172,299

unspecified
term
36,215

A.4 Loans
- Banks
- Customers
Cash liabilities
B.1 Deposits and
current accounts
- Banks
- Customers
B.2 Debt securities

482

1,730

28,972 2,871,908

9,533

1,049

381,032

229,913

599,833

3,400 1,059,802 2,954,882

891,267 4,252,221 2,912,071

562,160

3,400 1,059,802 2,952,876

891,267 4,239,744

229,910

93,829

34,093

970,301 2,601,512

55,100

2,123

840,313

37,673

3

- short positions
C.3 Deposits and loans
to be received
- long positions

39,114
189,556

2,006

0

12,477 2,071,758

B.3 Other liabilities
Off balance sheet
transactions
C.1 Financial
derivatives with equity
swap
- long positions
- short positions
C.2 Financial
derivatives without
equity swap
- long positions

249,445

20,775

16,352
97

35,592

805,274
848,527

2,141
25

11

87

- short positions
C.4 Irrevocable
commitments to
disburse funds
- long positions

8,750

- short positions
C.5 Financial
guarantees given
C.6 Financial
guarantees received
C.7 Credit derivatives
with equity swap
- long positions

10,485

- short positions
C.8 Credit derivatives
without equity swap
- long positions

56,704

- short positions

47,455

19,745

20,424

The item financial derivatives without the exchange of capital includes, in the case of trading derivatives,
the related fair value in the “on demand” timeframe and, in the case of hedging derivatives, the positive
or negative differentials that are due in the year following that of reference of the financial statements.
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Section 5 – Operational risks
Qualitative information
A. General aspects, management and measuring of operational risk
Operational risk is “the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, human resources
and systems, or from external events”. This definition includes legal risk, but not strategic risk (i.e. the
risk of not achieving the desired performance owing to assessment errors by the management) nor the
reputational risk (i.e. the risk of losing revenues owing to a loss of public confidence in the intermediary).
The method used by the Group for measuring operational risk is the Traditional Standardized Approach
(TSA).
As regards the qualitative method of assessing operational risks, the Credit, Operational Risk & Security
unit is active within the Risk with the responsibility, among the others, for:
• setting up the regulatory system for the management, monitoring and mitigation of the operational
risks;
• measuring annually the exposure to the Bank’s operational risk by means of the Group’s RCSA method
(Risk & Control Self-Assessment);
• defining and adopting methods for measuring risks;
• defining, adopting and producing the reporting system on risk trends;
• managing profiles and passwords for IT applications, including the National Interbank Network and
SWIFT;
• managing the Operating Continuity Plan in accordance with the guidelines issued by the Bank of Italy
and the Dexia Group.
As regards management performance assessments, a number of Operational Risk Correspondents (ORC)
have been chosen within each of the bank’s operating units, with the task of noting every operational
risk event and subsequently filing the information in the Dexia Group’s loss-database.
With regards to the aspects linked to legal risks, we would point out that also in view of the disputes with
some local authorities, described in the paragraph “Audit area activities” of the Report on Operations,
the Legal operating unit has taken on a key role in managing these disputes and the related risk.
Impact of COVID-19 pandemic
Please see the analog paragraph in section 1 – Credit Risk – Quantitative information – Paragraph 2.
Quantitative information
The main causes of the occurrence of operational risk events recorded during 2020 are essentially relate
to temporary failures of IT systems.
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Part F – Comments on the capital
Section 1 - Corporate capital
A. Qualitative information
The corporate capital consists of the share capital, reserves from profits in previous periods, valuation
reserves on financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, cash flow hedging
operations, defined benefit plans and reserves as a result of first adoption of the IAS/IFRS principles. Except
for the part of the capital used in equity investments and property and the part from first adoption of IAS/IFRS
and from reserves consisting of the fair value of assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income and cash flow hedging, the remain of the capital is mainly invested in fixed-rate mid- to long-term
financial assets.
B. Quantitative information
B.1 Corporate capital: breakdown
thousands of euro

Items/Amounts
1. Share capital

Amount 31/12/2020

Amount 31/12/2019

645,210

570,210

243,071

372,403

77,413

77,413

165,658

294,990

(3,664)

5,844

1,842

1,903

2. Share premiums
3. Reserves
- of profits
a) legal
b) statutory
c) treasury shares
d) other
- other
4. Equity instruments
5. (Treasury shares)
6. Valuation reserves
- Equity instruments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income
- Hedging of equity instruments designated at fair value through
other comprehnsive income
- Financial assets (different from equity instruments) at fair value through
other comprehnsive income
- Tangible assets

(13,511)

- Intangible assets
- Foreign investment hedging
- Cash flow hedging

15,050

12,853

(7,045)

(8,912)

(241,886)

(129,332)

642,731

819,125

- Hedging instruments (not designated)
- Exchange rate differences
- Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale
- Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss
(own creditworthiness changes
- Actuarial gains (losses) on defined benefits
-Part of valuation reserves from investments valued at equity method
- Special revaluation laws
7. Profit (Loss) for the period
Total
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B.2 Revaluation reserves of financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income: brekdown
thousands of euro

Assets/Amounts

Total 31/12/2020
Positive reserve

Total 31/12/2019

Negative reserve

Positive reserve

Negative reserve

1. Debt securities
2. Equity securities

1,842

4. Loans
Total

1,903
13,511

1,842

13,511

1,903

B.3 Revaluation reserves of financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income: annual change
thousands of euro

Debt securities
1. Opening balances
2. Increases

Equity securities
0

Loans

1,903

0

3,736

61

13,511

3,736

61

13,511

1,842

(13,511)

3,736

2.1 Increases in fair value
2.2 Net recoveries on credit risk

X

2.3 Reversal to income statement of negative reserves:
- following disposal

X
3,736

2.4 Transfers to other corporate capital items
(equity instruments)
2.5 Other changes
3. Decreases
3.1 Decreases in fair value
3.2 Net losses on credit risk
3.3 Reversal to income statement of positive reserves:

X

- following disposal
3.4 Transfers to other corporate capital items
(equity instruments)
3.5 Other changes
4. Closing balances

0

B.4 Valuation reserves of defined benefit schemes: annual changes
The valuation reserves of defined benefits schemes as at 31.12.2020 amounted to -7 million euros.
The variance of reserves as at 2020 is 1,9 million euro.
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Section 2 – Own funds and regulatory ratios
At 31 December 2020, Dexia Crediop had total Own Funds of 688 million, consisting of 646 million in
Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1) and 42 million in Capital Tier 2 (T2).
There are no additional Tier 1 funds.
Considering the Own Fund levels described above and risk weighted assets of € 2.417 million, the bank
has a base/CET1 capital ratio of 26.72% and a total capital ratio of 28.46%.
For more information, please see the disclosure regarding own funds and capital adequacy found in the
Dexia Crediop Pillar 3 disclosure.
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Part H – Transactions with related
parties
In compliance with law dispositions and internal procedures, all related party transactions occured
during the fiscal year have been carried out at conditions equivalent to market conditions applied to
transactions of similar nature and risk occured with non related parties. With regard to related parties,
any unsusual or non-typical transaction and/or any transaction with non standard condistions, both
economic and contractual, has been concluded.

1. Information on key management personnel’s remuneration
The information referred to in paragraph 17 of IAS 24 regarding key management personnel is shown
below:
thousands of euro
Short term benefits
Post-employment benefits

1,535
119

Other long term benefits
Severance indemnity
Payment in shares
Total

1,654

2. Information on transactions with related parties
The company is controlled (100% of the share capital) by Dexia Crédit Local SA with registered offices
in Tour CBX La Défense 2 - 1, Passerelle des Reflets, 92913 La Défense.
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2.1 Transactions with the parent company
thousands of euro

Assets and Liabilities
Assets
- Financial assets held for trading

69

- Deposits

452,665

- Hedging derivatives

7,518

Total

460,252

Liabilities
- Borrowings

4,697,300

- Financial liabilities held for trading

33,588

- Hedging derivatives

288,017

- Subordinated debts

25,038

- Repurchase agreements

5,024,728

- Deposits

93,430

- Debt securities

2,005,456

- Other liabilities

36,709

Total

12,204,266

thousands of euro

Other transactions
- Guarantees received

714,355

thousands of euro

Income and charges
- Interest and similar income
- Interest paid and similar charges

23,249
(84,906)

of which
interest margin on hedging transactions

(38,634)

- Commission income
- Commission expenses
- Net trading gains (losses)

4,437

- Administrative expenses

(1,731)

Total
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(272,476)

2.2 Transactions with other companies of the Dexia Group
In addition to the above-illustrated transactions with the parent company, Dexia Crediop also carried out
transactions with Dexia SA holding and its subsidiaries; all these transactions refer to the core business.
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Part L – Segment reporting
Criteria for segment reporting
Segment reporting is prepared in accordance with the standard “IFRS 8 - Operating segments”. The
adoption of IFRS 8 confirms the logic according to which the business sectors subject to disclosure were
chosen, since the Bank has long adopted the “management approach”, i.e. choosing to use the same
structure for the financial statements as that used for the preparation of internal reporting.
Primary format: “Segment Reporting”
According to the segmentation, for the purposes of segment reporting the results of the Dexia Crediop
Group’s recurrent transactions, classified in the “run rate” segment, are separated from the valuation
results, classified in the “Accounting Volatility” segment.
The “run rate” segment includes the following lines of business with similar features in terms of products
and services offered to customers:
• Public & Project Finance: this includes lending and financial services offered by the Group to its
customers and the short and medium-to-long-term financing of such activity;
• Other income: this includes managing free capital, equity investments and other assets not allocated
elsewhere.
More information on the activities carried out by the company Dexia Crediop can be found in the
paragraph “Operating Trends” of the Dexia Crediop S.p.A. Report on Operations.
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A. Primary format
The tables below provide the financial results of Dexia Crediop S.p.A. as at 31 December 2020 and
31 December 2019, subdivided by business segments as described above. The results of the income
statement are shown according to the reclassified income statement schedule given in the Report on
Operations.
A.1 Distribution according to business sector: economic data 2020
thousands of euro

Income Statement 2020
Net interest income
Net fee and commission income

Project & Public
Finance

Other
Income

Total
Run Rate

Accounting
Volatility

Dexia Crediop

-20,382

7,583

-12,799

18,808

6,009

-201,639

-9,294

-210,933

0

-210,933

Dividends

0

0

0

0

0

Net trading gains (losses)

0

5,260

5,260

7,742

13,002

-222,021

3,549

-218,472

26,550

-191,922

-30,472

0

-30,472

0

-30,472

-252,493

3,549

-248,944

26,550

-222,394

0

-18,796

-18,796

0

-18,796

613

0

613

0

613

0

-1,886

-1,886

0

-1,886

Net interest and other banking
income
Net adjustments for credit risk
Net income from financial activities
Administrative expenses
Net provisions
Amortisation on assets
Other operating expense/income
Operating Costs
Profits (Losses) on disposal of
investments
Profits (Losses) from continuing
operations before tax

0

577

577

0

577

613

-20,105

-19,492

0

-19,492

0

0

0

0

0

-251,880

-16,556

-268,436

26,550

-241,886

A.1 Distribution according to business sector: equity data 2019
thousands of euro

Income Statement 2019
Net interest income

Project & Public
Finance

Other
Income

Total
Run Rate

Accounting
Volatility

Dexia Crediop

-31,490

11,045

-20,445

-6,812

-27,257

-113,120

-1,115

-114,235

0

-114,235

Dividends

0

195

195

0

195

Net trading gains (losses)

0

8,262

8,262

43,995

52,257

-144,610

18,387

-126,223

37,183

-89,040

Net fee and commission income

Net interest and other banking
income
Net adjustments for credit risk
Net income from financial activities
Administrative expenses
Net provisions

-10,778

0

-10,778

0

-10,778

-155,388

18,387

-137,001

37,183

-99,818

0

-25,188

-25,188

0

-25,188

-2,722

0

-2,722

0

-2,722

Amortisation on assets

0

-1,563

-1,563

0

-1,563

Other operating expense/income

0

-40

-40

0

-40

-2,722

-26,791

-29,513

0

-29,513

0

0

0

0

0

-158,110

-8,405

-166,514

37,183

-129,331

Operating Costs
Profits (Losses) on disposal of
investments
Profits (Losses) from continuing
operations before tax
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A.2 Distribution according to business sector: equity data 2020
thousands of euro

Balance Sheet

Project & Public
Finance

Other
Income

Total

1,030,654

-

1,030,654

171,703

-

171,703

15,758,302

-

15,758,302

3,387,579

-

3,387,579

b) due from customers

12,370,723

-

12,370,723

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

12,823,177

-

12,823,177

a) due from banks

10,164,129

-

10,164,129

472,709

-

472,709

2,186,340

-

2,186,340

-

3,556

3,556

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit and loss (20)
Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (30)
Financial assets measured at amortised cost (voce 40)
a) due from banks

b) due from customers
c) titoli in circolazione
Investimenti in attività materiali ed immateriali

A.2 Distribution according to business sector: equity data 2019
thousands of euro

Balance Sheet

Project & Public
Finance

Other
Income

Total

1,194,442

-

1,194,442

26,561

-

26,561

16,271,585

-

16,271,585

3,191,639

-

3,191,639

b) due from customers

13,079,946

-

13,079,946

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

13,250,731

-

13,250,731

a) due from banks

10,588,126

-

10,588,126

457,904

-

457,904

2,204,702

-

2,204,702

-

2,494

2,494

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit and loss (20)
Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (30)
Financial assets measured at amortised cost (voce 40)
a) due from banks

b) due from customers
c) titoli in circolazione
Investimenti in attività materiali ed immateriali

Net interest income for Dexia Crediop, also including net hedging gains (losses) and profit or loss from
contractual changes without cancellations amounts to a total of +6 million at 31 December 2020.
Relative to the run rate, net interest income amounts to -12.8 million, consisting of interest income
and expense for -15.3 million and +2.5 million relative to the result of contractual changes without
cancellations due to the renegotiation of an operation with a local entity. The increase with respect to
the previous year, totalling +7.6 million, is mainly due to amortisation of the stock of assets and the
decrease in the contribution from own funds. The item net hedging gains (losses) amounts to +18.8
million, down by -25.6 million with respect to 2019, following the change in the ineffectiveness of
hedges, above all due to a reduction in the Euribor spread versus OIS.
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Net fee and commission income came to -210.97 million, a decrease of 96.7 million with respect to the
previous year, mainly due to the restructuring of credit lines with DCL , at the end of 2020, with partial
repaid of part of which involved charges of -84.4 million, the increase of the new credit line with DCL
for an amount of 350 million and the implementation, at the end of 2019, of new financial guarantees
received from the parent company DCL to reduce credit exposure relative to certain counterparts.
During the period, no dividends were received (with respect of +0.2 million in 2019)
Net trading gains (losses) amount to 13.7million (with respect of +52.2 in 2019), and include the
following income statement items:
• net trading gains (losses) (+17.0 million);
• gains and losses on disposal or repurchase (-4.3 million);
• net financial assets and liabilities designated at fair value through profit and loss (+0.2 million).
For the purposes of segment reporting, this aggregate can be broken down as follows:
• +5.3 million classified in other income mainly due to the effects of an increase in margins and valuations
of the renegotiation of loans to customers and an amendment to a credit support annex and the sale
of securities in 2020;
• +7.7 million relative to accounting volatility, essentially due to the overall result for trading derivative
mainly influenced by the Credit/Debit Value Adjustment (CVA/DVA) of 8.1 million and Funding Value
Adjustment (FVA) of 2.6 million, essentially due to the increase in valuation spreads during the year
and to the change in fair value of economic hedging derivatives and loans classified among financial
assets designated at fair value through profit and loss, not already included in the other income sector
(-2.9 million).
Net interest and other banking income amounted to -191.9 million, down by -102.9million with respect
to 2019.
The amount of net adjustments for impairment was -30.5 million (compared to -10.8 million in 2019),
mainly due to the impairment recognised on certain exposures following the lowering of the internal
rating for the Republic of Italy and application of new economic scenarios.
Net income from financial activities therefore amounted to -222.4 million, a decrease of -122.6 million
with respect to the -99.8 million of 2019.
Amortisation and depreciation, of -1.9 million, an increase of 0.3 million, compared to the -1.6 million
recorded the previous year.
Administrative expenses totalled -18.8 million, down by 6.4 million (-25%) over 2019. Net of contributions
to the Single Resolution Fund and the National Resolution Fund (2.9 million in 2020, compared to 6.6
million in 2019), administrative expenses amounted to -15.9 million (with respect of -18.6 million in
2019), a 15% drop over 2019. This reduction is followed to the decrease in personnel expenses, which
totalled -9.8 million in 2020, compared to -11.1 million in 2019, mainly due to the decrease in the
number of employees. Other administrative expenses, net of contributions to the Resolution Funds,
totalled -6.1 million (compared to -7.5 million) and fell by around 1.4 million.
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Allocations made to provisions for risks and charges came to +0.6 million (-2.7 million in 2019) and
mainly due to the release of provisions relative to unpaid netting on derivatives for 3.8 million, following
signing of an agreement with a client and provisioning of €-1.0 million for legal expenses on derivative
positions with public authority and impairment on off-balance sheet for -1.7 million.
Other operating expense/income amounted to +0.6 million (compare to an insignificant amount the
previous year) mainly due to repayments of legal expenses.
As a result of a zero income tax charge, the net loss in 2020 is therefore equal to € 241.9 million,
compared to a loss of € 129.3 million the previous year.
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Part M - Leasing information
Section 1 - Lessee
Qualitative information
As a lessee, Dexia Crediop has signed leasing contracts relative to properties, used mainly for instrumental
use, that is to house internal company offices.
The current lease took effect on 1 January 2020, for an initial amount of approximately € 2.5 million,
relative to which Dexia Crediop recognised an asset for the right of use and a liability for the lease
payables, in compliance with the accounting standards established under IFRS 16.

Quantitative information
The table below indicates amortisation/depreciation expenses for the assets constituting rights of use,
subdivided into the various categories, in line with recognition of tangible/intangible assets.
thousands of euro
Amortisation costs for assets with right of use acquired through leases
a) land
b) buildings

800

c) furniture 					
d) electronic systems 					
e) others
Total

800
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Balance sheet data of parent
company Dexia Crédit Local
Under the terms of art. 2497 bis of the Italian Civil Code, Dexia Crediop S.p.A. is subject to management
and coordination by the sole shareholder Dexia Credit Local.
The following is the balance sheet, abbreviated income statement and key indicators as at 31.12.2019
for Dexia Credit Local.

DEXIA CRÉDIT LOCAL - Financial Statements at 31 December 2019
DEXIA CRÉDIT LOCAL Balance sheet
EUR millions
ASSETS

December 31, 2018

I.

Cash, central banks and postal checking accounts

9,176

796

II.

Government securities

6,442

6,564

III.

Interbank loans and advances

13,020

22,803

IV.

Customer loans

20,014

24,164

V.

Bonds and other fixed income securities

14,379

25,632

VI.

Equities and other variable income securities

64

108

VII.

Long-term equity investments

210

714

27

33

2

2

22,219

21,819

3,813

6,250

89,366

108,885

VIII. Intangible assets
IX.

Tangible fixed assets

X.

Unpaid capital

XI.

Uncalled capital

XII.

Treasury stock

XIII. Other assets
XIV. Accruals and other assets
Total assets
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EUR millions
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
I.

Interbank borrowings and deposits

II.

Customer deposits

III.

December 31, 2019

December 31, 2018

11,271

22,841

30

1

Debt securities

62,745

68,296

IV.

Other liabilities

3,739

3,890

7,129

9,088

733

1,327

-

-

56

163

V.

Accruals

VI.

Provisions for risks and charges

VII.

General banking risks reserve

VIII. Subordinated debt
IX.

Capital stock

X.

Additional paid-in capital

XI.
XII.

279

279

2,588

2,588

Reserves and retained earnings

403

(235)

Net income for the year

393

647

89,366

108,885

XIII. Interim dividends
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity
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DEXIA CREDIT LOCAL Profit and loss
INCOME STATEMENT

December 31, 2018

I.

Interest income

3,780

3,964

II.

Interest expense

(3,439)

(3,513)

III.

Income from variable income securities

168

4

IV.

Commission income

1

1

V

Commission expense

(25)

(13)

VI. A Net gains (losses) on held-for-trading portfolio transactions

(72)

(295)

VI. B Net gains (losses) on portfolio transactions available for sale

429

251

VI. C Net losses on held to maturity portfolio transactions

(67)

67

VII.

Other banking income

3

0

X.

Other banking expense

0

0

778

466

(308)

(307)

(17)

(14)

453

145

195

(35)

648

110

(280)

528

368

638

2

11

23

(2)

NET BANKING INCOME
VIII. General operating expenses
IX.

Depreciation and amortization

GROSS OPERATING INCOME
XI.

Cost of risk

OPERATING INCOME AFTER COST OF RISK
XII.

Net gains (losses) on long-term investments

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX
XV.

Non-recurring items

XVII. Corporate income tax
XIII. Net allocation to general banking risks reserve
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EUR millions
December 31, 2019

0

0

NET INCOME

393

647

Basic earnings per share

2.32

3.60

Diluted earnings per share

2.32

3.60
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Information for the Public,
Country by Country
DEXIA CREDIOP
Situation at 31 December 2020
In relation the requirements established by Circular 285 of 17 December 2013, “Regulatory provisions
for banks”, 30th update of 4 December 2019, on country by country disclosure, introduced with article
89 of Directive 2013/36/EU (“CRD IV”), below is the information required under Annex A of Part One,
Chapter 2, Section II, with reference to 31 December 2020.

Company name and type of activity
ITALY
Dexia Crediop S.p.A. – bank and financial activity, as well as other connected or instrumental activities.

Turnover
ITALY
e -194.457 thousand

Number of full time equivalent employees
ITALY
68.66

Profit or loss before taxes
ITALY
-241,886 migliaia di euro
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R E L A

Dexia Crediop

